
 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
Agenda 

 

Tuesday 21 November 2017 
6pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

 

 
Vanessa Andreae - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group  
Councillor Ben Coleman - Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care (Chair)  
Janet Cree - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group  
Ian Lawry – SOBUS (Co-Opted Member) 
Councillor Sue Macmillan - Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Keith Mallinson - Healthwatch Representative  
Steve Miley – Director of Family Services 
Lisa Redfern - Director of Adult Social Services 
Dr Tim Spicer - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group (Vice-Chair)  
 
Nominated Deputy Members 
 
Councillor Rory Vaughan 
Councillor Sharon Holder 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website:  
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 13 November 2017 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
Agenda 

 
21 November 2017 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES AND ACTIONS  1 - 8 

 (a) To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the 
minutes of the meeting of the Health & Wellbeing Board held on 
13 September 2017. 

 
(b) To note the outstanding actions. 

 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 If a Member of the Board, or any other member present in the meeting 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it 
is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant 
interest which they consider should be declared in the public interest, 
they should declare the existence and, unless it is a sensitive interest as 
defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the interest at the 
commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it 
becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Member with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Member must then 
withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed 
and any vote taken.  
 
Where members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Members who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Members are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   

 



4.   DEVELOPING A SHARED SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS 
PLAN  
 

9 - 55 

 This report summarises the work that has been done by the council and 
partners to date to address social isolation and loneliness in the 
borough and invites the Board and wider stakeholders to consider how 
best to take this work forward. 
 

 

5.   SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT 
2016-17  
 

56 - 90 

 This report presents the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board Annual 
Report 2016-17.  The purpose of the Board is to ensure that member 
agencies work together, and independently, to secure the safety of 
residents who are at most at risk of harm from others, or through self-
neglect. 
 

 

6.   PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT  
 

91 - 180 

 This report sets out the progress being made to develop the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for 
Hammersmith & Fulham, and requests agreement to undertake the 
required statutory consultation.  
 

 

7.   WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

 The Board’s proposed work programme for the municipal year is set out 
as Appendix 1 to this report.  
 
The Board is requested to consider the items within the proposed work 
programme and suggest any amendments or additional topics to be 
included in the future.  
 

 

8.   DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS  
 

 

 The Board is asked to note that the dates of the meetings scheduled for 
the remainder of the municipal year 2017/2018 are as follows:  
 
Wednesday, 31st January 2018 
Wednesday, 21st March 2017 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.   London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Health & Wellbeing 
Board 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 13 September 2017 
 

 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: 
Vanessa Andreae, H&F CCG 
Councillor Ben Coleman (Chair) 
Janet Cree, H&F CCG 
Ian Lawry, Sobus 
Steve Miley, Director of Children’s Services 
Keith Mallinson, Healthwatch 
Lisa Redfern, Interim Director of Adult Social Care 
Mike Robinson, Director of Public Health 
Dr Tim Spicer, H&F CCG (Vice-chair) 
 
Nominated Deputies Councillors:  
Sharon Holder, Rory Vaughan 
 
Officers: Harley Collins, Health and Wellbeing Manager; Carolyn Regan, Chief 
Executive, West London Mental Health Trust; Davey Thompson, Associate 
Director, Better Care Fund Lead, H&F CCG and Graham Terry, Head of 
Partnership and Development, ASC 
 

 
114. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sue Macmillan. 
 

115. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Keith Mallinson declared an interest regarding his employment with MIND.  Dr 
Tim Spicer declared an interest as practicing GP working within LBHF. 
 

112. MINUTES AND ACTIONS  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th June were amended to 
included apologies for absence from Councillor Rory Vaughan and agreed.  
 
There were no actions arising.  
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

115. DRAFT BETTER CARE FUND  
 
The report provided details of the Better Care Fund Plan for 2017/19 (BCF).  
The government issued late guidance in July, setting a submission date of 
11th September, within a short timeframe.  This meant that much of the 
considerable collaborative work undertaken to prepare the plan had been 
undertaken before the meeting.  Councillor Coleman commended officers for 
the highly detailed and comprehensive report, which had been put together in 
a very short time period, developed through extensive dialogue and 
agreement with partner organisations.  
 
Davey Thompson, Associate Director, BCF Lead, explained that this was the 
third BCF submitted in two years and had been amended to align with other 
local authorities and the CCG.  The number of schemes taken forward had 
been reduced to 7, after a number of previous schemes were now operating 
as business as usual. It was confirmed that collaboration throughout the 
process had been a key factor to facilitate formal signing off.   
 
Referring to section four, the Board noted progress built throughout 2016-17, 
translating the vision for integration into a strategy and delivery plan that was 
both assured and demonstrated confidence in the partnership between local 
authorities and CCGs.  Section five set out high level figures, indicating a 
jointly agreed budget of £43.708 million.  This included a minimum £5.782 
million, to be transferred to Adult Social Care, in order to protect frontline 
services and to meet a condition of the BCF. 
 
Keith Mallinson expressed concern about the provision of podiatry service 
being withdrawn from people with long term conditions such as diabetes.  
Janet Cree explained that podiatry services did not form part of the service 
provision covered by the BCF.  Councillor Vaughan confirmed that this had 
been highlighted at the previous evening’s Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion, Policy and Accountability (HASCSIPAC).  It was intended 
that that this be considered at its next meeting in November.   
 
Ian Lawry commented that the voluntary and community sector in 
Hammersmith and Fulham was broadly supportive and welcomed the BCF 
view on integration but felt this could go further and encompass the voluntary 
and community sector as a collective, ensuring a more devolved process of 
delivering care in the community.  He cited the examples of MIND and the 
White City Enterprise, recognising the need to consider the social 
determinants of ill-health.   
 
Commenting further, Keith Mallinson, highlighted further concerns regarding a 
lack of consultation, making the point that many viable projects were 
delivered short term, the result being a negative impact on recruitment and 
job security, with insufficient resources to meet need. Graham Terry 
responded that it was important that ASC continued to work closely with the 
CCG, delivering greater integrated care, and, help build more resilient and 
robust communities.  ASC was well positioned to be able to help individuals 
make the most of community assets, eventually reducing the cost to the 
service. Graham Terry agreed with the views expressed and supported a 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

socially inclusive approach which would more proactively involve the 
voluntary sector.  Councillor Coleman acknowledged the work of White City 
Enterprise in building the links between individuals and groups in the locality 
which provided local community support, facilitating greater connections 
between them.  Councillor Coleman indicated that he supported the 
development of closer work with the voluntary sector.  Ian Lawry responded 
that he was keen to help support a more collective, community based 
approach.  He acknowledged that there had been progress but that he would 
like to see more integration of care in the community, not just with GP 
services, which would help alleviate pressure. 
 
Janet Cree observed that the ‘real’ work would now commence now and that 
the Board would need to formally monitor the delivery of the BCF.  Davey 
Thomson added that a deep dive consideration of the schemes would be 
required, expected to be complete by December 2017 against national 
metrics.  A progress report to the Board could be prepared for its meeting in 
January 2018 

ACTION: BCF Progress update (January 2018) - All 
 
Councillor Coleman thanked officers and partnership agencies for their 
contributions on what was a complex area of work, delivered within 
challenging circumstances.  Councillor Coleman stated that he would be 
formally writing to the Department for Health to raise his concerns regarding 
the issuing of delayed guidance within a short timetable.   
 

ACTION: Chair of the Board 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Health and Wellbeing Board endorse the Integration and Better Care 
Fund Plan for 2017-19. 
 

116. PRIMARY CARE STRATEGY  
 
Janet Cree explained that the report provided an update on the current 
position of the Like Minded Strategy, covering specifically, locally deliverable 
actions within Hammersmith & Fulham.  The final strategy, which had been 
agreed at the CCG’s AGM the previous evening, had not been included in the 
papers but was made available following agreement at the AGM meeting.  
 
Janet Cree commented that while access to primary care had improved, for 
example out of hospital services such as diabetes or the Community 
Independence Service, there was more that could be done to integrate care 
across the system, while ensuring a more sustainable primary care structure. 
She added that primary care networks (PCNs) in the strategy would enable 
GP practices and wider services to collaborate.  PCNs would be unified and 
collectively deliver community services through a platform of a Multispeciality 
Community Provider (MCP).  Referencing Appendix 1 to the report, Janet 
Cree explained that local engagement events had been held throughout July 
and the response from participants had been incorporated into the final 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

strategy, which included adapting technical language and patient case 
studies.   
 
Section 4.6 of the report identified a number of workstreams to support the 
implementation of the strategy.  The transformation journey would involve the 
development of links with providers as this moves towards a more 
accountable care partnership (ACP).  It was notable that this already existed 
in Hammersmith & Fulham but that the links would need further development.   
 
Lisa Redfern welcomed the report and suggested that a transformation board 
or group would be helpful to facilitate the ACP, or similar mechanism to 
capture multi-faceted, on-going work.  Dr Tim Spicer commented that while 
he welcomed the suggestion to form a transformation sub-group, he observed 
that this a hugely complex and non-static of work, which required an 
overarching level of expertise that could not be provided by a single 
individual.  Councillor Vaughan added that it was important for the Board to 
have oversight in order to evaluate the impact.  Vanessa Andreae confirmed 
that the timetable for implementation would commence in October.  She 
added that there were two fundamental issues, the first, that patients needed 
access to services.  A second issue was the need to secure GP practices, 
without causing disruption to existing networks.   
 
Moving the discussion forward, Councillor Coleman asked about the 
underlying reasons for the work and what would be the outcome for residents 
(patients).  Dr Spicer explained that it was important for patients / residents 
with complex needs, being cared for by a multi-disciplinary team, to feel that 
care was being provided seamlessly.  Currently, 13% of patients held this 
view, which could be improved.  Janet Cree concurred, adding that the aim 
would be to remove from ASC those with long term complex needs, to care 
delivered through MCPs.  Councillor Coleman emphasised the importance 
understanding the resident experience and identify their expectations.  
Vanessa Andreae confirmed that the patient experience had been included, 
so the patient’s voice was embedded within the development of the strategy.  
 
Keith Mallinson queried the level of consultation undertaken.  Patients with 
complex needs could not be expected to traverse the borough to receive 
treatment.  Mike Robinson commented that the resident experience could be 
provided by the PCN but this might not necessarily reflect PCN aspirations.  
Vanessa Andreae cited the example of the anti-coagulation service, which 
had recently been transferred to CLCH. A positive response to the transfer 
had been received from both patients and GPs.   
 
Harley Collins observed that a proper evaluation of patient experience was 
required and suggested that this could be facilitated either through a HWB 
transformation sub-group or through HASCSIPAC, a view which was 
endorsed by the CCG, to ensure that the patient voice was reflected.  
Councillor Coleman reiterated that residents were at the very heart of the 
Council’s approach.  Improved communication with residents was required, 
with resident’s needs being contextualised through the receipt of improved 
care.   
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Steve Miley explained that Children’s Services were developing a family 
support service and asked if the CCG required input from Children’s Services.  
One of the aims was for example, to have a representative from family 
services in every school in the Borough and invited input from Board 
members to better understand how to shape family services in the context 
health partnership working.  The CCG indicated that this input would be 
welcomed and a good opportunity to work collectively.  Janet Cree responded 
that they were sighted on Children’s Services developments and would like to 
include this work, going forward.   
 
Graham Terry explained that it was a challenge to capture data and to 
understand infrastructure, to properly inform decision making.  The PCS was 
essentially the first building block, and that not undertaking this work would 
make it harder to deliver integrated care.  In discussing the issue of utilising 
the benefits of data analysis and sharing data between organisations, it was 
agreed to explore this further at a meeting to be arranged between ASC, 
Public Health and the CCG.   

ACTION: ASC, Public Health and CCG 
 
With reference to Appendix 2, Ian Lawry highlighted the use of terminology 
such as “primary care collaboration”, which was a collective of GP practices 
or a primary care hub, working both autonomously and collaboratively.  It was 
explained that the PCS would not result in an increase of resources but was 
about how to reconfigure existing provision, refocused on supporting 
residents.   
 
Responding to Councillor Holder’s concerns about insufficient consultation 
undertaken by the CCG, Janet Cree explained that there was an engagement 
strategy in place, to engage with stakeholders across the Borough, including 
LHBF Councillors.  There was a general agreement that clear communication 
of details about services was fundamental for ensuring full engagement.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Board note the progress to date on developing the vision set out in 
the report and endorsed the CCG working closely with Public Health, 
Children’s Services and Adult Social Care teams to progress the 
implementation of the Primary Care Strategy.   
 

117. LIKE MINDED STRATEGY UPDATE  
 
Councillor Coleman welcomed, Carolyn Regan Chief Executive of West 
London Mental Health Trust (WLMHT).  The report provided an update to the 
Board on the key elements of the strategy, which fell within Delivery Area 4 of 
the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), improving mental health 
services.  With emphasis on delivering community health care, the aim was to 
ensure the right support was in place to treat mental health conditions.  To 
illustrate, Community Perinatal Mental Health commenced at WLMHT in April 
2016, providing targeted, community based support for women, and their 
families, with pregnancy related mild-to-severe mental illness.   

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

It was noted that the distribution of services for long term conditions and 
mental health needs across the Borough was good.  There was a new 
enhanced GP service offering extended appointments and work was on-going 
with practices to ensure a good uptake of services on enhanced GPs “offers”.    
The Transforming Care Partnership (TCP), for people with learning disabilities 
and complex long term conditions, recognised the importance of a safe and 
seamless transfer into a community setting, rather than in a specialist learning 
disabilities hospital.   
 
With reference to the TCP, Keith Mallinson welcomed the report but observed 
that the lack of a joined up approach between departments contributed to a 
deterioration of long term conditions, acknowledging the link between housing 
issues and mental illness.   
 
Lisa Redfern queried the impact of implementing the strategy on resources 
and sought assurances that this would not result in the loss of beds.  In 
response, Carolyn Regan explained that mental health was a priority area 
and that there would not be any proposals to reduce beds in LBHF.  Ealing 
had more acute beds for longer stays but there were also vacant beds, 
indicating a need to look at the overall allocation of resources.  
Acknowledging that LBHF residents were also placed in Ealing facilities, it 
was explained that each borough predominantly provided for its own 
residents and that the use of the bed changed on a weekly basis.  
 
Following further discussion, the Board received an assurance that WLMHT 
would inform them of any proposed bed closures.  It was explained that there 
was a joint mental health transformation board consisting of the three 
boroughs and that considerable work was being undertaken with residents to 
facilitate early intervention.  Mike Robinson commented that encouraging 
residents to be more proactive about their own care will help alleviate 
pressure on services, and the impact of long term mental health conditions. 
 
Steve Miley referred to the suicide awareness training being rolled out to 700 
frontline staff across the three boroughs and enquired if this could be 
extended.  It was also noted that there was embedded support through 
CAMHs (Children and Adolescents Mental Health Services) and statutory 
cover for looked after children aged 21-25 years.  Support for this small 
cohort of care leavers mental health conditions was important, particularly in 
terms of ensuring access to services.  Given this and the recent Transitions 
report from the policy and accountability task and finish group, Janet Cree 
agreed to explore the issue further, with a view to providing a report to the 
Board in either November or January, setting out what could be a 
collaborative approach.  In response to a question on desired outcomes, 
Steve Miley indicated that he would like to see the same level of support 
services currently provided for 18 year olds, replicated for 21-25 year olds.  It 
was accepted that the CCG could not commit to this without further analyses 
and the identification of resources.  It was recognised that it was important to 
involve health colleagues in this area of work.   
 
 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

ACTION: CCG to further explore the provision of services to 21-25 year              
        olds, with a report to the Board, anticipated for November or 

January 2018 
ACTION: CCG to contact Director for Children’s Services regarding 

suicide awareness training 
 

118. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Members of the Board considered items listed provisionally in the Work 
Programme (Appendix 1 to the report).   Commenting on the item on “one 
public sector estate”, Janet Cree agreed that this could be a joint report but 
did not necessarily need to come to the Board.  Commenting on the “social 
isolation item”, Mike Robinson referred to development of the Tackling Social 
Isolation and Loneliness Strategy.  Ian Lawry suggested that Sobus could 
invite interested groups to the next meeting of the Board to help identify key 
issues. The suggestion was welcomed by members.   
 
While it was accepted that there were mechanisms in place to avoid 
duplication of grant allocations, Vanessa Andreae suggested a report which 
mapped out grant allocations made by both the CCG and the local authority.  
Joint co-ordination to explore this would be helpful to ensure a joined up 
approach.  This could also be mapped to the priority areas of the Joint HWB 
Strategy. 
 
Mike Robinson commented on the “healthy lifestyle” item.  He explained that 
Public Health was considering the consolidation of large numbers of small 
contracts. This was an issue for the Board to consider, particularly in terms of 
how this aligned with the PCS and grant allocations.   
 
Harley Collins referred to the draft pharmaceutical needs assessment, which 
would need to be published by April 2018 and would require a 60-day 
consultation period, taking place between November 2017 and January 2018.  
It was agreed that this could be addressed outside of the current cycle of 
meetings.  
 
Councillor Holder suggested that further discussions were required around 
the way in which consultation and engagement with residents was conducted 
with residents on health matters.  
 
Lisa Redfern highlighted the local authority’s statutory responsibility to 
consider the annual report of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board and it 
was accepted that this would need to be considered by both the Board and 
HASCSIPAC.   
 
Following detailed discussion, it was agreed that the following changes would 
be made: 
 

 Delete STP updates; 

 HWB Priority Area 1 – Integrated Services for Children and Young 
People, to be rescheduled for a later meeting; 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 Whole Systems Commissioning Intentions – Remove, as covered 
under STP; 

 One Public sector estate – CCG to further explore, as noted. 
 
There were three items agreed for the November meeting: 
 

 Healthy Lifestyle service (LBHF) 

 Mapping exercise of CCG and local authority grant allocations 

 Social Isolation and Loneliness – invite Councillor Fennimore, 
interested residents and stakeholders.  

 
It was agreed that the January meeting would look at transitions work and 
consider the findings of the Disabled Peoples Commission.  The Board also 
noted that a view would be required on when to programme a workshop style 
discussion on the Joint HWB Strategy, provisionally planned for January. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Work Programme be amended to reflect the discussion and agreed 
changes, set out as minuted.   
 

119. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The date of the next meeting of the Board was noted as Tuesday, 21st 
September 2017 

 
Meeting started: 6pm 
Meeting ended: 9:10pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

 
21 NOVEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

TACKLING SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS IN HAMMERSMITH AND 
FULHAM 
 

Report of the Director of Adult Social Services 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Information 
Key Decision: NO 
 

Wards Affected: ALL 
 

Accountable Director: Lisa Redfern, Director of Adult Social Services 
 

Report Author: Harley Collins, Health and Wellbeing 
Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 8753 
E-mail: 
Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

1. Purpose of this report 
 

1.1. This report summarises the work that has been done by the council and partners 
to date to address social isolation and loneliness in the borough and invites the 
Board and wider stakeholders to consider how best to take this work forward. 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
 

 Agree a joint approach (aims, strategy, work programme and measurement) 
to reducing isolation and loneliness in Hammersmith and Fulham 

 Note the progress made so far by HWB members (Appendices 1 and 2)  

 Consider how the current range of social isolation and loneliness projects 
could be better coordinated and connected (Appendix 5) and what other 
services may be needed 

 Alongside services, focus on the role that individual staff members across a 
wide range of activity can play (including but not just front-line staff) in 
reducing loneliness and isolation. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk


3. Council action to date 

3.1. In February 2015, Hammersmith and Fulham’s Cabinet Member’s Board (CMB) 
for Social Inclusion was established to deliver the administration’s manifesto 
pledge to “fund a cross-cutting Social Inclusion approach and host a Social 
Inclusion Forum that will tackle exclusion [and] deliver in partnership improved 
social inclusion outcomes for local residents”. 
  

3.2. In its first year, the CMB identified social isolation and loneliness as a priority 
issue for action in the borough, which led to the inclusion in the Board’s work 
programme of a commitment to develop a social isolation and loneliness strategy 
(Appendix 1).   

 
3.3. In April 2016, the council held a workshop facilitated by The Campaign to End 

Loneliness, attended by 32 people from the voluntary, community and public 
sector. This explored aspects of a loneliness framework for older people 
developed by the Campaign alongside Age UK.  

 
3.4. The framework presents the range of interventions needed in a local area, with 

four categories: 
 

 Foundation services – services to reach and understand the specific needs 
of those experiencing loneliness 

 

 Direct interventions – a menu of services that directly improve the number 
or quality of relationships older people have. 

 

 Gateway Services – improving transport and technology provision to help 
retain connections and independence in later life. 

 

 Structural Enablers – create the right structures and conditions in a local 
environment to reduce those affected by, or at risk of, loneliness.  

 
3.5. A report by the Campaign to End Loneliness with outputs and actions from the 

workshop is at Appendix 2. 
 

3.6. Following the workshop, a task and finish group of council officers was set up to 
develop a work programme to develop a social isolation and loneliness strategy 
for Hammersmith and Fulham (see Appendix 1). This is still incomplete. 

 
 

Appendices  
 
1. Appendix 1: Draft Social Isolation and Loneliness Strategy for Hammersmith and 

Fulham: Executive Summary 
2. Appendix 2: Loneliness into Connections: Workshop Report. April 2016 
3. Appendix 3: LBHF Social Isolation Services Map 
4. Appendix 4: Social isolation facts and figures for Hammersmith and Fulham 

Page 10



 

Page 1 of 14 

Appendix 1 
Tackling Social Isolation and Loneliness 
A Strategy for Hammersmith and Fulham: Executive 
Summary  
 
December 2016 

1. Background 

1.1 In February 2015, Hammersmith & Fulham’s Cabinet Member’s Board for 
Social Inclusion was established to deliver the Change We Need manifesto 
pledge to “fund a cross-cutting Social Inclusion approach and host a Social 
Inclusion Forum that will tackle exclusion [and] deliver in partnership improved 
social inclusion outcomes for residents”. In its first year, the Board committed to 
developing a social isolation and loneliness strategy. To scope out its activity, 
the Board held a stakeholder workshop in April 2016 which was led by the 
Campaign to End Loneliness. A discussion paper was subsequently taken to 
the Health, Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability 
Committee in May to shape the strategy further. 

2. What are social isolation and loneliness? 

2.01 Social isolation describes the state of being deprived of social relationships 
that provide positive feedback and are meaningful to the individuali. As such, it 
lends itself to objective measurement. Loneliness, however, is defined as “An 
emotional perception that can be experienced by individuals regardless of the 
breadth of their social networks.” ii 

2.02 Both can affect quality of life, mental, and physical health and use of health and 
social services. While social isolation is often discussed at the same time as 
loneliness, most people who are socially isolated feel lonely but not all people 
who are lonely are socially isolated. Long-term, chronic loneliness becomes a 
serious concern when it creates a persistent, self-reinforcing loop of negative 
thoughts, sensations, and behaviours. It is difficult to treat.iii 

2.1 What can be done? 

2.11 Evidence shows that social relationships and adequate social networks (in 
terms of quality and quantity) can promote health through four possible 
pathways: 

1. Providing individuals with a sense of belonging and identity 
2. Providing material support of increasing knowledge about how to access 

material needs and services 
3. Influencing the behaviours of individuals, for example through support or 

influence from family or friends to quit smoking, reduce alcohol intake, or 
to access health care when needed 

Page 11



 

Page 2 of 14 

4. Providing social support that enables individuals to cope with stressors 
such as pressures at school or work, redundancy, retirement or the death 
of a close relative.iv 

2.2 Triggers for isolation and loneliness 

2.21 Anyone can experience social isolation and loneliness. While social isolation is 
more commonly associated with later life, it can occur at any stage in the life 
course and can be cumulative.  

Figure 1: Risk factors for social isolation and loneliness along the lifecourse 

 
Source: PHE & UCL, September 2015 

2.3 Links to health inequalities 

2.31 Social isolation is a health inequalities issue because many of the associated 
risk factors are more prevalent among socially disadvantaged groups.v In 
addition, deprived areas often lack adequate provision of good quality green 
and public spaces, creating barriers to social engagement, exacerbating efforts 
to adopt and sustain healthy behaviours and prevent further deterioration of 
health and wellbeing. Access to transport is also vitally important in building 
and maintaining social connections. 

2.4 Impact 

2.41 Loneliness can lead to greater demand on public services, as residents seek 
from professionals the support they might otherwise get from family, friends, 
and neighbours. Social isolation and loneliness can also have a severe impact 
on health and well-being. There is scientific evidence that loneliness causes 
physiological events that wreak havoc on health (Griffin 2010) such as raised 
blood pressure, increased mortality and poor mental health. Lonely and socially 
isolated older people are more likely to have early admission to residential or 
nursing care (SCIE, 2011). Social isolation is also associated with higher re-
hospitalisation rates (Giulim, Spazzafumo et al (2012). Social relationships 
affect physiological and psychological functioning and health behaviours and 
evidence suggests a 50% increased risk of coronary heart disease among 
those who are socially isolated and/or lonely.vi  

Pregnancy 

• Inadequate social 
networks  

• Maternal depression 

Early years, 
Children and 

young adults  

• Adverse childhood 
experiences  

• Being bullied 

• Being a young carer 

• Being not in 
employment, 
education or training  

Working age 

• Being unemployed 

• Relationship 
breakdown 

• Poor social networks  

• Being a carer  

• Being physically or 
mentally unwell 

Retirement 
and later life  

• Bereavement  

• Loss of mobility  

• Poor quality living 
conditions  

• Being a carer  

• Being physically or 
mentally unwell  

Page 12



 

Page 3 of 14 

Key messages: 

The risk factors for isolation and loneliness, and their prevalence in the borough, 
means that doing nothing is not an option. 

While isolation occurs at the level of the individual, interventions to reduce social 
isolation must act on the structural determinants, including economic disadvantage 
and discrimination, as well as supporting the immediate needs of socially isolated 
and/or lonely individuals. 

3. Strategic landscape 

3.1 Smarter Budgeting Programme: This programme sought to take a fresh look 
at how the Authority manages its business, with a view to securing improved 
outcomes more efficiently. Eight outcomes were identified, outcome 6 being 
‘Supporting Vulnerable Adults’ and outcome 7 ‘Safer and Healthier’. Social 
isolation was identified as an issue to be addressed in each of these outcomes, 
a cross cutting theme being the provision of foundation services to identify 
those at risk sooner and direct interventions to address their needs.  

3.2 ASC Prevention agenda – Fs of frailty: Adult Social Care has developed a 
local prevention offer which applies to all adults, from those with no established 
need to those who need a lot of care and support to prevent or delay need and 
deterioration of condition. The ‘Fs of Frailty’ are a good way to know when ASC 
can make an early intervention to prevent further needs as there is evidence 
that many of the conditions that can lead to frailty are amenable to preventative 
measures. These include: social isolation (loss of friends and family), memory 
loss (failing memory), malnutrition (unhealthy food intake), falls and living in 
cold damp homes (fuel poverty). 

3.3 Mental health strategy: The Hammersmith and Fulham mental health strategy 
emphasises the social determinants of “good” mental health i.e. the benefits of 
a stable home, good education and training, stable employment as well as 
access to a wider range of community based services which promote mental 
health and well-being within our local population. 

3.31 The Like Minded Case for Change, a mental health strategy which covers the 
eight North West London boroughs, highlights social isolation as an issue. 
Ambition 2 of their plan states: “We will improve wellbeing and resilience, and 
prevent mental health needs for people in North West London, by supporting 
people in the workplace, building resilience in children and young people and 
reducing loneliness for older people” [Like Minded, 2015]. 

3.4 Housing support and care JSNA: This report focuses on the extent to which 
local agencies work effectively as a system to address the challenges posed to 
health and social care by housing conditions. It seeks to identify and facilitate 
progress on integrated solutions to what are integrated challenges, to support 
the development of a whole systems approach, informing strategic and 
commissioning intentions.  

Page 13



 

Page 4 of 14 

3.5 Poverty and Worklessness Commission: While loneliness and social 
isolation were not specifically considered as part of this resident-led body’s 
work, there are clear links to deprivation and unemployment as triggers.  

3.6 Digital exclusion: In Hammersmith & Fulham, the overall likelihood of digital 
exclusion is low and there are no “not spots” (LGiU, Dot Everyone, 2016). 
However, there are significant pockets of the Borough where residents can find 
themselves digitally excluded, principally in wards to the North and Eastern 
parts of the Borough in areas such as the White City and Clem Atlee estates. 
There appears to be a close correlation between digital exclusion 
neighbourhoods and areas of social housing.  

3.7 Getting extra social and economic value from council and contracts: The 
council encourages participation of local SME and 3rd sector organisations in 
the council’s supply chain. All grant-funded organisations are expected to add 
value by providing local volunteering opportunities, and are required to monitor 
the take up of their services by residents by age, as well as ethnicity, gender, 
location. Relevant services are also required to ascertain the “social 
connectivity” of users to identify those most at risk of loneliness and isolation to 
ensure services are being targeted at those most in need.  

3.8 Healthcare: The North-West London Collaboration of CCGs has identified 
social isolation as a key determinant of physical and mental health and 
incorporates it as a priority in its Sustainability and Transformation Plan. The 
work programme references two social prescribing initiatives: The North End 
Medical Centre and Parkview Centre for health and wellbeing. There is also a 
commitment in the STP to identifying gaps in current service provision for 
addressing loneliness and, in addressing these, enhancing current provision. 

Key messages: 

There are several tools and levers which will facilitate co-ordinated and effective 
delivery of a work programme designed to address social isolation and loneliness 
and improve social connectedness and community cohesion. 

4. Where are we now? 

4.1 A broad range of services provided by the public sector, private sector, third 
sector and others, have the potential to impact on social isolation, even if this is 
not their primary aim. This section seeks to consider assets in Hammersmith 
and Fulham, using the Framework put forward by the Campaign to End 
Loneliness (Appendix 1).  

  

Page 14



 

Page 5 of 14 

4.2 Foundation services: reach; understand; support access 

4.21 Community based and front-line council staff are key to the identification of 
those ‘at risk’ and to understanding the nature or cause of their loneliness but 
will have differing levels of knowledge and training on recognising and 
address isolation and loneliness.  

4.22 Individuals not in contact with front line services who are most at risk of 
loneliness. Voluntary sector organisations have a good track record in 
engaging effectively with residents who are not otherwise known to services, 
particularly statutory services. The Community Champions are another 
particularly good resource for reaching out to those residents who might not 
otherwise be engaged with council and/or health facilities.  

4.23 Public Health has established a ‘Making Every Contact Count’ (MECC) 
training programme. This seeks to ensure that maximum gain is secured from 
each contact with a resident regardless of the initial contact purpose. The 
MECC programme offers a great tool for ensuring that the council and its 
partners make the most of the full range of staff working in the community – 
including street wardens and bin collectors as well as those more directly 
involved in support and care. 

4.3 Direct interventions: support and maintain existing relationships; foster 
and enable new connections (1-1 and group based); psychological 
interventions 

4.31 Services which offer opportunities for social contact and facilitate community 
cohesion, such as volunteer befriending, health and wellbeing hubs and link 
up / connecting projects are central to the preventative agenda. Examples of 
third sector initiatives which specifically seek to address isolation include the 
Bishop Creighton House Homeline Befriending Service, which is aimed at 
residents over 55 who feel they are living in isolation, some of whom are 
house bound. The Council also commissions Open Age to provide a ‘linked-in’ 
service, which finds isolated people and introduces them to groups/activities, 
accompanying them for the first couple of visits and then gradually 
withdrawing and the individual continuing to access the service. While 
successful in connecting with isolated residents, it is proving very difficult to 
achieve targets for linking them successfully with other services.  

4.32 Advice station, provided by H&F Citizens Advice, offers a single telephone 
number to access advice services using a triage approach to identify which 
local service or facility is best placed to support the individual. A referral with 
core information is then made (data sharing agreements in place between 
organisations) and where appropriate, a direct appointment made. The 
initiative also coordinates advice services led by H&F Community Law Centre, 
administrating the local Advice Forum where all organisations which provide 
community legal advice services and generalist advice services can discuss 
emerging issues and trends and work together to ensure services are up to 
date. 

Page 15



 

Page 6 of 14 

4.33 Silver Sunday is an annual initiative which celebrates older residents and 
promotes activities they might enjoy. A range of one-off events are provided 
as part of the celebration and to kick-start sustained engagement in regular 
activity. While 450 individuals attended evaluation found that only one third 
were not previously engaged in regular activity and only 20% of these new 
customers continued to engage, perhaps as Silver Sunday is viewed as an 
isolated event rather than an annual celebration of ongoing engagement and 
activity.  

4.4 Gateway services 

Transport 

Barriers to public transport for many older people include: a reluctance to 
travel at night or in the dark; reluctance to travel during the school rush hour; 
and limited North-South direct routes (although there are good East-West 
links and residents may access services in neighbouring boroughs rather than 
in other parts of H&F). Feedback from older people shows that the majority 
make good use of accessible and free transport.  

Digital inclusion 

There are several on-line gateways to council services. These include: 

 Family Information Service, which has been refreshed with improved 
accessibility and navigability in languages other than English.  

 People First: the primary web-based information service for adult residents 
aged over 50, their friends and family, to find and access support services 
and facilities. It is actively promoted via several borough agencies.  

LBHF is moving towards Digital by Design to shift access towards digital 
mechanisms rather than face to face or telephone channels. A Sobus report 
(2016) identifies Information Technology as a priority, specifically the need to 
explore how best to facilitate e-inclusion for the current generation of 65+. 
They suggest training may help some to engage, as might intergenerational 
projects. The costs incurred by older people seeking to engage with digital 
technology are also highlighted. The Digital by Design programme is 
supported by a digital inclusion strategy for those most at risk of isolation or 
facing barriers to digital channels to develop digital skills, awareness and 
access, with face-to-face and telephone contact provided as needed.  

4.5 Structural enablers 

4.51 Communal settings such as community centres, day centres, children’s 
centres and libraries are key sites where targeted local information can be 
delivered. There are five community centres in the borough. Most people are 
aware of libraries, and these are often well used by residents who do not 
access other council services and therefore offer an important gateway. The 
council invests in a health and wellbeing initiative operating out of libraries to 
ensure that appropriate information is readily accessible. Adult education 
facilities also offer an important mechanism through which residents can 

Page 16



 

Page 7 of 14 

make social connections as well as pursue interests and develop their skills.  

4.52 The Poverty and Worklessness Commission has identified a need for a 
revised approach to volunteering in the borough which recognises and builds 
on the social capital developed by volunteering initiatives such as the 
Community Champions. A strategic approach to volunteering, which 
recognises individuals’ skills and expertise and helps them to share these with 
others might prove fruitful in addressing several council objectives though 
increased confidence and skills. Social capital can also be secured through 
the council’s commissioning functions and the council has introduced a 
requirement for the contribution that each contract and work programme might 
bring. 

4.53 The neighbourhood environment itself must also be recognised as a structural 
enabler by facilitating social discourse and encouraging people to recognise 
and engage with their neighbours through attractive communal spaces which 
provide for the needs of different age groups. Facilities for active play, for 
taking a rest and core facilities being within a walkable distance, all contribute. 
Those neighbourhoods which are recognised as having a lesser offer might 
engage with residents to address this – an exercise which itself might aid 
connectedness if led appropriately. As Marmot says: “Public participation in 
designing public spaces that meet community needs is important in building a 
sense of ownership and belonging” (Marmot 2010). 

Key messages:  

Hammersmith and Fulham has many assets and offers many opportunities for 
engagement. A more co-ordinated offer, which is appropriately marketed might aid 
awareness, facilitate greater neighbourliness and promote engagement.  

The greatest impact might be secured through greater resident awareness of 
isolation and loneliness – encouraging people to come forward, encouraging people 
to look out for each other - spot it in themselves and each other and feel confident 
about taking action.  

Encouraging residents to engage in improving their community can aid 
connectedness as well as engender a sense of ownership and belonging. 

5. Where do we want to get to and how will we get there? 

The strategic objectives below were identified at a workshop held in April 2016. The 
themes developed through the process of reviewing the evidence base and 
examining best practice from other areas that have identified social isolation as a 
priority for action. A draft work programme outlining actions to address these 
objectives is attached as Appendix 2.  

5.1 Improved levels of awareness among residents and front line workers 

i. We will develop a communications and marketing strategy, with our 
partners in the statutory, business and third sectors to raise awareness of 
the prevalence and impact of isolation and loneliness and of relevant 

Page 17



 

Page 8 of 14 

services and facilities.  

ii. We will sustain and promote our Making Every Contact Count programme, 
ensuring that front line staff in different agencies are supported to provide 
‘warm transfer’ across all referral mechanisms, including digital.  

5.2 Robust approach to ensuring social connectedness, preventing isolation 
and loneliness 

iii. In addition to our existing work to secure social value and social capital 
through our approach to commissioning, we will ensure that our approach 
to community development and community engagement explicitly seeks to 
contribute to community resilience and social capital. 

iv. We will work with our partners to establish a strategic approach to 
volunteering as a mechanism for connectedness, developing social capital. 

v. We will develop existing mechanisms to establish a main portal to 
information and advice and ensure better links between that portal and 
other on line resources (including council webpages) – so that whichever 
route people follow to seek the information, they are able to do so quickly 
and easily. 

vi. We will pursue our ‘no wrong front door’ approach to the provision of 
council services, exploring the desirability of and options for community 
hubs.  

vii. We will consider whether there are gaps or fault lines in our transport 
network and the walkability of our neighbourhoods which might undermine 
social connectedness and seek to address these. 

viii. Review digital access specifically for groups at risk of social isolation and 
inclusion and address gaps in provision. 

5.3 Targeted activity, asset based (whole systems) 

ix. We will review what is currently available to prevent and address social 
isolation for Hammersmith and Fulham residents to identify which ‘at-risk’ 
groups or neighbourhoods are not currently sufficiently supported and 
address the findings. 

x. We will work with local partners to encourage robust retirement planning 
which incorporates the value of social connectedness and markets the 
available activities. 

Page 18



 

Page 9 of 14 

References 

Local Government Information Unit (LGiU) Combined Social and Digital Exclusion 
Map. Dot Everyone Digital Exclusion Map (2016) 
https://doteveryone.org.uk/resources/heatmap/?area=Hammersmith%20and%20Ful
ham&metric=total 

Foot, J., Hopkins, T., & Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA). (2010). A 
glass half-full: how an asset approach can improve community health and well-being. 
London: IDeA.  

Giulim, Spazzafumo et al (2012) Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/01674943  

Griffin, J. (2010) The Lonely Society? Mental Health Foundation. 

Jopling, K. (2015) Promising Approaches to reducing loneliness and isolation in later 
life AgeUK and Campaign to End Loneliness  

Marmot, M (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review Strategic Review 
of Health Inequalities post-2010 

Public Health England and UCL Institute of Health Equity Local action on health 
inequalities: Reducing social isolation across the lifecourse Practice resource: 
September 2015 

SCIE (2011) “Preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes” 
Research Briefing 39 

Thomas, J. “Insights into Loneliness, Older People and Well-being”, ONS 2015. 

 Victor CR, Yang K. Journal of Psychology 2012; 146(1-2):85-104 

Zavaleta D, Samuel K, Mills C. Social isolation: a conceptual and measurement 
proposal. POPHI Working Paper No 67, Oxford Poverty and Human Development 
Initiative, 2014. 

 

  

Page 19

https://doteveryone.org.uk/resources/heatmap/?area=Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham&metric=total
https://doteveryone.org.uk/resources/heatmap/?area=Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham&metric=total
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/01674943


 

Page 10 of 14 

Appendix 1: Campaign to End Loneliness / Age UK Framework 
 
 

 
 

Page 20



 

Page 11 of 14 

Appendix 2: Draft work programme 

 
Strategic objective and theme Activity Deadline Progress 

5.1 Improved levels of awareness among residents and front line workers 

i Develop a communications and marketing 
strategy  

Output: Sustained profile in local media of 
services and facilities 
Outcome: Raised awareness of the 
prevalence and impact of isolation and 
loneliness 

Work with local media to secure regular 
feature 

Apr 17   

Establish shared branding to aid easy 
recognition of services specifically there to 
support connectedness 

Apr 17   

    

ii Sustain and promote the Making Every 
Contact Count programme 

Outputs:  

 72 staff trained at L1  

15 staff trained at L2  

Outcome:  

 Front line staff in different agencies 
provide ‘Warm transfer’ 

 Increased resident engagement in 
services. 

Identification of priority front line officers Dec 16   

Delivery of 6 level one (half day) MECC 
training sessions with a focus on social 
isolation and loneliness 

x3 by Mar 
17, 3 more 
Apr-Jun 

  

Delivery of one level two (2 day) MECC 
training sessions with a focus on social 
isolation and loneliness 

Jun 17   

5.2 Robust approach to ensuring social connectedness, preventing isolation and loneliness 

iii Approach to community development and 
community engagement contributes to 
community resilience and social capital 

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 

TBC    

    

    

P
age 21



 

Page 12 of 14 

Strategic objective and theme Activity Deadline Progress 

iv Establish a strategic approach to 
volunteering as a mechanism for 
connectedness, developing social capital. 

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 

TBC    

    

    

v Establish a main portal to information and 
advice and ensure better links between 
that portal and other on line resources. 

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 Improved access to information, advice 
and services 

 

TBC    

    

    

vi Establish a ‘no wrong front door’ approach 
to the provision of council services. 

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 Clarification of approach to community 
hubs. 

    

    

    

vii Review transport networks and walkability 
within and between neighbourhoods and 
across the borough: address fault lines 

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 Greater social connectedness in 
neighbourhoods 

 Geographical connectivity between 

TBC    

    

    

P
age 22



 

Page 13 of 14 

Strategic objective and theme Activity Deadline Progress 

different neighbourhoods within the 
borough 

viii Review digital access specifically for ‘at 
risk’ groups and address gaps 

Output: Report identifying  

Outcomes:  

 Identification of groups who cannot or 
do not access advice, information 
and/or social networks digitally, and 
why 

 Tailored interventions for ‘at risk’ 
groups – either improving digital access 
or offering alternative opportunities  

Four digital inclusion pilots on estates    

Conduct mapping exercise of digital 
exclusion rates and review provision of 
WIFI across public buildings and social 
housing: supported accommodation, 
sheltered accommodation, residential 
care.  

   

Provide targeted support for residents 
most in need of Digital Skills, including for 
residents moving onto Universal Credit, 
job seekers, disabled residents, parents 
and older residents 

   

Review demand for library facilities for 
digital access 

   

Increase the number and range of places 
residents can access free public wi-fi in 
both Council and partners buildings and 
residents’ homes. 

   

Focus groups with those who are able but 
do not choose digital access. 

   

5.3 Targeted activity, asset based (whole systems) 

xi Review current offer to identify which ‘at-
risk’ groups or neighbourhoods are not 
currently sufficiently supported and 
address findings. 

Output: 

Consider how best to facilitate support and 
contact with families members out of 
borough. 

   

Consider how best to support young 
people in further or higher education who 
have disabilities and might be more at risk 

   

P
age 23



 

Page 14 of 14 

Strategic objective and theme Activity Deadline Progress 

Outcomes:  

 Clarification of priority groups 

 Improved return on investment 

of social isolation as a result. 

Consider how best to support those in 
sheltered accommodation to maintain 
existing and develop new social contacts. 

   

Consider how best to support those in 
supported accommodation to maintain 
existing and develop new social contacts. 

   

x Encourage robust retirement planning  

Output: 

Outcomes:  

 Older residents maintain activity levels 

 Volunteering activity among 50+ age 
group increases. 

TBC    

    

    

 
 
End Notes 
                                                           
i
 Local action on health inequalities: Reducing social isolation across the lifecourse, PHE and UCL 2015 
ii
 Zavaleta et al, 2014 

iii
 Griffin 2010, p.4 

iv
 Local action on health inequalities: Reducing social isolation across the lifecourse, PHE and UCL 2015, p.12 

v
 Ibid. p.10).  

vi
 Ibid. p.9 

P
age 24



 

1 
 

          
OUR THIRD AGE CAN BE OUR BEST AGE:  

A WORKSHOP TO EXPLORE HOW TO REDUCE AND PREVENT 
LONELINESS AND CREATE CONNECTIONS IN LATER LIFE  
 

Wednesday 27th April 2016, Hammersmith Town Hall  

Report from the Workshop 
Workshop hosted by Cllr Sue Fennimore along with Cllr Vivienne Lukey and Cllr Ben Coleman. 
Facilitated by the Campaign to End Loneliness.  

The workshop was introduced by Cllr Fennimore, the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and led by 
Campaigns and Communications Manager, Miriam Christie and Facilitator, Martin Farrell.  

Thirty-two people attended the event (Appendix 2); participants were from a range of 
organisations including the local authority, NHS and a good mix of local voluntary and community 
organisations. 

This report is based on notes made by workshop participants during sessions held throughout 
the morning and is designed to help Hammersmith and Fulham Council develop its strategy for 
addressing loneliness and isolation in the borough which includes ‘making every contact count’. 
Much of the report refers back to the Loneliness Framework developed by Age UK and the 
Campaign to End Loneliness (Appendix 1).  For a fuller explanation of this framework, please 
access the Campaign’s online guidance:  http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/    

Contents: 
Introduction 
 
1. Warm up session 
2. How do we find the most lonely and isolated?  
3. Loneliness interventions: filling gaps 
4. Conclusion  
 
Appendix 1: Loneliness Framework   Appendix 2: Participant List  

 

Page 25

http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/


 

2 
 

Introduction 
Local authorities across the United Kingdom have now recognised the serious impact loneliness can 
have on our health and are successfully working in partnership across the community to deliver 
interventions that help older people connect and feel less lonely.   

The Campaign to End Loneliness knows that local authorities enjoy and thrive on learning from each 
other and this workshop was part of a series held with local authorities designed to help local 
stakeholders understand what is being done to reduce loneliness in later life in other areas and what 
initiatives could work well in locally, to help older people make connections and improve their 
wellbeing.   

The workshop worked with participants to explore aspects of a loneliness framework that was 
developed by the Campaign to End Loneliness alongside Age UK.  The loneliness framework presents 
the full range of interventions needed in a local area to support older people experiencing this very 
individual problem.  The framework sets out four distinct categories: 

Foundation services – services to reach and understand the specific needs of those experiencing 
loneliness. 

Direct interventions – a menu of services that directly improve the number or quality of relationships 
older people have. 

Gateway Services – improving transport and technology provision to help retain connections and 
independence in later life. 

Structural Enablers – create the right structures and conditions in a local environment to reduce 
those affected by, or at risk of, loneliness. 

This report from the workshop represents the first step in putting in place an action plan to tackle 
loneliness in older age, based on local circumstances. When developing this action plan 
commissioners should consider the following: 

• Addressing gaps in loneliness interventions framework 
Local authorities and commissioners should work through the loneliness framework to plan which 
interventions need to be prioritised and addressed, ensuring a comprehensive or ‘whole systems’ 
approach to addressing loneliness. 

• Targeted support 
Targeting responses to specific groups who are particularly vulnerable to loneliness (such as men or 
carers) will help increase the effectiveness of interventions. There are factsheets available relating 
to statistics and risk factors. 

• The importance of information provision 
Information on combatting loneliness should be made clear, specific to a local area, and available to 
the public.  

Page 26

http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/foundation-services/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/direct-intervention/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/gateway-services/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/structural-enablers/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/theoretical-framework/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/case-study/mens-sheds-tools-company/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/StatisticsGFLA.pdf
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Risk-factorsGFLA.pdf


 

3 
 

• Active involvement of older people 
Commissioners should allow for older people’s participation in strategy development, and 
involvement in co-designing delivering services. 

• Commissioning against outcomes 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and local authorities should be commissioning against specific 
outcomes to reduce loneliness and isolation. 

  

Page 27



 

4 
 

Session 1: Warm up session 
 

Participants were asked to describe what single word 
they thought of when they thought of loneliness.          
This exercise aimed to personalise the issue and 
demonstrate that whilst participants were attending 
the workshop in a professional capacity, the issue of 
loneliness means something, often something quite     
different, to everyone.  Most people have a personal 
experience or a personal understanding of loneliness    
and it was important that they kept in mind how it 
made them feel throughout the day. 

Words used by participants included: 

 

- Loss of purpose  
- Bereavement  
- Coping with change  
- Worthless 
- Feeling to blame  
- Emptiness 
- Cautiousness  
- Resistant to help  
- Guilt 
- Suspicion  
- Resentment 

- Brittle 
- Fear  
- Isolation 
- Stigma 
- Helpless 
- Imprisoned in own home  
- Envy of others  
- Shame  
- Embarrassment  
- Unmotivated  

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 28



 

5 
 

Session 2: Foundation Services – How do we 
find the most lonely and isolated? 
Foundation Services are what have been termed the first steps in finding individuals experiencing 
loneliness and enabling them to gain support that meets their specific needs. 

There are three main aims of foundation services; identifying and establishing contact with lonely 
individuals, drawing out the specific circumstances of an individual’s loneliness and establishing the most 
appropriate help, and supporting individuals to make use of available services.  Many services can sit 
across several of these categories. 

Workshop participants were given a presentation about a range of foundation services that have been 
shown to have been proved effective in establishing contact with individuals at risk of loneliness.  These 
are: 

- Using data to identify those at risk: Smart Home Visits and Neighbourhood Mapping 
- Eyes and Feet on the Ground 
- Using the media 
- Links to the health service 
- Working with local businesses   
- Understanding and responding 

 
The aim of the participatory session was to draw out some key ideas from participants about how they 
could make the categories above relevant in Hammersmith and Fulham. Participants were asked to 
choose a category which resonated with them and is relevant to the work that they are currently doing.  
The boxes below represent the combined notes made by participants. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Using data (contact Julia Copeland - Adult Social Care) 

Our idea is: to share data across organisations in order to undertake a mapping project across the 
borough.  

Who should be involved?  

• Council  
• NHS 
• Third Sector 
• Shops 
• Housing 
• Businesses 
• Wider Community   

 
Resources needed? Best practice examples from other councils who have done this well. Data sharing 
issues may present barriers.  
 
In the short term: we should undertake a borough survey. We should join up ASC, Public Health and 
corporate departments and develop departmental champions to lead the projects. The project will 
help to identify gaps in our data.  

In the medium term: we should identify priority areas and develop criteria for success measurements 
i.e. outcomes and financial factors.  

In the long term: refine data, identifying what is working and what else we need. Could we market our 
developed mapping product to other councils?   

Who should take responsibility?  

• Business Intelligence  
• Cllr Fennimore  
• All stakeholders 

Page 30



 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Using the Media (contact: Joan Levene - Deaf Plus)  

Our idea is: a single shared marketing approach across council and stakeholders to provide a holistic 
view to the public about what is available.   

Who should be involved?  

• Health services 
• Council 
• All providers 
• Residents 
• Carers  
• Local business  

 
Who should take the lead? This should be a co-production, led by the Council, with input from all partners.  

Actions to be taken are in the short term are: to agree to the principle and to take examples of best 
practice communications from across the UK.  

Actions to be taken are in the medium term are: to draft the strategy.  
 
Actions to be taken are in the long term are: to implement the strategy.  
 
To make sure this happens: we need to involve cabinet members.  

Page 31



 

8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Eyes and Feet on the Ground (Contact Christina Smyth - Poverty & Worklessness Commission)  

Our idea is: Hammersmith and Fulham, Help and Friendship Adopt a Friend scheme: this would be an 
intergenerational scheme including face to face, telephone and neutral space befriending.  

Who should be involved? The clients are the solution. It would be facilitated by residents.  

• Volunteers  
• A broker i.e. through a minor grant to a charity  
• Local media 
• Referral agencies 
• Businesses 
• Third sector 
• Religious organisations 
• Public Sector organisations  
• Carers  
• Council  

 
Our resources are: residents and volunteers.  

What needs to happen in the short term: map existing services; train volunteers; find people to design 
and run a pilot and feedback from this.  

What needs to happen in the medium term: Creation of an innovation fund. Preparation of frontline 
services to signpost people to the scheme. 

What needs to happen in the longer term: User feedback and evaluation.  

Who should take responsibility? The Council should lay the groundwork (set the framework, 
expectations, communications, information, facilitation, linking, map existing services) and provide a 
small grant for an organisation to run the scheme.  

 

Page 32



 

9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Links to the health service (Brian Naylor - Older People's Consultative Forum) 

Our idea is: navigators who can direct people through the ‘spaghetti bolognese’. We can’t expect HCPs 
to be experts on signposting.  

Integration of third sector funding between local authority and CCG to ensure a uniform, longer term 
approach.    

Who needs to be involved? 

• Patients 
• Public 
• Third Sector  
• Health Workers 

 
What needs to happen in the short term: Create ‘navigators’ who can help direct people to the right 
service. 
 
What needs to happen in the medium term: Integration of third sector funding between local 
authority and CCG.  

 
 

Working with businesses (Marianne Duffield – Housing Services)  

Our idea is: to engage with local businesses to increase awareness of loneliness and isolation in the 
local area. We would provide them with the tools to promote inclusion.  

Who should be involved?  
• Local community 
• Local businesses 
• Local services 
• Potential beneficiaries  
• Local charities  
• Police  
• Libraries 
• Health services  
• Individual business forums  
• Corporate communication links, such as Westfield; football clubs; and marketing companies  

 
What needs to happen in the short term: Stakeholder group meetings.  
 
What needs to happen in the medium term: Development of an action plan and action group.  

 
What needs to happen in the long term: get buy in from businesses, charities, services and corporates. 
Ensure that the project is monitored and sustainable.  
 
Who should be responsible? LBHF, with a councillor taking the lead initially.  

Page 33



 

10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Understanding and Responding (Jazz Browne – Nubian Life) 

Our idea is: to map areas with the most need and identify stakeholders who can help in each area. We 
would involve older people in service planning by identify older people’s champions or setting up an 
older person’s action group to drive the activity.  

We need to: join up services and communicate better between them.  

What needs to happen: stakeholders including families, individuals and key community organisations 
need to be involved in action planning.   

Actions to be taken are in the short term are: to undertake a mapping exercise to identify those in 
most need and to identify who the stakeholders in those areas are.  

Actions to be taken are in the medium term are: to develop action plans and establish an action 
group.  

Actions to be taken are in the long term are: to keep the campaign on the agenda, irrespective of 
leadership.  

Page 34



 

11 
 

Session 3: Loneliness interventions - filling 
gaps 
This session focused on the remaining areas of the loneliness framework  - termed ‘loneliness 
interventions’ which incorporates ‘direct interventions’, ‘gateway services’ and ‘structural enablers’. 

1. Direct interventions are services that reduce loneliness by directly increasing the quantity and/or 
quality of a person’s relationships.  Once an individual experiencing loneliness is identified, 
commissioners should ensure there is a menu of direct interventions available in three key areas:   
 

- Supporting and maintaining relationships 
- Supporting new connections 
- Changing thinking (psychological approaches) 

 
2. Gateway Services encompass technology and transport provision, which enable individuals to      

maintain existing relationships and support them in making new social connections. The lack of   
Gateway Services can have an enormous impact on older people’s ability to engage with services, 
and on communities’ ability to provide them. 
 

3. Structural Enablers aim to create the right environment to reduce loneliness by focusing on ‘how’ 
rather than ‘what’ is being delivered.  When considering strategies that address loneliness and 
isolation, local authorities should seek to ensure that emphasis is placed on the following: 
 

- Building community capacity: neighbourhood approaches, asset based community development 
and volunteering 

- Positive ageing 

Workshop participants were given a presentation about a range of the above that have been shown to 
have been proved effective in helping people to reduce their experience of loneliness. 

The aim of the participatory session was to encourage groups to develop ‘one good idea’ that they think 
could work in Hammersmith and Fulham to help reduce loneliness, based on the information they had 
been provided with and what they knew about the local area.  Participants were asked to choose which 
category was most relevant to them and the work that they are currently doing.  The sections below 
represent the combined notes made by participants. 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 35



 

12 
 

 
 

Creating New Connections   

One to one (Joy Houghton–Brown - Bishop Creighton House)  

Our idea is: to deliver one to one interventions to the home for people who cannot or do not want to 
leave their homes. We would deliver day-to-day services, such as hair dressing, handyman services and 
nail technicians to people to help them stay connected to the community.  

• Stakeholders:   
- Masbro Centre 
- Bishop Creighton House 
- Open Age 
- Good Company 
- Elman Good Neighbours 
- Age UK 
- Big Local 
- Linkline 
- Silverline 
- Mind  

 
• Resources?  

- Older people themselves 
- Community centres  
- Link-up workers  
- Home visitors 
- Hair dressers 
- Nail technicians 
- Handymen  

 
• Who should take responsibility for leading on this? 

- All existing providers 
  

Direct Interventions 

Page 36



 

13 
 

Group-based (Hazel Mann - St Alban’s Church) 

Our idea is: to coordinate providers of social activities to work together more effectively.   

• Stakeholders:   
- Providers of activities  
- Users  
- LBHF 
- Health practitioners  
- Landlords and housing providers  
- Sports clubs 
- Faith groups  
- Businesses  
- Charities  

 
• Resources:  

- Volunteers 
- People aged over 50  
- Local media and radio  
- Newsletters  
- Websites 
- Networking 
- Roadshow 
- Floating support  
- Networking with other boroughs  

 
• Who should take responsibility for leading on this? An action group or forum.  

 
• Actions to be taken are in the short term are:  to develop an action plan; identify resources; set 

targets and goals.  
 

• Actions to be taken are in the medium term are: to firm up plans and integrate groups. 
 

• Actions to be taken are in the long term are: to review and monitor, identify gaps and set targets 
to move forward.  
 

  

Page 37



 

14 
 

 

Technology (Chris, Dawn Stephenson – Age UK, Tony Rodriguez – Housing Services)  
 
Our ideas are to: 
• develop access to technology and  
• enable access to services via technology 
• create digital champions  
• provide access to mobility equipment  
• Use mobile phones and telephones to engage with residents  

   
• Stakeholders:  

- CSR  
- Third Sector 
- Local Authority 
- Schools (intergenerational work)  

 
• Who should take responsibility for leading on this? It should be delivered through a partnership 

of stakeholders.  
 

• What needs to happen in the short term: identify the need/ the target groups through mapping.  
 

• What needs to happen in the medium term: action planning, and forming partnerships with 
stakeholders.  
 

• What needs to happen in the longer term: achieving the ideas and reviewing.  
 

  

Gateway Services 

Page 38



 

15 
 

Transport (Joan Levene - Deaf Plus, Vanessa Andreae - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group)  
 
  Our ideas are to 

• Signposting to services that make transport accessible to reduce loneliness e.g. assisted travel 
on rail transport 

• Use transport to create interaction and reduce loneliness e.g. to promote a borough-wide 
campaign to encourage people to talk to the person next door  

• ‘Transport cafes’ for people waiting for transport back from hospital appointments 
• Reduce difficulty in accessing freedom passes/ blue badge passes with support filling in forms 

 
• Stakeholders:  

- Transport users 
- Commissioners of transport 
- Third sector  
- Charities 
- The Mayor  
- Transport workers  

 
• What are the resources? Existing collateral, such as  

- Freedom passes  
- Disability railcard  

 
• What needs to happen in the: 

 
Short term 

- Advertising  
- More links between third sector to work with people who are lonely as a result of 

transport issues  
 

• Medium term 
- Advisors in surgeries  

 
• Long term 

- London pulling together to realise that loneliness is everybody’s business. If loneliness is 
not tackled it leads to reduced resources all around.  

  

Page 39



 

16 
 

 

 
Building Community Capacity (Sue Spiller - Community Investment Team)  

Our idea is: early engagement and prevention for those in their 40s and 50s. A borough-wide pre-
retirement scheme to encourage people to ‘know your neighbours’. People would become a resource 
instead of becoming a user.  

• Stakeholders 
- Businesses  
- Client group – 40+ 
- Local organisations  
- Residents  
- Everyone: local businesses and communities 
- Local authorities, health, voluntary sector and neighbourhoods 

 
• What needs to happen in the: 

 
 Short term 

- Pre-retirement course by LBHF  
 

Medium term 

- Identify and contact 40+ residents  
Long term 

- Expect residents to be active participants in their community and neighbourhood.  
-  

• Who should take responsibility for leading on this? A co-production between the local authority, 
Public Health, businesses and third sector.  

  

Structural Enablers 

Page 40



 

17 
 

Conclusion 
It was clear from the number of attendees across the public and third sectors and the 
participants’ enthusiasm and engagement in the workshop that there is a strong desire to take 
action on this issue in a strategic and focused way.  The message coming through across the 
wide range of ideas was the need to work more strategically across departments and 
stakeholders in order to reduce costs, share data and eliminate the risk of working in silo.  

Consistent themes running through this report are: 

- Services need to be signposted to and promoted through a range of mediums  
- Mapping and identifying at-risk areas is a priority  
- Residents themselves need to be empowered to take the lead in addressing loneliness 
- Community leaders should be identified who can help to keep up momentum on driving 
forward a strategy  
- Many of the groups identified partnerships with businesses as a useful resource and one 
that needs to be better utilised 
- Older people need to be supported to help themselves – through training them in the use 
of technology, for example, or by encouraging people to retain and expand their social 
networks pre and post retirement. 
 
Gaps in the session included input from participants around  
 
- Psychological interventions  
- Age-positive infrastructure  
 
Cllr Fennimore concluded the session by announcing the Council’s commitment to developing a 
collaborative strategy to address isolation loneliness in the Borough. Participants were invited 
to nominate themselves to be part of the strategy development and others who could not 
attend on the day will also be invited to participate. The Campaign to End Loneliness 
recommends this group also involves stakeholders who can provide information on the gaps 
highlighted above.  
 
A key task of this strategy group should be to drive forward a project to map the most at-risk of 
loneliness in the Borough. This group would also take responsibility for identifying existing 
resources and gaps.  
 
The Council’s strategy aims to recognise all of the assets at its disposal and involve stakeholders 
throughout the process. In particular, the Campaign to End Loneliness recommends putting in 
place data sharing protocols and using existing assets to get a clearer understanding of where 
the loneliest in the Borough are likely to be – and targeting resources in these areas.  To help 
plan how to find the most lonely, the Campaign recommends reading Hidden Citizens: How can 
we identify the loneliest older adults. 

Page 41

http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/CEL-Hidden-People-report-final.pdf
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/wp-content/uploads/CEL-Hidden-People-report-final.pdf


 

18 
 

- To develop the strategy, the Campaign recommends reading our guidance on strategy 
development.  
 
The Campaign to End Loneliness will work closely with the Council for a limited time-period 
during the early development of the strategy and to also help mobilise the local community on 
the issue and gain buy-in from key players across the local business, statutory and voluntary 
sectors.    
 
Ends  
 
 
 

Page 42

http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/strategic-approach/
http://campaigntoendloneliness.org/guidance/strategic-approach/


 

19 
 

Appendix 1: Loneliness Framework 

 
  

Page 43



 

20 
 

Appendix 2: Participant List 
Dawn Stephenson  Age UK 
Anita Wales  Alzheimer's Society 
Joy Houghton Brown  Bishop Creighton House 
Krzysztof Mikata-Pralat  Fulham Good Neighbours 
Helen Leech  Open Age 
Martha Romero  Urban P'ship Group 
Joan Levene  Deaf Plus 
Anne Macalpine-Leny  Soup4Lunch 
Hazel Mann  St Alban's Church (Fulham) 
Jazz Browne  Nubian Life 
Anthony Wood  Sheltered Housing Forum 
Bryan Naylor  Older People's Consultative Forum 
Roy Baker  Pensioner’s Forum 
Lynne Evans  Community Gardens Association 
Pauline Hutchison  Older Persons Projects 
Christina Smyth  Poverty & Worklessness Commission 
Jason Tong  Healthwatch 
Nathan Sansom  Good Company for All 
Fiona Hodgson  QPR in the Community Trust 
Daphine Aikens  Foodbank 
Alex Tambourides  MIND 

 

Cllr Sue Fennimore  Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 
Cllr Vivienne Lukey Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Cllr Ben Coleman  Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue & Resident Satisfaction 
Tony Rodriguez  Housing Services 
Sue Spiller  Community Investment 
Steven Falvey  Adult Social Care 
Nivene Powell  Policy & Strategy 
Anna Waterman  Public Health 
Marianne Duffield  Housing Services 
Julia Copeland  Adult Social Care 

 

Vanessa Andreae  Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 
 

Page 44



Funding

Organisation Project

Service 

user 

group

Preventio

n 

category 

1

Preventio

n 

category 

2 (if 

present)

Preventio

n 

category 

3 (if 

present)

 Description

Operate 

Borough 

Wide or 

Locally

Action on Disability (HAFAD)

Advocacy 

Services for 

Adults inc PD 

and MH

Physical 

Disabilitie

s, 

Sensory 

Impairme

nt, Mental 

Health

Advocacy

Advocacy Services for Adults living 

in LBHF diagnosed with physical 

disabilities and mental health 

issues. 
Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Action on Disability (WB 

Adults)

Welfare Benefits 

- adults

Disabled 

Adults 

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Welfare Benefits advice Adults
Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Action on Disability (HAFAD)

Supported 

employment 

services

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Employme

nt Support

Employment is an important part of 

life for so many reasons. Given the 

right support, people with a 

learning difficulty can be an asset 

in the workplace and make a net 

contribution to society. Our 

innovative employment programme 

is aimed at 16-25 year olds with a 

learning difficulty ensuring that 

they get the same opportunities as 

everyone else.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Action on Disability (HAFAD)
Community 

Advocacy

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Advocacy

A way of providing practical 

support that enables learning 

disabled people to make informed 

choices, represent themselves and 

get the services they need. It 

promotes inclusion and justice. It 

helps to redress the power 

imbalance between service users 

and providers.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Project Details

P
age 45



Action on Disability (HAFAD) - 

Mencap

Professional 

Advocacy 

(PMLD)

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Advocacy

Professional advocacy for people 

with profound and multiple learning 

disabilities (PMLD). A way of 

providing practical support that 

enables learning disabled people 

to make informed choices, 

represent themselves and get the 

services they need. It promotes 

inclusion and justice. It helps to 

redress the power imbalance 

between service users and 

providers.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Age UK H&F (formerly Age 

Concern)

Advice, 

Information, 

Advocacy and 

Support Service

Older 

people

Carer 

Support

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle

Social 

Inclusion

Range of support plus social and 

health activities for local older 

people
Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Alzheimer's Society
Dementia 

Support Worker

Cognitive, 

carers

Carer 

Support 

Memory 

Support

Dementia support including 1-2-1 

support to users and carers.  
Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Alzheimer's Society
Dementia 

Advisor

Cognitive, 

carers

Memory 

Support

Carer 

Support 

The dementia adviser service is 

primarily for people with dementia, 

as well as their supporters and 

carers. It provides them with a 

named contact throughout their 

journey with dementia. Referrals to 

the service may come from GPs, 

CMHTs or other health and social 

care professionals, or self-referral.

Borough 

wide
HF CCG

Alzheimer's Society
Singing for the 

Brain

Cognitive, 

carers

Memory 

Support  

Carer 

Support 

Singing for the Brain is a service 

provided by Alzheimer's Society 

which uses singing to bring people 

together in a friendly and 

stimulating social  6 week 

programme and for carers

Borough 

wide
HF CCG

P
age 46



Asian Health Agency (Shanti) Various 

Older 

people, 

BME

Social 

Inclusion  

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle

Working towards delivery of high 

quality holistic health and social 

care services, community 

empowerment, and strategic 

alliances with voluntary private and 

public sectors to address racism, 

discrimination and inequalities. 

Services include respite, 

transportation for people with 

special needs, and day care for 

adults and older people. 

Borough 

wide

Public 

Health

Baron's Court Project Ltd Various 

Mental 

Health, 

Women, 

BME

Informatio

n & 

Advice 

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

Open access drop-in every 

weekday afternoon.  Low cost 

café, showers, laundry and advice 

service.  Visiting health 

professionals – chiropodist, 

optician.  Groups for people with 

mental health problems, women 

and people from black and ethnic 

minority communities.

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Bishop Creighton House Homeline

Socially 

isolated, 

Older 

people

Social 

Inclusion  

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

Tele befriending service for 

housebound isolated older people. 

Volunteers accompany older 

people outdoors, to re-build 

confidence and ensure they are 

able to take regular exercise

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Bishop Creighton House

Small Jobs 

Scheme/ Care & 

Repair

Physical 

disabilitie

s, Older 

people

Falls 

Preventio

n 

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

Low cost and accessible 

handyman service to service users 

who are disabled or over 60 years 

old

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Bishop Creighton House
Community 

Center

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Friends & 

family

Neighbourhood and community 

support centre.  Provides office 

space, meeting rooms and support 

to other voluntary groups.

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

P
age 47



Bishop Creighton House
Mentoring Plus 

LD

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle

Supported 

Employme

nt

Supports people with learning 

disabilities to develop skills and 

build friendships and social 

networks. Offers one-to-one 

mentoring, social trips and training 

courses such as cookery, literacy 

and gardening. Also helps to find 

training and work, both paid and 

voluntary.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Bishop Creighton House Keep Active
Older 

People

 H&F older people, discharged 

from CRS/CIS will be referred to 

Keep Active for ongoing support 

through the 9-12 week recovery 

programme and prevention of 

further falls

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Bishop Creighton House

Befriending and 

Community 

Engagement 

Pilot

Older 

people

Social 

Inclusion

A project run in partnership with 

Hammersmith & Fulham Mind and 

Fulham Good Neighbour Service, 

supporting people of all ages to 

overcome isolation. Volunteers 

offer telephone befriending, home 

and community support, peer to 

peer support, skills workshops and 

social activities.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Carers Network

Carers' Hub - 

Information, 

Advice & 

Support Service 

Carers
Carer 

Support 

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Advice, Information, Advocacy and 

Support Service in the London 

Borough of Hammersmith and 

Fulham.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Central London Community 

Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH)

Early Supported 

Discharge 

Service

Stroke 
Memory 

Support

Carer 

Support 

Part of Out of Hospital Stroke 

Support Services Framework 

Agreement (with Family and Carer 

Support Service and 

Dysphasia/Peer Mentoring service)

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

P
age 48



deafPLUS
Living with 

hearing loss

Sensory 

Impairem

ent

DeafPLUS will deliver 4 x seven -

module 'Living with a Hearing Loss' 

courses Users will be supported to 

manage their hearing loss and 

taught how to improve 

communication between 

themselves and their 

family/friends. This will involve a 

combination of one-to-one home 

visits, visits to residential homes, 

sheltered housing and day centres 

to enable older people to gain 

support and information in an 

environment that is comfortable for 

them, thus providing opportunities 

for those who may find it difficult to 

access traditional training venues.

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Environmental Health (bi-

borough)

Healthier 

Homes Project

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Fuel 

Poverty 

Assistanc

e 

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

Aimed at residents at risk from fuel 

poverty or hazards in the home.  

This includes over 65’s, families 

with young children, residents 

suffering from long term illness or 

disability or on low income.

The aim of the project is to reduce 

hospital admissions and gp visits 

caused by living in cold, damp or 

dangerous homes.  It is based on 

the NICE Guidelines on Excess 

Winter Deaths recommendation for 

a single point of contact health and 

housing referral service for people 

living in cold homes.  

Borough 

wide

Public 

Health

Fulham Good Neighbours 

Service
FGNS

Older 

People

Practical neighbourly support, 

befriending for the housebound, 

home decorating and gardening, 

escort and occasional transport

Locally 

(South)

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

P
age 49



H&F Mind
Heads Up 

Network

Mental 

Health
Advocacy

A mental health service user group 

facilitated by Hammersmith and 

Fulham Mind. As well as 

overseeing the involvement of the 

wider network, the committee work 

to identify gaps in services for 

people who experience emotional 

distress and campaign to see 

those gaps filled.

Borough 

wide
HF CCG

H&F Citizens Advice Bureau Library Services

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Informatio

n & 

Advice

More than a Library - provision of a 

volunteer led Library and 

Neighbourhood Centre
Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Citizens Advice Bureau
 Advice 

Services

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Advice service at H&F Foodbank 

sites Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Citizens Advice Bureau

Renters Owners 

Occupiers and 

Families (ROOF)

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Renters, Owners, Occupiers, 

Tenants support service
Borough 

wide

Public 

Health

H&F Citizens Advice Bureau 

(Core)
Core Costs 

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Generalist and specialist level 

legal advice and information, 

primarily in the social welfare law 

categories of welfare benefits, 

debt, employment and housing

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Law Centre
Housing Legal 

Advice

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Legal advice, information and 

representation on employment 

rights, discrimination, housing and 

homelessness, family and 

community care issues.

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Mencap Advocacy 

Services
Parents Active Carers

Informatio

n & 

Advice 

Carer 

Support 

Advice for parents and carers of 

disabled children, including 

workshops and coffee mornings. 

Network to provide an opportunity 

to shape services.  Advocacy role 

for parents of disabled people.  

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

P
age 50



H&F Mencap
Safety Net 

People First

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

peer advocacy of 200 residents 

with learning disabilities.   Users to 

participate in local decision 

making, consultations and 

meetings.  Includes “speaking up” 

training and running a night club. 

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Mencap

Community 

Inclusion 

Project

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

The service will is to ensure 

people, disadvantaged due to their 

learning disability, autism or 

complex needs, will access 

mainstream community facilities.  

The service will develop tailor-

made community packages to 

support  users of the service to 

access meaningful local 

community activities, including 

mainstream leisure, sport, 

recreation, cultural activities,  

community events, and social 

clubs, developing new skills, 

interests, friends and confidence. 

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Volunteer Centre Various 

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Employme

nt Support

Recruitment and placement of 

volunteers in voluntary 

organisations. Promotion of good 

practice in working with volunteers 

locally.  

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Hammersmith and Fulham 

Mencap

Service User 

Involvement in 

Partnership 

Board (LD)

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Advocacy

Representatives for people with 

learning disabilities To help decide 

what people with learning 

disabilities need and make sure 

they are involved in decision 

making plans.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Hammersmith and Fulham 

Mencap

LD Carer 

Support Group

Learning 

Disabilitie

s, Carers

Carer 

Support

Monthly carer support groups for 

carers of people with learning 

disability.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Hammersmith and Fulham 

MIND

MH Carer 

Support Group

Mental 

Health, 

Carers

Carer 

Support

Fortnightly carer support groups 

for carers of people with mental 

health needs

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

P
age 51



Hestia Housing and Support

Disability 

Floating 

Support Service

Learning 

Disabilitie

s, 

Physical 

disabilitie

s

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Floating support to those with 

physical and learning disabilities 

across London. Helping them in 

their own homes rather than in 

shared or supported 

accommodation. Supportive 

services in times of crisis such as 

a sudden health issue, a 

relationship breakdown, debt 

crisis, isolation or difficulties with 

drugs and alcohol, to enable 

people to manage their situations, 

re build their confidence and 

maintain their independence.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Hestia Housing and Support
Healthwatch 

H&F

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Advocacy

Independent body to engage and 

involve residents, patients and the 

public in their local health and 

social care provision.

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

H&F Foodbank Foodbank @75

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Emergency food parcels and 

advice service based at the W12 

hub
Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Housing and Care 21 Activity Plus Cognitive

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle

Care and support services that can 

be tailored to meet clients' 

personal needs.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Open Age

Linked In and 

Active 

Programme

Socially 

isolated, 

Older 

people

Social 

Inclusion

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle

Link-Up will reach out to people 

any age over 65 in primarily 

deprived areas of H&F.  Users will 

be supported and encouraged into 

activities offered by both Open Age 

and other providers in order to 

promote physical and mental 

health and improve wellbeing. 

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

P
age 52



Open Age Falls prevention
Older 

people

Falls 

Preventio

n 

An evidence based programme 

that helps to improve balance, 

strength and confidence. Taking 

part will helps participants to keep 

mobile and able to do the things 

they want to do. The classes also 

give an opportunity to make new 

friends and are designed to be fun.

Borough 

wide

HF CCG 

/ Adult 

Social 

Care 

(s.75)

POhWER (The Advocacy 

Agency)

Professional 

Advocacy

Mental 

Health
Advocacy

(not a separate contract) 

Independent Mental Capacity 

Advocate (IMCA) Service (Joint 

Procured with 8 London Boroughs)

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Richmond Fellowship

Making a 

Difference 

Alliance (MAD)

Mental 

Health
Advocacy 

A leadership group to establish a 

culture of co-production at all 

levels of commissioning and 

influence provision of mental 

health care and support across 

North West London.

Borough 

wide
HF CCG

Sodexo Limited

Home Meals 

and Frozen 

Food Delivery 

Service

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Nutrition

Home Meals and Frozen Food 

Delivery Service Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

N&NWL Vietnamese Association
Vietnamese 

Elderly People

Older 

People

Social 

Isolation

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

Informatio

n and 

Advice

A weekly Luncheon Club with drop 

in session, health advice, keep fit 

exercise, home visits and 

befriending for the Vietnamese and 

Chinese elder community age 50 

plus, to prevent social isolation. 

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

The National Autistic Society

Asperger 

Support 

Signposting and 

Information 

Service Team 

(ASSIST) 

Programme

Learning 

Disabilitie

s

Care 

Coordinati

on 

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Singpostingand Information 

support for people in the Autistic 

Spectrum Disorder.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

P
age 53



Urban Partnership Group Masbro Centre

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Healthy & 

Active 

Lifestyle 

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Social 

Inclusion

Community sports, leisure and 

learning centre providing a holistic 

model of health and wellbeing 
Borough 

wide

Public 

Health

Urban Partnership Group Invest@Masbro

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Masbro community centre and 

activities Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Urban Partnership Group
OP Access 

Service

Older 

People

elders project, offering befriending, 

home support, events and leisure 

activities. 

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

POhWER (The Advocacy 

Agency)

Independent 

NHS Complaints 

Advocacy 

Service

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Advocacy

An advocacy organization working 

across England with people who 

are vulnerable or marginalised to 

raise their voices and have their 

rights respected.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Westway Community 

Transport
Core Funding 

At-Risk 

General 

Populatio

n

Social 

Inclusion 

Physical & 

Mental 

Wellbeing

To contribute towards the core 

costs of the organisation so as to 

enable the provision of a 

subsidised  Community Transport 

service to Hammersmith and 

Fulham Voluntary and Community 

Groups

Borough 

wide

LBHF 

Corporat

e Grant

Wigmore Hall Music for Life

Memory 

and 

Cognition

Memory 

Support 

Social 

Inclusion

Music project for people with 

Dementia operates in care homes 

and improves staff engagement

Borough 

wide
HF CCG

Westminster Arts Resonate Arts

Memory 

and 

Cognition

Memory 

Support 

Social 

Inclusion

Arts project for people with 

Dementia 
Borough 

wide (out of 

borough - 

TBC)

HF CCG

Hestia

Learning & 

physical 

disabilities 

floating support

Learning, 

physical 

& sensory 

disabilitie

s

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Temporary floating support for 

people living in the community in 

any housing tenure who need 

support to manage their 

accommodation and 

independence. Support to manage 

tenancy responsibilities; budgeting; 

life skills; signposting to other 

services; accessing 

employment/training/education.

Borough 

wide (out of 

borough - 

TBC)

Adult 

Social 

Care

P
age 54



Hestia

Housing 

Support & 

Inclusion 

Service (HSIS)

mental 

health; 

homeless 

people; 

physical 

& 

Learning 

Disabilitie

s; 

vulnerabl

e older 

people; 

ex-

offenders.

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Temporary floating support for 

people living in the community in 

any housing tenure who need 

support to manage their 

accommodation and 

independence. Support to manage 

tenancy responsibilities; budgeting; 

life skills; signposting to other 

services; accessing 

employment/training/education.

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

Notting Hill Housing Group
Notting Hill 

Pathways

Older 

people

Informatio

n & 

Advice

Temporary support to older people 

living in different types of housing 

including sheltered housing and 

includes helping a person to 

manage in their accommodation, 

such as understanding utility bills; 

filling in forms; getting 

maintenance and repairs sorted 

out; accessing other services; 

making and keeping the home 

safe. 

Borough 

wide

Adult 

Social 

Care

P
age 55



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BEING BOARD 

 
21 NOVEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 
 

Report of the Director of Adult Social Care 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Information 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: ALL 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Lisa Redfern, Director Adult Social Care 
 

Report Author: Helen Banham, ASC Strategic 
Lead for Professional Standards and Safeguarding 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7641 4196   
Email: 
hbanham@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This is the fourth Annual Report of the Safeguarding Adult Executive Board 
(SAEB). The multi-agency Board provides leadership of adult safeguarding 
across the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham; the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea; and the City of Westminster. The purpose of the Board 
is to ensure that member agencies work together, and independently, to secure 
the safety of residents who are at most at risk of harm from others, or through 
self-neglect. The responsibilities of the SAEB are detailed in Schedule 2 of the 
Care Act 2014 , and include the requirement to report on how members are 
progressing the SAEB’s strategic priorities.  These priorities are informed by the 
learning from Safeguarding Enquiries (Section 42), and Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews (Section 44) of deaths and serious harm. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. It is recommended that the Board accept the 2016/17 Annual Report of the 
SAEB, and in particular notes and lends support to the emerging themes that are 
informing the work of the SAEB during 2017/18. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5

mailto:hbanham@westminster.gov.uk


3.1. The learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews and Safeguarding Enquiries this 
year has demonstrated how much can be achieved by working together to tackle 
issues that may make communities unhealthy or unsafe, and from learning 
lessons and making changes where these are indicated. The SAEB actively 
promotes a learning culture and members are transparent, engaged, and 
accountable to one another, leading to better outcomes for people in need of care 
and support. 

 
4. INTRODUCTION  

4.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is requested to consider the Annual 
Report 2016/17 of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board (SAEB), with regard 
to the arrangements that have been put in place to meet the requirements of the 
Care Act 2014, from 1st April 2015.  
 

4.2. The focus of the report is on how the emerging themes from Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews and Enquiries have informed the priorities of the Board during 2016/17, 
and how agencies represented on the SAEB are changing the way they do 
things, and staff practice in response to lessons learned. 

 
4.3. The report seeks to show how the SAEB and member agencies have addressed 

these priorities during 2016/17. This work included: paying more attention to each 
resident or patient being at the centre of decision-making about their care, 
treatment, and safety; tackling financial abuse and fraud by helping people 
protect themselves and others against scams; reducing deaths from legal highs, 
most noticeably, the drug ‘Spice’; and reducing the risk of unnecessary deaths 
from self-neglect and hoarding. Community Champions have been essential to 
helping the Board reach residents who may be wary of engaging with statutory 
services, and in turn, the Board is actively supporting the Champions in their work 
to create healthier and safer communities. 

 
4.4. Work is on-going from the Safeguarding Adult Review held in September 2015 

which raised the need for a wider variety of residential and nursing care 
provisions for people with dementia. The Board is hosting a learning event for 
senior officers in November 2017 to review progress and identify barriers and 
how they might be jointly addressed. 

 
5. BACKGROUND  

5.1. In January 2015, the Protocol to set out governance arrangements between the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board 
(SAEB) was agreed. 
 

5.2. The anticipated benefits of this protocol were: 
 
a) Ensuring safeguarding is “everyone’s business’’ and is reflected in the 

adult social care, health and public health agenda;   
b) Any safeguarding issues, or opportunities for the HWB to use its strategic 

influence over commissioning, are communicated to the HWB by the 
SAEB;  

Page 57



c) Equally, if the HWB have concerns about safeguarding issues affecting 
health outcomes, these are effectively communicated back to the SAEB 
for consideration;  

d) Cross-Board partnership working embeds safeguarding across the health 
and wellbeing sector. 

 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Protocol to set out governance 
arrangements between the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and the Safeguarding Adults 
Board 14th JANUARY 2015 

Helen Banham  ASC 

 

 
 

Page 58



Safeguarding adultS  
executive Board
annual report  
2016/17

mistreated?
bullied?
hit?
neglected? 
hurt?
exploited?
silenced?courage

compaSSion 
accountaBility

Page 59



Safeguarding adultS  
executive Board
annual report  
2016/17

Page 60



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   1

foreword 2

what iS the  
Safeguarding adultS executive Board? 4 

the adult Safeguarding Strategy 8  
2015-2019 

what haS the Board Been doing?
 making Safeguarding personal 9
 creating a Safe and healthy community 11
 leading, listening and learning 17

how we know  19 
we are making a difference 

what are the numBerS telling uS? 23 

what the Board will Be working on 24  
in 2017-18?  

gloSSary of termS 25

appendix 26

contentS

Page 61



2   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

i 
am pleased to present the fourth annual report of the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board for Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea, and 
Hammersmith & Fulham. This report explains the role, functions, and 
purpose of Safeguarding Adults Boards as they are prescribed by the Care 

Act 2014. It lists the organisations that are represented on the Board, as well 
as other groups and agencies who contribute to the Board’s work-streams. 
Everyone, both jointly and independently, works to ensure the safety of those 
adult residents who are deemed to be most at risk of harm, through the 
actions of other people, and from self-neglect. 

The report contains examples of this collaborative work. The highlight of this 
collaboration was the hoarding and self-neglect event in March 2017 that 
had over 180 applicants for 110 places! The report includes a hoarding case 
study as an example of all the considerations required to ensure that the 
final outcome meets the needs of the person concerned, whilst removing the 
risk of harm to others. The Board also considered the response to the harm 
caused to homeless people who take the drug, Spice. Whilst instigated by 
the Police, this work actively involved mental health practitioners, housing 
officers and workers from a number of voluntary organisations.

The Board embraces the concept of Making Safeguarding Personal - ‘no 
decision about me without me’. The case studies show the application of 
this principle to the lives of four people, demonstrating the difference that 
safeguarding interventions have made to their lives. Whilst the emphasis 
of the report is about people, there are statistics about the safeguarding 
journey. These show the number of concerns, and enquiries resulting in 
some form of action. To provide context, the data shows the size of the 
eligible adult population living in the three boroughs, together with those 
adults who have care and support needs. 

In my foreword last year, I mentioned that a major initiative for 2016 was 
to focus on the mental and emotional harm caused by financial abuse or 
‘scams’. I believe that we have made significant progress in the past year. 
The head of Trading Standards is now the Co-Chair of one of the Board’s 
work-streams and by developing links with the Community Champions 
network, local people have been trained to become SCAMampions or Friends 
Against Scams. Community Champions are also trained, and play a vital role 
in spotting adult abuse and neglect, and domestic abuse. The Champions 
are helping people to understand what help may be available to them. We 
are also learning from them about how to work sensitively with people who 
may be reluctant to engage with statutory services.

foreword

Page 62



Safeguarding adultS executive Board annual report 2016/17   3

Last year, I also mentioned a high-profile case involving a death at a care home 
that led to the commissioning of a Safeguarding Adult Review in September 
2015. Various delays involving the inquest and staff changes have prevented 
a full account being published in this year’s report. However, a learning event 
focussing on the range of quality care home provision for dementia sufferers 
is scheduled to take place in late November. The quality and variety of care for 
people with Dementia will be one of the Board’s themes for 2017/18. 

Work will also continue on addressing the challenges posed to staff who 
work with people who hoard or neglect themselves, and also on increasing 
practitioners’ confidence in applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 to 
decision-making. Other themes are to ensure that all organisations work 
together to improve the physical health outcomes of people with mental 
health problems and learning disabilities; and finally, scrutinising the discharge 
pathways from hospital to residential or nursing care, or paid care at home 
to make sure people are not at risk of dying when they return home. 

Whilst the annual report covers the year ending 31st March 2017, it would 
be remiss of me not to mention the Grenfell Tower fire. Many of the Board’s 
member organisations were involved in the initial response to this tragedy. 
They continue to provide help, support, and counselling to people affected 
by the large-scale loss of life. At the July Board meeting, representatives 
reflected upon their experiences and it was agreed that the Board’s role 
should be a supportive one to the various committees and working groups 
that have co-ordinated the response to the fire. This approach has been 
agreed with the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. 

One of the key strengths of the Board is the range and the seniority of its 
members. I am gratified by the willingness of members to find time to 
attend Board meetings and chair the Board’s work-streams. This diversity of 
experience and knowledge ensures that adult safeguarding is seen as not 
just the responsibility of the local authorities, but as everyone’s responsibility. 

Thank you to everyone for your contribution to the work of the Board over 
the past year.

Mike Howard 
Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board

foreword

Page 63



4   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

what iS the Safeguarding 
adultS executive Board?

t
he Safeguarding Adults Executive Board has provided 
leadership of adult safeguarding across the London 
Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham, the Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, and the City of 

Westminster since 2013.

The Board is a partnership of organisations working together to 
promote the right to live in safety, free from abuse or neglect. 
It’s purpose is to both prevent abuse and neglect, and where 
someone experiences abuse or neglect, to respond in a way 
that supports their choices and promotes their well-being.

The Board believes that adult safeguarding takes 
CouRAGe to acknowledge that abuse or neglect is 
occurring and to overcome our natural reluctance to face 
the consequences for all concerned of shining a light on it.

The Board promotes CoMpASSIon in our dealings with 
people who have experienced abuse and neglect, and 
in our dealings with one another, especially when we 
make mistakes. The Board promotes a culture of learning 
rather than blame.

At the same time, as members of the Board, we are clear 
that we are ACCountABle to each other, and to the 
people we serve in the three boroughs.

the care act says key members of the Board must 
be the local authority; the clinical commissioning 
groups; and the chief officer of police. 

The three key members on the Safeguarding Adults Executive 
Board are:

●● The Director of Integrated Care Adult Social Care and Health 

●● The Deputy Director of Quality, Nursing and Safeguarding, 
Central Westminster Hammersmith Hillingdon and 
Ealing Clinical Commissioning Groups Commissioning 
Collaborative 

●● the Borough Commander of the Metropolitan Police in the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

the care act 2014 says that local authorities must have  
a Safeguarding adults Board from 1st april 2015.

the care act says these key members must 
appoint a chairperson who has the required skills 
and experience

Mike Howard is the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board. He has over ten years experience of 
chairing children and adult safeguarding boards

the care act 2014 states that the Board can 
appoint other members it considers appropriate 
with the right skills and experience.

There are senior representatives on the Board, from the 
following organisations:

●● Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

●● Chelsea and Westminster Hospital Foundation NHS Trust

●● The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

●● Central London Community Healthcare Trust

●● Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust 

●● West London Mental Health Trust

●● London Ambulance Service

●● Central West London London Fire Brigade

●● London Probation Service

●● Children’s Services

●● Local Councillors

●● Community Safety

●● Housing (Local Authority)

●● Genesis Housing

●● Trading Standards

●● Public Health Community Champions Programme

●● HM Prison, Wormwood Scrubs

●● Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust

●● Healthwatch

●● Adult Social Care

●● NHS England

Page 64



Also for the second year running, The London Fire Brigade 
have contributed £1,000 per borough, to be shared between 
the Safeguarding Adults Board and the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board. 

The Board is using these contributions to fund the 
independent Chair and a Board Business Manager and 
administrator, to further improve its effectiveness and 
efficiency. 

the care act says members may provide staff, 
goods, services, accommodation or other 
resources for purposes connected with the Board.

All member organisations free up staff with the right skills 
and experience to contribute to meetings and objectives of 
the four work-streams. Attendance is good and members are 
committed and work hard to progress the Board’s priorities, 
and safeguard adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 

Member organisations have provided venues for Board and 
work-stream meetings.

Safeguarding is our number one priority

Safeguarding training has been delivered to all staff 
in the Metropolitan Police Service. Being actively 
engaged in the Safeguarding Adult Executive Board and 
training staff is our number one priority. Metropolitan 
Police Officers now have a far greater awareness of 
vulnerability. We have introduced daily ‘Pacesetter’ 
meetings to review local risks and vulnerability across 
a range of situations. Safeguarding has changed the 
focus of police work from traditional crime fighting to a 
whole range of meetings and joint work with partners to 
ensure public safety.

The Borough Commander of Kensington and Chelsea 

Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   5

what iS the Safeguarding 
adultS executive Board?

the care act 2014 says that local authorities must have  
a Safeguarding adults Board from 1st april 2015.

Board members are the senior ‘go to’ person in each of these 
organisations with responsibility for adult safeguarding. They 
bring their organisation’s adult safeguarding issues to the 
attention of the Board, promote the Board’s priorities, and 
disseminate lessons learned throughout their organisation.

The Board can use its statutory authority also to assist 
members in addressing barriers to effective safeguarding 
that may exist in their organisation, and between 
organisations. 

An even wider group of people, including voluntary sector 
organisations; housing and homelessness agencies; advocacy 
and carers’ groups; and members of the public all contribute 
to the Boards four work-streams: 

●● Community Engagement 

●● Developing Best Practice

●● Measuring Effectiveness

●● Safeguarding Adults Case Review 

The Board meets four times a year and the work-streams 
meet more regularly. 

The Board recognises that the challenging and complex work 
of preventing and responding to abuse and neglect is carried 
out by hard-working staff on the front line of all these 
organisations, every day of every year.

the care act 2014 says members may make 
payments for purposes connected with the Board. 

Most of the funding for the Board comes from the Local 
Authorities and the Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

For the second year running, the Mayor’s Office for Policing 
and Crime has contributed £5,000 per borough to support 
the work of the Board. 

Page 65



6   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

what iS the Safeguarding 
adultS executive Board?

the care act included new categories of abuse, 
including domestic abuse and self-neglect.

The Board has representatives from the Children Services and 
Community Safety, and has joint-working protocols with 
the Violence Against Women and Girls Board and the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board. This is to make sure that work 
is joined-up where this is needed, and all the safeguarding 
requirements of the Care Act are discharged effectively 
across the three boroughs, making best use of scarce 
resources and avoiding duplication.

protecting the lives of vulnerable people

Despite the London Fire Brigade’s non-statutory status 
on local safeguarding adult boards, to demonstrate its 
commitment, the Brigade has made a £1,000 voluntary 
contribution to the Safeguarding Adult Board in all 
London boroughs. 

Each borough is required to sign a Memorandum of 
Understanding agreeing:

• to improve the lives of vulnerable persons within 
the borough by making appropriate safeguarding 
referrals when a concern is raised by the Brigade in 
carrying out its fire safety function;

• to agree to consider arranging and holding case 
conferences on particular cases when a Brigade 
representative requests following a fatal fire; and

• agreeing to make referrals of vulnerable persons to 
the Brigade to carry out Home Fire Safety Visits. 

Extract from the London Fire Brigade Safeguarding 
Adults at Risk Audit Tool 2016-2017

All fatal fires are reviewed at the Safeguarding 
Adults Case Review Group.

In 2016/17 509 referrals were made from the three 
boroughs to the london Fire Brigade to carry out 
Home Fire Safety visits.

In response to the learning from Reviews, the  
Fire Brigade co-hosted the Board Conference on  
Self-neglect and Hoarding in March 2017 and 
introduced delegates to the ‘clutter rating’. they also 
demonstrated a range products such as sprinklers, 
smoke alarms, and fire retardant furnishings.

tackling domestic abuse and  
coercive control

The Violence Against Women and Girls Board is 
committed to making the three boroughs safer for 
women and girls by preventing harm, reducing risk  
and increasing immediate and long-term safety for 
people living, studying, working and travelling to all 
three boroughs.

Through its coordinated community response, the 
Violence Against Women and Girl Partnership ensures 
that all relevant organisations, partners, 

communities and residents work together and see 
it as everyone’s responsibility to address violence 
against women and girls by identifying and supporting 
survivors and their children, and holding perpetrators 
accountable. 

The Partnership prioritises on-going communication, 
prevention and awareness-raising activities, creating  
a menu of options for survivors and their children  
and continuing to strengthen the coordinated 
community response. 

The success of the Partnership’s work is evident  
through the range of referrals to the Angelou  
Partnership and to the Multi-Agency-Risk Assessment 
Conferences; and with joint working with the 
Metropolitan Central Police to address trafficking for 
sexual exploitation and prostitution.

“I am in contact with a group…. and they are literally 
saving my life. I just needed help with all the practical 
stuff that I don’t have a clue about what to do.

But they do…..And if they don’t know it, they will 
actually find it out for you….I really just need someone 
in one place, in one go. If you have children, you can’t 
just run around. It’s just impossible. If you’re trying to 
work and you’re trying to take care of your children,  
and do everything yourself, you just really need one 
person to call.”

Extract from Shared Services Violence Against Women 
and Girls (VAWG) Strategy 2015-2018

Page 66



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   7

what iS the Safeguarding 
adultS executive Board?

the care act says the Board must review cases 
where a person with care and support needs has 
died, or experienced serious abuse or neglect, and 
there is cause for concern about how agencies 
worked together to safeguard the person.

This is the second year that the Board has carried out its duty 
to undertake Safeguarding Adults Reviews. 

The Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group is made up 
of representatives of member organisations of the Board. 
The group recommends to the Chair of the Board the type 
of review that will provide a proportionate response to 
the concern, and the opportunity for most learning. This 
report includes some of the learning from these reviews and 
some of the changes that have been made to systems and 
practices as a result of what has been learnt.

What we have learned from Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
and Safeguarding Enquiries inform the themes that the 
Board works to address during the year.

the care act says the Board must publish a report 
of what it has done during that year to achieve 
its objectives, including findings of the reviews 
arranged by it under Section 44 of the act.

This is the Annual Report of the Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board. It is an account of what the Board has been 
doing in 2016/17 and examples of how its work has made a 
difference to people’s lives. 

the Safeguarding adults executive Board  
and work-streams

Chairs’ Group

Independent ChairSafeGuardInG adultS  
exeCutIve Board

Measuring  
effectiveness

Safeguarding adults  
Case review  

Group

Community  
engagement 

Communication  
and Prevention

developing  
Best Practice

time and task Groups

Page 67



8   SAFeGuARdInG AdultS exeCutIve BoARd AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

adult Safeguarding Strategy 
2015-19

making  
Safeguarding personal

I am able to make choices about my well-being

creating a safe and  
healthy community

I am aware of what abuse looks like  
and feel listened to when it is reported

I am kept up-to-date and  
know what is happening

My choices are important

My recovery is important

You are willing to work with me

leading, listening  
and learning

We are open to new ideas

We are a partnership of listeners

We give people a voice

We hold each other to account

We want to learn from you

the care act says the Board must publish its 
strategic plan and what members of the Board 
are doing to implement that plan. 

In November 2015, we consulted with people living in the 
three boroughs, and with organisations working with people 
who have care and support needs, to develop the Board’s 
four year plan.

From what people told us was important to them, we created 
the Adult Safeguarding Strategy 2015-2019 ‘house’ below. 

People said they do not want to be seen as victims, and said how 
important it is to be in control of the decisions they make about 
their life, even when they have experienced abuse or neglect.

Residents said they want to be healthy and safe. They want 
to know what to do when they themselves, or someone they 
know, is being neglected or abused, and they want to be 
listened to.

We said that we want to be leaders who listen and learn 
from what people are telling us.

This has led the Board to focus all its work this year around 
these three main themes:

●● Making Safeguarding Personal

●● Creating a Safe and Healthy Community

●● Leading, Listening, and Learning

the things that people told us are most important to them at the consultation 
event on 24th november 2015 continue to shape the Board’s priorities

Page 68



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   9

what haS the Board  
Been doing?

making Safeguarding perSonal

remaining in control

Adult Social Care have revised how safeguarding 
information is recorded in its Customer Information 
System, making sure that the person who has 
experienced neglect or abuse remains as much in control 
as possible of what happens next. Staff are prompted 
to ask what the person wants as an outcome of the 
safeguarding enquiry, and at the end of the enquiry, if 
this has been met. 

Adult Social Care

‘no decision about me, without me’

Emphasis is now placed on the approach to making 
safeguarding a personalised experience following 
the principle of ‘no decision about me without me’ 
and means that the adult, their families and carers 
are working together with agencies to find the right 
solutions to keep people safe and support them in 
making informed choices.

London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority

you Said:
I want to feel empowered to make choices 
about my own well-being. My choices are 
important.

what we did:
Through staff training we are promoting the Care Act 
principle that each of us is the expert in our own life, 
and this applies equally when we are making choices 
about our health and well-being, and when we have 
experienced harm or abuse.

Staff in our organisations are being trained to always ask 
people who have experienced abuse or neglect, or where 
appropriate their representative, ‘What is important to 
you?’ and ‘What would you like to happen next?’ This is 
what is meant by Making Safeguarding personal.

We are now recording whether or not each person has 
achieved what they hoped to achieve, as a result of 
safeguarding work.

Page 69



10   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

what haS the Board 
Been doing?

making Safeguarding perSonal

‘purple pathway’ for patients with a 
learning disability

In the last year, considerable activity has taken place to 
improve the care provided to patients with a learning 
disability. We have introduced the ‘purple pathway’ to 
ensure that patients are recognised as having a learning 
disability and appropriate adjustments are made for 
their care; for example being given earlier and longer 
out-patient appointments. Patients attending A&E will 
be taken to a specifically designed cubicle that is quiet 
and nicely furnished. They will also be ‘fast tracked’ 
through the department. We have been designated a 
‘Makaton-Friendly’ organisation, and have developed a 
comprehensive suite of easy read documents.

Imperial Hospital NHS Trust

changing hoarding behaviour and  
reducing isolation

Our aim is to empower persons experiencing hoarding 
behaviours to achieve spatial and personal change to 
reduce isolation and improve their health and well-
being. We are a multi-service organisation, helping 
thousands of people each year through our National 
Helpline with support groups, information, one-to-one 
support. We also run a National Training Programme 
for professionals and organisations. We were pleased 
to be invited to be part of the Board’s Self-Neglect and 
Hoarding Conference in March 2016. 

Hoarding UK

embedding Making Safeguarding personal

During this reporting year the Trust has continued its 
commitment to raising awareness of safeguarding 
and related issues. This has been achieved through the 
provision of a range of training opportunities around 
safeguarding adults, the mental capacity act, deprivation 
of liberty safeguards, prevent, learning disabilities, 
dementia awareness and domestic violence and abuse. 
This has contributed to ensuring that as a Trust we 
embed the principle of making safeguarding personal 
and no decision about me without me.

The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

championing the wishes of vulnerable 
people

The Trust is rising to the challenge of seeking recording 
and championing the wishes and feelings of vulnerable 
people. It now has a Nurse-led Adult Safeguarding  
service in all three Boroughs, providing advice, support 
and safeguarding training and supervision to Trust staff. 

In March 2017, recruitment was undertaken for 
additional Safeguarding Adult Advisor Posts. This has 
increased Adult Safeguarding resources and expertise, 
providing support to staff in responding appropriately 
to vulnerability in abusive situations, ensuring the safety 
and well-being of both children and adults.

Central London Community Healthcare Trust 

Page 70



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   11

what haS the Board  
Been doing?

creating a Safe and healthy community

The Clutter Image Rating (CIR)

Self-neglect and hoarding

Page 71



12   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

what haS the Board  
Been doing?

creating a Safe and healthy community
Prompted by themes emerging from safeguarding enquiries 
and reviews, the Board held a Hoarding and Self neglect 
Conference on 2nd March 2017. 

Approaches to hoarding have often involved short-term crisis 
responses with little recognition of the individual support 
that each person affected needs.

The response to the event exceeded all expectations. 0ver 
180 people applied for 110 places. 

The Conference explored how partners need to work 
together to reduce the risk to the person who is hoarding or 
self-neglecting, and to reduce the risk to other people. The 
Conference also wanted to help delegates to think about 
why people hoard.

Conference speakers included:

●● a person with lived experience of Hoarding

●● a representative from Hoarding UK

●● an Environmental Health officer

●● a member of the London Fire Brigade

●● a psychiatrist from an NHS Trust

Delegates watched a powerful video of ‘Keith’s Story’:  
a man who had been helped to understand why he collected 
things, and how he was helped to stop.

The Conference promoted the Hoarding Protocol and 
documents for referring concerns to the Hoarding Panels, 
including ‘clutter rating’ and risk assessments. Underpinning 
this was a shared understanding of the importance of 
working with partners to share, manage and reduce the 
risks. The key partners are:

●● The person who is hoarding

●● Adult Social Care

●● Mental Health 

●● Fire Brigade

●● Environmental Health

●● Housing

A partner who is increasingly valued, is Hoarding UK who 
work sensitively with the person to understand why they feel 
the need to collect things. This is a personalised approach to 
tackling Hoarding and Self-Neglect which has been shown 
to result in longer-term reductions in clutter, and happier 
outcomes for the person themselves 

There may be other interested parties who can help such as 
family, friends and private landlords.

learning from other Boards  
Safeguarding adults reviews

Conference delegates considered the case of Mr Thomas 
who was known to Reading Adult Social Care as a 
‘hoarder’. 

Social Care started working with Mr Thomas in July 2012 
but his case was transferred between various teams. This 
lack of continuity, coupled with Mr Thomas’s distrust 
and unwillingness to engage with any service meant 
that up until his death in June 2015, there had been 
little meaningful progress in properly safeguarding Mr 
Thomas.

This case involved a number of different organisations; 
Adult Social Care, the Police, Mental Health, Care 
Agencies and the Risk Enablement Panel.

To maximise the learning, delegates were divided into 
groups and each was assigned a role in Mr Thomas’ 
case and then asked to consider what they did and 
why. More importantly, what would they have done 
differently and what lessons can be applied for inter-
agency co-operation when dealing with poeple in similar 
circumstances living in the three boroughs?

The Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults 
Executive Board

Page 72



what haS the Board  
Been doing?

Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   13

creating a Safe and healthy community

financial abuse and Scams

Community Champions becoming ‘SCaMchampions’

 i have a huge passion for helping the community, 
so becoming a community champion and then having 
the support of the project and the resources to really do 
something has been overwhelming. i love the way it has 
allowed me to improve things for local people 
Community Champions, End of Year Highlight Report 2016/17

Page 73



what haS the Board  
Been doing?

14   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

creating a Safe and healthy community
The growing concerns of ‘scamming’ and financial abuse of 
older people, has led the Board to put a renewed emphasis 
on tackling financial abuse together. 

On 16th September 2016, the Board held a very successful 
Community engagement event.

This event updated delegates on how they helped to shape 
the safeguarding strategy and the ‘house’. The event was 
attended by 56 people, including members of housing, 
advocacy, voluntary organisations, and local residents.

The focus of the event was ‘building safe communities’ and 
the crucial role played by Community Champions.

During 2016/17 Community Champion co-ordinators have 
been trained to deliver Adult Safeguarding awareness 
training to 300 Community Champions .

Two Champions talked to delegates about their personal 
experiences of working with their neighbours to keep their 
community safe and healthy.

ScaMchampions
Community Champions also talked about their work as 
SCAMchampions. They help raise awareness of scams and 
notify the authorities of potential scams. This increases 
the number of people who can be reached and helped to 
protect themselves against this very personal type of theft 
and fraud. 

The Board receives regular reports on the joint work being 
done to tackle financial abuse and scams. This work is led 
and informed by the expertise and practical help offered by 
the Trading Standards team, to the Community Champions 
as well as to residents and colleagues in a wide range of 
organisations.

Why do scams matter?

Elderly victims are 2.4 times more likely to die or go 
into a care home than those who are not scammed. 

The average victim loses about £1,000 to scams but 
some have lost their homes, their life savings and many 
thousands of pounds. 

Victims don’t report being scammed because of shame 
or intimidation. It is estimated that only 5% of scams are 
reported.

Trading Standards 

Homelessness, hostels and Spice
The Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group have reviewed 
a number of deaths related to people who are homeless, 
or living in hostels, some of whom use substances or may 
have mental health needs, or both. These reviews have led to 
better joint work between the police, hostels, mental health 
and substance use services. 

During the year, the police became seriously concerned by 
the growing number of vulnerable adults suffering serious 
harm due to taking a drug commonly known as ‘Spice’.

Spice is highly addictive and in one weekend last autumn 
there were nine overdoses, causing major issues for statutory 
services.

At the Board meeting in October 2016, the Police assisted 
by housing and voluntary services working with this group 
of people, gave a presentation on impact of Spice on mental 
and physical health of homeless people and hostel dwellers.

Page 74



what haS the Board  
Been doing?

Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   15

Joined up action by agencies  
represented on the Board

Westminster Police arrested 18 dealers selling to 
vulnerable people. One individual dealer who purported 
to be homeless had a four-bedroom house in Havering 
and was clearly preying on people living in hostels and 
on the streets. The Police have successfully obtained a 
conviction awaiting sentence for Possession with Intent 
to Supply a Psychoactive Substance. 

Through Operation Kaskara, a neighbourhood operation 
to reduce Anti-Social Behaviour and violence associated 
with Spice, the Police are supporting community 
behaviour orders to ban long term dealers from the ‘hot 
spot’ areas. 

They have also been running outreach events with 
partners in the worst affected area and distributing 
support information and engaging the users with NHS 
and support workers. 

The drug usage appears to be concentrated around 
the West End and Victoria area and work continues to 
identify ‘hot spots’. Forty outreach staff go out daily 
and work closely with the Police and Substance Misuse 
Service. 

There is a close relationship with eight commissioned 
providers who undertake regular training programmes. 

creating a Safe and healthy community

Message  
in a bottle

WHat iS it?

The scheme is a simple idea designed 
to encourage people to keep their 
personal and medical details on a 
standard form and in a common location 
- the fridge.

HoW doeS it Work?

In the event of a sudden accident or illness 
while at home, the first emergency service on the 
scene will be alerted to the bottle by the labels on the 
inside of your front door and the outside of the fridge 
door.

WHo Will Benefit?

paramedics

police

Fire fighters

older people

people not in good health

people living alone

people with critical conditions/allergies

people with disabilities

WHere do i oBtain tHe Bottle froM?

Your local pharmacy

Your Gp practice

WHo can Help to coMplete 
tHe forM?

Family, friends, carers, Social Services 
and the voluntary sector can help 
you to complete the form. For further 
advice please contact your GP practice 
or local pharmacy.

you Said:
I want to be aware of what abuse looks like 
and feel listened to when it is reported.

what we did:
The safeguarding information leaflets ‘Say no to 
abuse’ have been up-dated and a new leaflet, ‘Keeping 
safe from abuse and neglect: what happens after 
you report abuse’ has been published this year.

Both of these and other information and advice about 
safeguarding adults are available on the people First 
website. Printed copies are also available on request.

Page 75



what haS the Board  
Been doing?

creating a Safe and healthy community

©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

. 0
20

 8
75

3 
39

26
 –

 2
01

6.
 1

72
.1

4.

Developed by the  Three Boroughs Safeguarding Adults Executive Board

Safer  
recruitment  principleS  and guidancecourage

compaSSion accountability

Shared Services Violence 

Against Women and Girls 

(VAWG) Strategy2015-2018

10
3.

83
.  

20
15

.

Keeping safe fromabuse and neglect What happens after you report abuse

Say NO to abuse.

Safeguarding adults from abuse 

A multi-agency approach to supporting adults with 

hoarding and self-neglect behaviours2 march 20179am - 1pmSmall hall, kenSington town hall
hornton Street, london w8 7nx

hoarding and Self-neglect conference

Join us at Kensington Town Hall, W8 7NX, for this invitation-only event. Listen 

to speakers from different agencies offering their insights and experience, 

participate in workshops and discussions on best practice models, consider 

practical ideas. Light refreshments provided.

The event is free but you do need to reserve a space by emailing 

karen.thomas@lbhf.gov.uk by 27 February 2017. 

We will confirm your booking.

Hosted by the three boroughs’ Safeguarding Adults Executive Board

Page 76



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   17

what haS the Board  
Been doing?

leading, liStening and learning

learning from  
Safeguarding adult reviews
This year the Board has worked on what safeguarding 
enquiries and Safeguarding Adult Reviews are telling us 
needs to change and improve. 

Enquiries and Reviews give the Board concrete examples of 
where we are working well together to prevent abuse and 
neglect, and where systems or staff practice need to be 
strengthened and improved. 

A key lesson learnt from this year’s Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews is the increasingly important part general 
practitioners play in safeguarding people from abuse 
and neglect. This has led to focused work by the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, and supported by NHS England, 
and the Royal College of General Practitioners, to train and 
support GPs to carry out their safeguarding responsibilities.

In 2016-17 11 cases were accepted by the Safeguarding 
Adults Case Review Group as meeting the Section 44 
Safeguarding Adults Review criteria. A list of the emerging 
themes from the Reviews is attached as APPENDIX 1.

a learning culture

The Trust responds very robustly to lessons from 
enquiries, both internal and external. A major piece of 
work in the Trust has been developing a Sexual Safety 
Guidance document and service user and carer leaflet, 
accompanied by professional boundaries training for 
staff. This came out of a commissioned external report 
into a serious incident at one of our mental health in-
patient sites. 

West London Mental Health Trust

general practitioners are key

The Clinical Commissioning Groups are working closely 
with general practitioners to develop a set of Quality 
Standards for Primary Care, including safeguarding 
indicators. Each GP practice has a safeguarding link 
person to ensure information and updates are cascaded 
effectively. 

NHS England jointly delivered with The Royal College 
of GPs, a safeguarding event in London early in 2017. 
This event was a success with demand outstripping 
supply. The programme included the Learning Disability 
Mortality Review, the Mental Capacity Act 2005, and 
Self-Neglect. 

The Royal College of GPs also rolled out a tool kit which 
GPs can use as part of their day-to-day practice.

Safeguarding training take-up is monitored quarterly 
by the GP Federations, in line with the NHS Standard 
Contract. Where practices are below target, GP 
Federations are supporting practices to access statutory 
training and improve performance. 

Public Health funded ‘Standing Together’ to deliver 
Domestic Abuse training to Primary Care staff in their local 
surgeries. Sessions are underway to develop Domestic 
Abuse champions within Primary Care practices.

Clinical Commissioning Groups  
Commissioning Collaborative

Page 77



what haS the Board  
Been doing?

18   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

leading, liStening and learning
These are some of the changes that have happened as a 
direct result of these Reviews:

●● A Joint Health and Social Care Dementia Programme 
Board is developing the range and variety of provision for 
people with dementia.

●● The police, hostels, homelessness, and substance use 
services are working together to tackle Spice, and loss of 
life through substance use.

●● A road show on Domestic Abuse and Adult Safeguarding 
is being developed for roll out to front-line staff.

●● The Self-neglect and Hoarding Conference raised 
delegates awareness of the steps they can take to reduce 
the risk of fatal fires, and work better with people who are 
wary of statutory services.

●● A high level conference in November 2017 will review 
how far the learning from the Safeguarding Adults Review 
in 2015 has changed things for the better with regard to 
Dementia Care.

●● The Board asked members to review their arrangements 
for applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 to decision-
making. The self-audit showed that member agencies 
have designated staff, including Mental Capacity Act 
Champions, who are helping front-line staff to feel more 
confident in assessing capacity and best interest decision-
making.

●● The Board is seeking assurances from members that 
discharge from hospital is safe, particularly for people 
who have no family, or friends, and also during holiday 
periods when there may be staff shortages in care and 
support services.

you Said:
I want to be listened to and for you to be 
willing to work with me.

we said:
We are a partnership of listeners. We want to 
learn from you and we are open to new ideas.

Page 78



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   19

here are four examples of how the work of the Safeguarding adults executive 
Board is making a difference to residents.

how we know we are 
making a difference

mr williams*

Mr Williams’ community care team were concerned about 
his mental and physical health. His care worker asked Mr 
Williams about his physical health, but he did not want to 
talk to him about it. Mr Williams said his physical health 
needs were a matter for his GP alone. The care worker 
shared his concerns with Mr Williams GP, who also found 
it difficult to get Mr Willams to keep appointments and 
accept his help and advice. 

 Mr William’s poor mental health was affecting his 
physical health and he was recalled to hospital under 
the community treatment order. On admission, it was 
noted his foot appeared infected and swollen. He was 
immediately taken to A&E for emergency treatment 
resulting in him having an amputation above the knee. 

A safeguarding concern was raised for Mr Williams and 
enquiries made as to whether or not his physical health 
had been neglected. His situation was also considered by 
the Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group. 

The learning from the safeguarding enquiry and review 
prompted the Trust to look for extra resources to ensure all 
staff are competent and confident in addressing the physical 
health care needs of patients with poor mental health. 

In November 2016, the Trust recruited a Nurse Consultant 
in Physical Healthcare. They rolled out a training 
programme in January 2017 which concentrated on 
inpatient staff. A diabetes procedure was introduced 
and 90% of current inpatient staff have been trained on 
the management of diabetes and diabetes emergencies. 
This includes an escalation process when patients refuse 
essential medication including insulin and diabetic 
medication. The Trust has also introduced a ‘physical 
healthcare portal’ on the electronic patient data base. 

Mr Williams is doing well both mentally and physically and 
has strengthened his links with family and friends.

West London Mental Health Trust

Better phySical healthcare for mental health patientS

*  Not his real name. 

Page 79



20   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

how we know we are 
making a difference

mr Smith*

In 2016, Mr Smith, a bachelor originally from Ireland who 
had lost touch with his family, was found confused and 
wandering in the streets by the police. He was admitted 
to hospital and diagnosed with dementia. He was also 
visually impaired and had a range of other medical 
conditions, including hypertension. Mr Smith was treated 
in hospital and found to be medically fit for discharge, 
but was still wandering around the ward and appeared 
confused. It was felt that further assessments were needed, 
so he was placed in residential care for the time being.

While in residential care, Mr Smith was very unhappy 
and attempted to end his life. He felt locked in as he was 
not able to go out when he wanted to. He said he felt 
“like a dog kept in a home.” The care home applied for 
a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) authorisation 
as he was clearly always supervised by staff, and not 
permitted to leave.

Mr Smith was assessed as not having capacity because he 
was not able to understand information about the care 
and treatment he needed to be safe and well. 

Mr Smith was entitled to have someone representing 
him, and because he did not have friends and family, an 
Independent Mental Capacity Advocate was appointed to 
help him make decisions, or to ensure that all decisions 
made about him were in his best interest. This included 
whether or not Mr Smith should stay in the care home.

Mr Smith often found it difficult to find words to express 
himself and found it difficult to stay on topic, but having an 
advocate helped him to make his wishes known. Mr Smith’s 
care plan now includes regular outings, with staff support. 

a good outcome
Mr Smith was able to tell his advocate that he no longer 
feels trapped: he goes out regularly with a member of 
staff, mainly to the shops and to have a coffee. He has 
also been reunited with his sister and is enjoying getting to 
know her better through telephoning and Skype. Recently, 
Mr Smith told his advocate: “Maybe in the future, I may 
go to Ireland to see her one day.”

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Service

Safeguarding people deprived of their liBerty

*  Not his real name. 

Page 80



how we know we are 
making a difference

Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   21

mr Sayed*

Mr Sayed likes reading and has a large collection of CDs 
and sheet music. He gets very attached to his possessions 
and has difficulty managing the build-up of his belongings 
safely. He says that he keeps them as they could be of use 
later. Mr Sayed is also very keen on re-cycling and says that 
he will re-cycle things at a later stage.

Mr Sayed has been hoarding for many years. In the 
past, his flat had been completely cleared without his 
involvement. This caused him great anxiety and resulted in 
him being very distrustful of professionals who were trying 
to help him. 

When we started to work with Mr Sayed, his flat was 
9 ++ on the Clutter Image Rating scale, which is the 
highest level and indicated a very high risk to himself and 
to the other people who lived in his block of flats. He was 
adamant that he could clear his flat himself and initially 
refused practical help. By using a multi-agency approach 
and involving him in the clearance process, he eventually 
accepted the help he needed. 

Through the use of the Self Neglect and Hoarding process, Mr 
Sayed has been supported both practically and emotionally to 
clear his accommodation, making it safe and habitable. He is 
also no longer in breach of his tenancy. Mr Sayed was helped 
throughout by a social worker from Adult Social Care; City 
West Homes, Residential Services; the London Fire Brigade; and 
a specialist hoarding agency called Clouds End. 

After a full risk assessment, an injunction was eventually 
taken to clear the flat. It was agreed that the clearance of 
Mr Sayed’s flat would be co-ordinated by Clouds End as he 
had established a trusting relationship with them. Unlike the 
previous clearance, Mr Sayed was fully involved in the process, 
and care was taken not to remove all of his books and CDs. 

A major clearance was eventually completed and his hoard has 
been reduced from a level 9 on the clutter index scale to a level 
3. There is no further risk to himself and his neighbours. 

Mr Sayed continues to have weekly hour-long visits from 
Clouds End to help him maintain a safe and comfortable 
home. 

Adult Social Care

decluttering and removing riSk

*  Not his real name. 

Page 81



22   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17

how we know we are 
making a difference

mrs george*

Mrs George suffers from chronic depression as a result of 
her home life. She was a prisoner in her own home. 

For almost 15 years she was regularly abused, living in 
a flat with her husband, his family, and their 6 children, 
all aged under 14. During a safeguarding enquiry, she 
disclosed years of physical and sexual violence by her 
husband, including rape in front of her young children. 
Her movements were tightly controlled by her husband’s 
family, and she was only ever allowed out of the flat to 
take her children to and from school. She was made to 
do all of the cooking and cleaning. The family kept her 
documents locked away so she had no access to them, 
and she was not allowed any money of her own. She did 
not know if benefits were being claimed in her name. She 
was completely isolated, and this was compounded further 
by the fact that she spoke no English. 

Working together, the Trust Safeguarding Manager, the 
local authority safeguarding lead, a Safeguarding Adults 
Manager, The Police and Children’s Services, managed to 
help Mrs George to leave the flat with her four youngest 
children. They have been housed outside London in an 

area her husband is unlikely to find them. Children’s 
Services are supporting her to maintain contact with her 
two oldest children, who, at the time, wanted to stay 
with their father. There was a risk that they might have 
disclosed their location to their father, if they had left with 
their mother.

Events unfolded quickly. Mrs George left nine days after 
concerns were first raised. There was uncertainty about 
whether her move could be achieved safely. There were 
concerns throughout that her husband and his family 
would realise something was going on and this might put 
her at risk of serious harm. 

a good outcome
Mrs George and her younger children are doing as well 
as might be expected. She is still afraid that her husband 
may discover where she is and seriously harm her. She 
continues to receive help from mental health services for 
herself, and children’s services for her children. She has not 
regretted her decision to flee from her husband and the 
violence he inflicted on her. 

Central North West London NHS Trust

eScaping domeStic aBuSe

*  Not her real name. 

Page 82



0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800
2000

Population 18+ 
with/without care and 

support needs
1

Other
478

Safeguarding 
concerns received

2

Leading to enquiry/ 
other pathway

3

Enquiries completed/
in progress

4

Completed enquiries 
resulting in 

specific actions
5

As a result of action, 
risk removed/reduced

6

In progress
486

No action taken
241

Risk remains/
no risk identified

113

Without care 
and support 

needs
435,800

With
38,400

Safeguarding
concerns

1,840
Safeguarding 

enquiries
1,362

Completed 
enquiries

876 Action taken
635 Risk removed/

reduced
522

what are the 
numBerS telling uS?

Outcome of enquiry processResulting safeguarding enquiry processRaising of safeguarding concerns Resulting safeguarding enquiry process

●● Safeguarding focuses on those who 
have needs for care and support. In 
national surveys about 8% of adults 
aged 18+ say that they are unable to 
manage at least one self-care activity, 
such as washing or dressing, on their 
own. If we use this measure as a 
proxy measure of need for care and 
support and apply this percentage 
to combined population of the three 
boroughs (about 474,200), we can say 
that at any one time across the three 
boroughs there are about 38,000 
people who have care and support 
needs. This is nearly three-and-a-half 
times the number of adults who 
received on-going support from social 
services in 2016-17 (11,230).

●● In 2016-17 the three boroughs 
received a total of 1,840 concerns 
about cases of potential or actual 
harm or abuse. This is equivalent to 
about four concerns for every 1,000 
adults in the general population, or 48 
for every 1,000 adults with care and 
support needs, or 164 for every 1,000 
adults receiving on-going social care

●● The majority of concerns (about 80%) 
were raised by health or social care 
staff; the remainder were raised mainly 
by relatives, friends or neighbours, 
housing agencies, and the police.

●● In 2016-17 adult social care made 
significant changes to the way they 
respond to safeguarding concerns 
and the way they record safeguarding 
information. This was to streamline 
procedures and ensure they met the 
requirements of the 2014 Care Act. 
As a result it is not possible to make 
comparisons with previous years.

●● With this qualification nearly three-
quarters (1,362) of the concerns received 
were assessed as requiring follow-up 
under safeguarding procedures.

●● This is because the people involved 
were assessed as:

(a) experiencing, or being at risk of, 
harm or abuse; and / or

(b) having care and support needs 
which prevented them from 
protecting themselves.

●● These concerns became the subject 
of a safeguarding enquiry to establish 
what the person wanted to happen in 
relation to the risk and what needed 
to be done to achieve this

●● Those concerns (478) not followed 
up as safeguarding enquiries were 
followed up in other ways, notably 
referral to trading standards offices, 
domestic abuse support agencies, the 
police or the customer services team.

●● Safeguarding enquiries can take 
varying lengths of time to complete, 
depending on the issues and 
organisations involved. At 31 March 
2017 nearly two-thirds (876) of the 
enquiries that had been started since 
1 April 2016 had been completed. 
The remainder were still in progress.

●● Of the safeguarding enquiries 
which were completed in 2016-17, 
the majority (635, or about 73%) 
resulted in specific actions being 
taken in relation to the risk, such as 
disciplinary action or removing staff 
from the situation

●● The remaining cases (241) had 
not resulted in specific actions for 
a number of reasons, for example 
because the inquiry had found the risk 
to be unfounded, or because the adult 
did not wish any action to be taken

●● Where specific actions had been 
taken, in the great majority of cases 
(522, or 82%) the risk of harm or 
abuse was judged by the social 
worker to have been removed or 
reduced as a result. In the remaining 
cases (113) the risk was judged to 
have remained, for example where 
the inquiry involved a family member 
and the adult was accepting of the 
risk, or no risk was identified.

Chart 1
The safeguarding journey, from raising of safeguarding concern to outcome of safeguarding enquiry, 2016/17*

* Information on safeguarding activity in local authority areas is published annually by NHS Digital and is available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21917

Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   23Page 83



24   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   

what the Board will Be 
working on in 2017/18

emerging themeS and  
Board prioritieS

variety and Quality of care provision 
Improving the range of health and care provision for people with 
different types of dementia. 

hoarding and Self neglect
Working together to win the trust of people with capacity to make their 
own decisions and are reluctant to accept care from statutory services, 
with the result that their health and care needs are not being met.

mental capacity act 2005
Increasing staff confidence with application of the Mental Capacity act 
2005; ‘no decision about me, without me’.

physical health 
Improving the physical health of people with mental health needs and 
learning disabilities. 

Safe discharge from hospital 
looking at people’s experiences of discharge from hospital to be sure 
that they are safe. 

Page 84



Safeguarding

Safeguarding means protecting our right to live in safety, 
free from abuse and neglect. It is about people and 
organisations working together to prevent and reduce the 
risk of abuse and neglect. When people have experienced 
abuse or neglect, safeguarding is about taking actions that 
are informed by the person’s views, wishes, feelings and 
beliefs.

Making Safeguarding personal

Making Safeguarding Personal starts with the principle that 
we are experts in our own life. Things other than safety 
may be as, or more, important to us; for example, our 
relationship with our family, or our decisions about how we 
manage our money. So, our staff are being encouraged to 
always ask ‘What is important to you?’ and ‘What would 
you like to happen next?’

an outcome 

An Outcome is what you hope to get out of the conversations 
we have, and the work we do with you. Measuring outcomes 
helps the Board to answer the question “what difference did 
we make?” rather than “what did we do?”

deprivation of liberty Safeguards (dolS)

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards is when a person in a 
care, or nursing home, or hospital, is subject to continuous 
supervision and control from staff, and is not free to leave, 
under the Supreme Court judgement known as ‘Cheshire 
West’, they are deprived of their liberty. Once identified, a 
deprivation of liberty must be authorised either by the Court 
of Protection order; or under the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards in the Mental Capacity Act 2005; or under the 
Mental Health Act 1983. If it is not authorised, under the 
law, it is an illegal detention.

Spice

SPICE is a generic term used to describe a substance which 
typically contains synthetic cannabinoids. The term synthetic 
cannabinoid is used to describe a whole raft of compounds 
which affect the cannabinoid receptors in the human body. 
Synthetic cannabinoids cause similar side effects to skunk, 
but these effects are multiplied and can last up to six hours. 
They are commonly sold in professional looking plastic bags 
with many different brands names.

Makaton

Makaton is a language programme using signs and symbols 
to help people to communicate. It is designed to support 
spoken language and the signs and symbols are used with 
speech, in spoken word order. With Makaton, children and 
adults can communicate straight away using signs and 
symbols.

Self-neglect

Self-neglect covers a wide range of behaviour including 
neglecting to care for one’s personal hygiene, health, or 
surroundings, and behaviour such as hoarding. The term 
itself can be a barrier as some people do not identify with 
this term or description of their situation. It is important 
that practitioners find common ground and understand the 
person’s own description of their lifestyle rather than making 
assumptions about how it can be defined.

Hoarding

Hoarding behaviour was previously seen as a symptom of 
Obsessive Compulsive Disorder but it has now received a 
separate clinical definition of ‘hoarding disorder’ and is 
defined as: ‘A psychiatric disorder characterised by persistent 
difficulty discarding or parting with possessions, regardless 
of their actual value resulting in significant clutter that 
obstructs the person’s living environment and produces 
considerable functional impairment.’ (Greater Manchester 
Fire and Rescue Service: Hoarding, Prevention, and 
Protection)

clutter image rating

Clutter Image Rating a series of pictures of rooms in various 
stages of clutter – from completely clutter-free to very 
severely cluttered. People can just pick out the picture in 
each sequence comes closest to the clutter in their own 
living room, kitchen, and bedroom. When clutter reaches the 
level of picture number four, or higher it begins to impact 
on people’s lives and we would encourage the person to get 
help for their hoarding problem. 

 

gloSSary of termS

Safeguarding adultS executive Board annual report 2016/17   25Page 85



appendix

cases accepted for Safeguarding adults review in 2016-17:  
emerging themes and changes made

date case to SACRG emerging themes from Safeguarding Adults Reviews

1 6 May 2016 This person did not die but the case raised the issue of police resources used to find 
a missing person. The Police submitted a breakdown of the cost to the police of 
missing persons and the value of joint work, such as closer work between hostels, 
mental health in-patient provision, and the police to reduce the incidence of people 
going missing. The SAEB made working with people in hostels, homelessness, and 
substance use (primarily SPICE) a priority this year, to reduce both the risk of loss of 
life, and policing costs.

2 6 May 2016 This was a complex situation of domestic abuse between two people, both with care 
and support needs, but able to make their own decisions. There is on-going risk of 
serious harm, and many agencies are involved. Although this case did not meet the 
criteria for a Review, two members of the SACRG used reflective practice, based on 
the SCIE Learning Together model, to help all practitioners involved to work together 
more effectively to manage the on-going risks.

3 22 July 2016 Fatal fires are reported to the SACRG. This death raised the continuing need to raise 
staff awareness of fire risks.  The SACRG agreed that the Fire Brigade will alert social 
services in the event of an adult at risk declines a fire safety check on more than three 
occasions. A Fire Brigade alert now triggers a referral to the Self Neglect and Hoarding 
panel. A Hoarding and Self Neglect conference for staff was held on 02/03/2017. 
Delegates were reminded of the Fire Brigade offer of staff training, and assessment 
of fire risks in a person’s home; and installation of fire alarms, sprinklers and fire 
retardant fabrics, to reduce risk and prevent serious harm or death.

4 10 July 2015 The death of this man was reviewed using information gathered in the Safeguarding 
enquiry. The review illustrated the need to be diligent in recording and sharing each 
person’s information, especially when there are changes to key workers brought 
about by re-organisations, or change of contractors. 

5 7 october 2016 The person in question did not die, but the review illustrated the increased risk to 
good decision-making when staff are working within tight financial constraints, and 
also experiencing major re-organisation of their working life. It illustrated the need for 
careful assessment of a person’s needs, prior to placement in a care or nursing home. 
It also led to the development of a protocol for clarifying decision-making about 
health and social care funding.

26   Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17 Page 86



Safeguarding adultS executive Board AnnuAl RepoRt 2016/17   27

appendix

date case to SACRG emerging themes from Safeguarding Adults Reviews

6 7 october 2016 The key learning from this death is the need for organisations to provide culturally 
appropriate support to staff going through the disciplinary procedures, particularly 
when a disciplinary is as a response to a safeguarding incident or enquiry, and so 
involves loss of reputation. 

7 10 March 2017 This person did not die, but was very close to death. The safeguarding enquiry 
confirmed that too much weight given to European Court of Human Rights Article 8: 
The Right to Family Life, balanced against the ability of the family to properly care for 
the person. It identified the need for robust, multi-agency risk assessment; and risk 
and case management. It illustrated that not all staff are confident in application of 
the Mental Capacity Act 2005 when decision-making.

8 10 March 2017 This death has caused the Board to consider very carefully, and to challenge senior 
officers in member agencies, as to whether or not the learning from the formal 
Review, held between September and December 2015, has had any impact on 
decision-making around placing robust, active, and sometimes violent people with 
Dementia, to live alongside physically frail older people, also with Dementia. The 
Board has commissioned a high-level reflective practice session for senior officers to 
consider the matter further.

9 10 March 2017 The review of three people who died after being discharged from different hospitals 
over the Christmas and New Year holiday period has led the Board to gain assurances 
about safe discharge from hospital, particularly of people who may be have no family 
and be un-befriended, and during holiday periods when staff shortages in community 
services may occur.

10 31 March 2017 This review illustrated the value of working with a person's family at the time of the 
incident and death. The family were appreciative of the work done with their family 
member and the Trust’s enquiries into the circumstances of the person’s death.

11 31 March 2017 Two cases illustrated the absence of clarity between agencies about responding to a 
‘no reply’. The Board has commissioned a ‘task and finish’ group to work together 
and develop a multi-agency (social services, the police, mental health and home care 
providers) simple but effective response to ensuring a person is safe.

Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



©
 H

am
m

ersm
ith &

 fulham
 C

ouncil d
esign – o

ctober 2017   020 8753 1764   Printed by H
am

m
erprint 020 8753 2235   ref: 272_8

Page 90



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

 
21 NOVEMBER 2017 

 

 

 

PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 

Report of the Director of Public Health 
 

Open Report 
. 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Lisa Redfern, Director of Adult Social Care  
 
 

Report Author: Colin Brodie, 
Knowledge Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7641 4632 
E-mail: cbrodie@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report sets out the progress being made to develop the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for Hammersmith & 
Fulham, and requests agreement to undertake the required statutory 
consultation.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is invited to: 

 Note the progress in preparing the draft PNA for publication (as outlined in 
Appendix A); and  

 Agree that the PNA Task and Finish Group should commence with the 60 
day statutory consultation from 1 December 2017. 

 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6

mailto:cbrodie@westminster.gov.uk


3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Health and Wellbeing Boards are required to publish and maintain a 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment by virtue of Section 128a of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments) and the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 

 
 
 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. PNAs are a statement of the need for pharmaceutical services of the population 
in a defined geographical area.  
 

4.2. PNAs are used by commissioners to make decisions on which funded services 
need to be provided by local community pharmacies. They are also an important 
tool in market entry decisions, in response to applications from businesses, 
including independent owners and large pharmacy companies.  
 

4.3. The responsibility for producing and managing the content and update of PNAs 
transferred from Primary Care Trusts to Health and Wellbeing Boards on 1st April 
2013.  
 

4.4. All Health and Wellbeing Boards were required to publish a fully revised PNA by 
1st April 2015.  Hammersmith & Fulham Health and Wellbeing Board published 
their first PNA on 31st March 2015 to meet this requirement  
 

4.5. The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 
require that the PNA is updated every 3 years, and so a new PNA is due to be 
published by the end of March 2018 

 

 
5. PROGRESS TO DATE 

5.1. A provider, Healthy Dialogues, has been commissioned to undertake the revised 
PNA.  Healthy Dialogues have produced a draft PNA for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  The PNA Task and Finish Group has provided a steer for this 
work, and includes representation from Public Health, the CCG, Healthwatch, 
and the Local Pharmaceutical Committee. 

 

5.2. Health Dialogues has undertaken an analysis of the needs of the local 
population; have mapped current pharmacy service provision; and engaged with 
pharmacies as well as residents and local communities in order to provide a 
picture of pharmacy provision in the borough.  

5.3. A survey of all community pharmacies in the borough was undertaken which 
generated a 93% response rate.  This provides a picture of access to, and 
services provided by, pharmacies in the Borough.  

 

5.4. A community pharmacy questionnaire was used to engage with 135 people to 
understand their use and experience of local pharmacies from September to 

Page 92



October 2017. Information obtained from these surveys informed the analysis of 
the use and views of pharmacies by people from the protected characteristics 
and vulnerable groups. 

 Community survey respondents stated that they are happy with the pharmacy 
services they receive in the borough.  

 Respondents mostly use the pharmacies to obtain prescription medication, 
repeat prescriptions and over the counter medication  

 The top three services respondents would use if provided were health checks, 
new medicines service or medicine use reviews 

 Suggestions for improvement included reducing waiting times and longer 
opening hours 

 

5.5.  The draft PNA report is included as background paper to this report  
 

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. Health and Wellbeing Boards are required by law to consult a specified list of 
bodies at least once during the process of developing the PNA. These bodies 
are: 

 The Local Pharmaceutical Committee; 

 The Local Medical Committee; 

 Any persons on pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors; 

 Any Local Pharmaceutical Services chemist in the area with whom the 
NHS Commissioning Boards has made arrangements form the provision 
of any local pharmaceutical services; 

 Any local Healthwatch or any other patient, consumer and community 
group which (in the opinion of the Health and Wellbeing Board) has an 
interest; 

 Any NHS Trust of Foundation Trust 

 The NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England); and 

 Any neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards 

 

6.2. There is a minimum period of 60 days for consultation. 

 

6.3. Appendix B provides an overview of the consultation plan for the PNA for the 
HWB to review.  

 
6.4. The PNA is a technical and factual document, which provides a statement of 

pharmaceutical need in the area (following strict regulatory guidelines) for use by 
NHS England. It is not a description of policy or intent, or a document which sets 
out any changes to pharmaceutical services in the area. However, consultation 
will be undertaken with resident, patient and consumer groups to ensure that the 
user’s perspective is referenced where appropriate within the PNA. The draft 
PNA will also be available on-line (with a hard copy on request) for members of 

Page 93



the public who may have a particular interest. This approach is in-line with the 
regulations and guidance. 

 

6.5. The PNA Task and Finish Group will be ready to begin the consultation on the 
draft PNA by the beginning of December. This will allow for the consultation to be 
completed early Feb 2018, with a final PNA to be completed and endorsed by the 
HWB for publication by 1st April 2018 in-line with legislation 
 

 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. Schedule 1 of the “2013 Regulations” includes a requirement of the PNA to 
assess the different needs of people in its area who share a protected 
characteristic  

 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. Health and Wellbeing Boards are legally required to publish and maintain a PNA 
for their local area by virtue of Section 128a of the National Health Service Act 
2006 (Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments) and the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. 

 

8.2. All Health and Wellbeing Boards were required to publish a PNA by 1 April 2015. 
After it has published its first PNA, each HWB must publish a statement of its 
revised assessment within 3 years of its previous publication of a PNA. 

 
8.3. PNAs must be developed in line with the National Health Service 

(Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013  
 

8.4. Verified by Kevin Beale, Senior Corporate Lawyer, Shared Legal Services 
 

 
9. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. Funds required to produce the PNA were identified from the 2017/18 Public 
Health budget and have been costed at £23,500.        

 

9.2. Verified by Richard Simpson, Public Health Finance Manager 
 

 
 
10.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
10.1 Under the NHS (Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 

Regulations (“the 2013 Regulations”), anyone who wishes to provide NHS 
pharmaceutical services must apply to NHS England to be included on a 
pharmaceutical list, and prove that they are able to meet a pharmaceutical need 
as set out in the relevant local PNA.  

Page 94



 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Draft Hammersmith & Fulham 
PNA 2018 

Colin Brodie  
02076414632 
cbrodie@westminster.gov.uk  

Public Health 

 

[Note: Please list only those that are not already in the public domain, i.e. you do not 
need to include Government publications, previous public reports etc.]  Do not list 
exempt documents. Background Papers must be retained for public inspection for 
four years after the date of the meeting. 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Hammersmith & Fulham PNA outline and progress update 
Appendix 2: Hammersmith & Fulham HWB PNA Statutory Consultation Plan 

 

Page 95

mailto:cbrodie@westminster.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 

Hammersmith & Fulham PNA outline and progress update 
 

  

Chapter Description Current state 

1 - Introduction 

Role of Pharmacies 

Purpose of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

Policy Background Relating to the PNA 

Draft Complete 

2 – Local Health 
and Wellbeing 
Priorities 

Includes local drivers Draft Complete 

3 – Pharmacy 
Needs 
Assessment 
Process 

Includes:  

Methodological considerations 

Governance and steering group 

Regulatory consultation process and outcomes 

Draft Complete 

4 – 
Demographics 
and Health 
Needs 

Includes:  

Population Characteristics and Projections 

Wider Determinants of Health and Inequalities 

Risk Factors for Mortality and Morbidity 

Draft Complete 

5 - Patient and 
Public 
Engagement 
and the 
Protected 
Characteristics 

Includes:  

Results of the Community Pharmacy Questionnaire 

Protected Characteristics 

Draft Complete 

6 - Access to 
Pharmaceutical 
Essential 
Services 

Features such as private consultation rooms, 
handwashing, wheelchair access etc 

Draft Complete 

7 - Advanced, 
Locally 
Enhanced and 
Locally 
Commissioned 
Services 
Provided by 
Pharmacies 

Includes:  

Categorisation of pharmaceutical services 

Advanced Services 

Locally Enhanced Commissioned Services 

Public Health Commissioned Services 

Improvements and gaps in access to Public Health 

Services 

Other skills and services identified in the Pharmacy 
Contractor Survey 

Draft Complete 

Appendices  

Appendix A – Terms of Reference 

Appendix B – Community Questionnaire  

Appendix C – Community Engagement Plan 

Appendix D - Pharmacy listings 

 

 
 

Page 96



Appendix B 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham HWB 
PNA Statutory Consultation Plan 

 
 

 

Revision History 

 
Date of this revision: 01 November 2017 
Date of next revision: 21 November 2017 
 

Revision Date Previous revision 
date 

Summary of 
Changes 

Changes marked 

1 November 2017 First version First versions First Version 
    

    

 

Page 97



 
1. OBJECTIVES OF THE CONSULTATION 
The high-level objective of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) statutory consultation is 
to ensure that statutory consultees are provided with a 60 day period between December 2017 and 
January 2018 in which to consider the draft PNA and provide their views to the PNA Task and 
Finish Group. The list of statutory consultees are: 

 The Local Pharmaceutical Committee; 

 The Local Medical Committee; 

 Any persons on pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors; 

 Any Local Pharmaceutical Services chemist in the area with whom the NHSE has made 
arrangements for the provision of any local pharmaceutical services; 

 Any local Healthwatch or any resident, patient, consumer and community group which 
(in the opinion of the Health and Wellbeing Board) has an interest; 

 Any NHS Trust of Foundation Trust 

 The NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England); and 

 Any neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Boards 

 
 

2. KEY AUDIENCES  

Audience Approach Responsibility 

Local Pharmaceutical 
Committee 

 Letter and Email (on behalf of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board) 

 LPC are represented on the PNA Task and Finish 
Group 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Local Medical 
Committee 

 Letter and Email (on behalf of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board) 

 Offer of a meeting if required 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Individual Pharmacies  
 Email and link to the online PNA 

 Support from the Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
if required (through their membership on the PNA 
Task and Finish Group) 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Dispensing GPs  
 Email and link to the online PNA 

 Work with CCGs to put out information through 
their channels of communication with GPs 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

WLCCG 

Healthwatch 
 Letter and Email sent to the Chair and support 

team 

 Offer to attend meetings or public events if 
required 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

CCG user panels 
 Information provided to any user panel through 

CCG channels 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Page 98



Other patient or 
consumer group 

 Healthwatch to support the provision of information 
to their organisation or institutional members 

Healthwatch 

Sobus 
 Letter and Email sent to the Chair  

 Offer to attend meetings or public events if 
required 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Chelsea and 
Westminster NHS 
Trust 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Imperial College 
Healthcare NHS Trust 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

London North West 
Healthcare NHS Trust  

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

 

West Middlesex 
University Hospital 
NHS Trust 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Central London 
Community 
Healthcare 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

West London Mental 
Health NHS Trust 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chief Executive and 
Chair, and communications team 

 Offer to attend meetings if required 

 Request that the information is shared with the 
trusts patient user groups 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Wandsworth Health 
and Wellbeing Board 

 Letter and Email sent to the Chair and support 
team 

PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Brent Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

 Email sent to the Chair and Board Members  PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Page 99



Ealing Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

 Email sent to the Chair and support team  PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

Hounslow Health and 
Wellbeing Board  

 Email sent to the Chair and support team PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

RBKC Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

 Email sent to the Chair and support team PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

NHS England 
 Letter and Email sent to NHS England London 

Region 
PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

LBHF Health, ASC and 
Social Inclusion PAC 

 Email sent to the Chair and support team PNA Task and 
Finish Group 

 
 

4. COMMUNICATORS 

Communicator Responsibilities 

Hammersmith & Fulham Health 
and Wellbeing Board 

All communications to statutory consultees will be delivered in 
the name of the Hammersmith & Fulham Health and 
Wellbeing Board  

Public Health 
Communications to residents will be delivered in the name of 
the Public Health Department via the Communications Team 

Healthwatch Support communication with wider resident, patient and 
consumer groups 

NHS Trusts Support communication with their resident, patient and 
consumer groups 

CCGs Support communication with individual dispensing GPs  

Support communication with their resident, patient and 
consumer groups 

Local Pharmaceutical Committee Support communications with individual pharmacies 

Sobus Support communications with relevant community groups 

 

6. METHODS OF COMMUNICATION  
Email Emails will be the primary form of communication to statutory 

consultees, alongside a letter. 

Presentation May be used occasionally to support communications with 
resident, patient and consumer groups (if required) 

Website The draft PNA, details on the scope of the consultation and 
how to provide feedback will be place on the council website, 
and the www.jsna.info website 

Social media 
Social media will be the primary form of communication to 
residents, alongside any resident e-newsletters or newspaper 
which coincide with the consultation period 

E-newsletters 
Potential to be used alongside the newspaper if these forms of 
communication coincide with the consultation period 

Page 100

http://www.jsna.info/


Reports Available on request (for example by NHS Trusts, Healthwatch 
and CCG governing body) 
 
A report will be presented to neighbouring Health and 
Wellbeing Boards for information 

Stakeholder Group Meetings Available on request. 
 

Other meetings Available on request 
 

One-to-One meetings Available if required due to concerns 

 
 

 

Page 101



 

θωερτψυιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωε

ρτψυιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωερτ

ψυιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωερτψυι

οπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωερτψυιοπ

ασδφΠΠΠΗγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωερτψυ

ιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθωερτψυιοπ

ασδφγηϕκτψυιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβν

µθωερτψυιοπασδφγηϕκλζξχϖβνµθ

 

 
 

 

Compiled by Healthy Dialogues Ltd 

Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment for 
Hammersmith & 

Fulham 
 

2018 - 2021 

Page 102



 

Table of Contents 

 

Executive Summary ............................................................................. 3 

Chapter 1 – Introduction ....................................................................... 7 
Role of Pharmacies ....................................................................................... 7 
Purpose of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment ........................................... 7 
Policy Background Relating to the PNA ........................................................... 8 

Chapter 2 - Local Health and Wellbeing Priorities ................................ 10 

Chapter 3 - The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Process .............. 12 
Methodological considerations ...................................................................... 12 
Governance and steering group .................................................................... 14 
Regulatory consultation process and outcomes .............................................. 14 
Additional Considerations regarding pharmacy funding .................................... 14 

Chapter 4 - Health Needs and Population Changes .............................. 16 
Population Characteristics and Projections ..................................................... 16 
Wider Determinants of Health and Inequalities ............................................... 24 
Risk Factors for mortality and morbidity ......................................................... 32 

Chapter 5 - Patient and Public Engagement and the Protected 
Characteristics ................................................................................... 38 

Results of the Community Pharmacy Questionnaire ........................................ 38 
Protected Characteristics ............................................................................. 40 

Chapter 6- Access to Pharmaceutical Essential Services .................... 46 

Chapter 7- Advanced, Locally Enhanced and Locally Commissioned 
Services Provided by Pharmacies ....................................................... 60 

Categorisation of pharmaceutical services ..................................................... 60 
Other Relevant Services: current provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 3). .............. 61 
Other Services: current provision (schedule 1, paragraph 5). ............................ 68 
   NHS England Commissioned Services ....................................................... 68 
   Public Health Commissioned Services ........................................................ 70 
   Other services that are not currently commissioned ...................................... 76 
Improvements and better access: gaps in provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 4) ... 77 
Other skills and services identified in the Pharmacy Contractor Survey .............. 78 

Page 103



 

Executive Summary 
Community pharmacies provide a range of services including dispensing medicines, 
promoting health and wellbeing and early detection of diseases. They can offer long 
opening hours and are situated in local communities, which means they can be more 
easily accessible than most other community health services.  They are key to 
connecting local people and communities to healthcare and public health services 
that they need. 

There are 42 community pharmacies located throughout Hammersmith and Fulham. 
This Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) reviews the need for Pharmacy 
Services and assesses the current service provision to identify gaps. The PNA is a 
statutory responsibility of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  It is used for informing 
decisions on applications for new pharmacies, changes in premises and services of 
existing pharmacies. 

This PNA assesses the health and wellbeing needs of the population of 
Hammersmith & Fulham with respect to pharmacy services. The current pharmacy 
provision and their services have been examined in detail, including users’ views. 
Key findings are outlined below. 
 

Key demographics and health needs 
• Hammersmith & Fulham is a small and densely populated borough with high 

inequalities in deprivation and life expectancy. 
• Nearly half of the population were born abroad and nearly one-third identify 

as being from BME groups, the highest proportion of who live in the northern 
wards of College Park and Old Oak and Wormholt and White City.  

• Circularity diseases and cancers are the biggest causes in the differences in 
life expectancy between the least and most deprived. 

• Recorded mental illness, HIV and smoking are high in the borough. 
• Childhood vaccination coverage is low. 
• Falls and the risk of isolation and loneliness in older residents are high. 

Key findings from user views  
• Community survey respondents stated that they are happy with the pharmacy 

services they receive in the borough because of their good locations and 
opening times, and friendly and knowledgeable staff. 

• Respondents mostly use the pharmacies to obtain prescription medications, 
repeat prescriptions and over the counter medications. 

• The top three services respondents would use if provided were health checks, 
new medicines service or medicine use reviews. 

• Suggestions for improvement included reducing waiting times and longer 
opening times. 

Page 104



 

4 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board Statements on Service Provision 
The categorisation of these services into those stipulated by the PNA regulations are 
summarised in the table that follows. 

Necessary services: current provision 
(Schedule 1, paragraph 1) 

Necessary services: gaps in provision 
(Schedule 1, paragraph 2) 

Pharmacy provision in Hammersmith and 
Fulham is sufficient for supplying a 
necessary pharmaceutical service in the 
borough.  

6.1 There are gaps in the provision of evening 
and early morning access to pharmacies in 
the north and southern tips of the borough.  
 

Other relevant services: current provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 3) 

• Medicine Use Review service 
• New Medicine Service 
• Appliance Use Reviews 
• Stoma Appliance Customisation Service 
• Flu Vaccination 
• NHS Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service  

Other services (Schedule 1, paragraph 5) 
 

NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Flu Vaccination  
• Minor Ailments Scheme 
• Care Home Advice service 

 

Public Health England 
Commissioned Services: 

• NHS Health Checks 
• Supervised Administration  
• Needle Exchange Services 
• Stop Smoking Services 
• Emergency Hormonal Contraception 

 

Privately provide services: 
• Weight Management Services  
• Other Sexual Health Screening and Treatment 

services 

Improvements and better access: gaps in provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 4) 
 

NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Medicines Assessment and Compliance 
• End of Life Care service 

 

Not commissioned  • Alcohol Misuse services 
 

Page 105



 

5 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 

Necessary Services 
These services are fundamental for patients to obtain prescribed medicines in a safe 
and reliable manner. All pharmacies are required to deliver and comply with the 
specifications for all essential services. 
 
The range of options for dispensing NHS prescriptions, facilities within pharmacies, 
the range of opening hours and the close proximity of pharmacies to local residents 
are sufficient for supplying a necessary pharmaceutical service with no gaps in the 
Hammersmith and Fulham. 
 
 
Other Relevant Services 
These are services provided which are not necessary to meet the need for 
pharmaceutical services in the area, but which nonetheless have secured 
improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. They include Medicine 
Use Reviews, New Medicines Service, Appliance Use Reviews, Stoma Appliance 
Customisation service and Flu Vaccination:   

• Most Hammersmith and Fulham residents live close to a pharmacy that 
provides Medicine Use Review services, New Medicine Services and Flu 
Vaccinations. Therefore, they are found to be sufficient for supplying a 
relevant service with no gaps.  

• Stoma Customisation Services and Appliance Use Reviews are supplied by 
pharmacies and other local health services and specialist nurses in the 
borough, which is sufficient for supplying a relevant service with no gaps. 

 

Other Services  
Other services are services that are provided or arranged by a local authority, NHS 
England or delivered privately to meet the needs of local populations. The Health and 
Wellbeing board is satisfied that these services are sufficient to secure improvement, 
or better access to pharmaceutical services specified type, in its area. In 
Hammersmith and Fulham these are:  

• Minor Ailments Scheme 
• Care Home Advice service 
• NHS Health Checks 
• Supervised Administration  
• Needle Exchange Services 
• Stop Smoking Services 
• Emergency Hormonal Contraception 
• Weight Management Services  
• Other Sexual Health Screening and Treatment services 

Page 106



 

6 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Improvements and better access 
There are three services or gaps in services which the Health and Wellbeing Board is 
satisfied would, if they were provided, may secure improvements, or better access to 
pharmaceutical services of a specific type. 

These are: 
• Medicines Assessment and Compliance 
• End of Life Care service 
• Alcohol Misuse services 

Page 107



 

Chapter 1 – Introduction 
Role of Pharmacies 

1.1. Pharmacies provide a range of care responsibilities for patients and the public 
including dispensing mediations, providing basic health checks, healthcare and 
preventative care and educating patients on the use of prescriptions and over-the-
counter medications. 
 

1.2. Community pharmacists and their teams work at the heart of communities and are 
trusted professionals in supporting individual, family and community health. 
Community pharmacies are often patients’ and the public’s first point of contact and, 
for some, their only contact with a healthcare professional. Community pharmacies 
are not only a valuable health asset, but also an important social asset because often 
they are the only healthcare facility located in an area of deprivation. 

 
 

Purpose of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
1.3. The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) identifies the key health needs of the 

local population and how those needs are being fulfilled, or could be fulfilled, by 
pharmaceutical services in different parts of the borough.  The role of the PNA is 
twofold:  

• to inform local plans for the commissioning of pharmaceutical services and 
• to support the ‘market entry’ decision making process (undertaken by NHS 

England) in relation to applications for new pharmacies or changes of 
pharmacy premises. 

 
1.4. As outlined in the 2013 regulations, this PNA describes pharmaceutical services in 

terms of the following summary categories: 
A. Necessary Services – Current Provision: services currently being provided which 

are regarded to be “necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services in the 
area”.  This includes services provided in the Borough as well as those in neighbouring 
Boroughs. 

 
B. Necessary Services – Gaps in Provision: services not currently being provided 

which are regarded by the HWB to be necessary “in order to meet a current need for 
pharmaceutical services”. 

 
C. Other Relevant Services – Current Provision: services provided which are not 

necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services in the area, but which 
nonetheless have “secured improvements or better access to pharmaceutical 
services”. This includes services provided in the Borough as well as those in 
neighbouring Boroughs. 

 
D. Improvements and Better Access – Gaps in Provision:  services not currently 

provided, but which the HWB is satisfied would “secure improvements, or better 

Page 108



 

8 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

access to pharmaceutical services” if provided. 
 
E. Other NHS Services: any services provided or arranged by a local authority, NHS 

England, the CCG, an NHS trust or an NHS foundation trust which affects the need for 
pharmaceutical services in its area or where future provision would secure 
improvement, or better access to pharmaceutical services specified type, in its area. 

 

Policy Background Relating to the PNA  
1.5. From 2006, NHS Primary Care Trusts (PCT) had a statutory responsibility to assess 

the pharmaceutical needs for its area and to publish a statement of its assessment 
and of any revised assessment.  This was generally undertaken by public health 
teams within the PCTs. 

 
1.6. With the abolition of PCTs and the creation of Clinical Commissioning Groups in 

2013 Public Health functions were transferred to local authorities. Health and 
Wellbeing boards were introduced and hosted by local authorities to bring together 
Public Health, Adult Social Care, Children’s services and Healthwatch. 

 
1.7. The Health and Social Care Act of 2012 put responsibility of the developing and 

updating the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments and Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments on the Health and Wellbeing boards. 
 

1.8. The 2018-21 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment must be produced and published 
by 1st April 2018. The Health and Wellbeing Board are also required to revise their 
latest PNA publication if they deem there to be significant changes in pharmaceutical 
services within the 2018-21 timeframe. 
 

1.9. The PNA must be put out for consultation for a minimum of 60 days prior to its 
publication. The 2013 Regulations list those persons and organisations that the HWB 
must consult, which include: 

• Any relevant local pharmaceutical committee (LPC) for the HWB area  
• Any local medical committee (LMC) for the HWB area  
• Any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing GP practices in 

the HWB area  
• Any local Healthwatch organisation for the HWB area, and any other patient, 

consumer and community group, which in the opinion of the HWB has an 
interest in the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area 

• Any NHS Trust or NHS Foundation Trust in the HWB area  
• NHS England  
• Any neighbouring Health and Wellbeing board.  

 
1.10. The NHS Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services Regulations 

2013 and the Department of Health Information Pack for Local Authorities and Heath 
and Wellbeing boards provide guidance as to the requirements that should be 
contained in the PNA publication and the process to be followed to develop the 

Page 109



 

9 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

publication. The development and publication of this PNA has been carried out in 
accordance with these Regulations. 
 

1.11. Joint Strategic Needs Assessments are strategic valuation of the health and 
wellbeing needs of the local population, and this PNA builds on the findings of the 
JSNA by supporting the commissioning and the development of appropriate, 
sustainable and effective pharmacy services. For further information on the JSNA 
please refer to http://www.jsna.info. 

Page 110



 

Chapter 2 - Local Health and 
Wellbeing Priorities 

 
2.1 All Health and Wellbeing boards are required to produce a Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy that sets out how partners will meet local health needs, improve outcomes 
and reduce health inequalities within the borough. 
 

2.2 The Hammersmith & Fulham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 - 2021 
addresses health inequalities, child obesity and mental illness. This will be achieved 
this by improving the health and wellbeing of the people of Hammersmith and 
Fulham and putting them at the heart of a high quality and sustainable health and 
social care system. 
 

2.3 The Hammersmith & Fulham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 - 2021 
identifies four priorities for the local area: 

1. Enabling good mental health for all 
2. Supporting children, young people and families to have the best start in life 
3. Addressing the rising tide of long-term conditions 
4. Delivering a high quality and sustainable health and social care system 
5. Upgrading prevention and early intervention 

 
2.4 Alongside this the Hammersmith and Fulham Health and Wellbeing Board is working 

with Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster to pool together budgets to support 
the health and social care services to work together more closely. This budget is 
called Better Care Fund which aims to support to residents in Hammersmith and 
Fulham by providing people with the right care, in the right place, at the right time, 
including expansion of care in community setting. This includes: 
1 Helping people self-manage, providing care navigation, working in partnership 

with the local community and voluntary sector and local faith groups. 
2 Investing in locality-based social work, working alongside GPs and care 

navigators to prevent reliance on expensive health and social care packages. 
3 Reducing delayed discharges from hospital through strengthening 7-day social 

care provision. 
4 Integrating NHS and social care systems around the NHS number through a 

single point of access across health and social care, to ensure those frontline 
professionals, and ultimately all patients and service users, have access to all of 
the records and information they need. 

5 Improving outcomes through transforming the quality, consistency and 
coordination of care across nursing and care homes in Hammersmith and 
Fulham and improving primary care support to our care homes. 

6 Coordinating dementia support across health and social care ensuring an 
effective pathway from early diagnosis to end of life care. 

 
2.5 Northwest London Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STP) outline how 

the Local Authorities and NHS within the sub-region, including Hammersmith and 

Page 111



 

11 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Fulham will work together to radically transform the way they provide health and 
social care for the population. Their aim is to provide excellent quality care in the right 
place and when needed, help people to look after themselves and maximise 
opportunities to keep the healthy majority healthy. There are five delivery areas the 
STP will focus: 

1. Radically upgrading prevention and wellbeing 
2. Eliminating unwarranted variation and improving long-term condition 

management 
3. Achieving better outcomes and experiences for older people 
4. Improving outcomes for children and adults with mental health needs 
5. Ensuring we have safe, high quality sustainable acute services 

 
2.6 Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and the GP Federation have developed a joint 

strategy which sets out a shared vision for an integrated health and social care 
system, with primary care as the foundation for better population health across the 
borough. The Primary Care Strategy was published in mid-September 2017. The 
CCG and GP Federation have worked closely together and in consultation with local 
residents, GP members and other stakeholders. 

 
2.7 The strategy, which builds on the Whole System Integration Care programme, sets 

out an ambition for achieving a more unified and co-ordinated care system for local 
residents. This will be achieved in a series of transformational stages: 

Stage 1. Reinvigorating existing General Practice networks to become ‘primary 
care networks’ which will deliver services at scale for the benefit of 
local residents 

Stage 2. Bringing primary care networks together into a unified approach to 
community based care – this will be through the platform of a 
Multispecialty Community Provider (MCP); a place based model of 
integrated care which serves the whole population 

Stage 3. Adding hospital-based services to the MCP for a co-ordinated, 
outcome-based borough-wide approach to all care which we describe 
as ‘accountable care’ 

 
2.8 A Hammersmith and Fulham GP Federation Board and Programme Management 

Office (PMO) will oversee the operational delivery of the work streams aligned to the 
strategy, the progress of primary care network configuration will be reviewed with GP 
members and the CCG and GP Federation will continue to develop partnerships with 
the Local Authority Adult Social Care, Children’s and Public Health teams to explore 
opportunities for further integration. 

Page 112



 

 

Chapter 3 - The Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment Process 

3.1 This PNA has been developed using a range of information sources to describe and 
identify population needs and current service provision from the network of 
community pharmacies (see table 3.1). These include: 

• Nationally published data 
• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
• A survey to Hammersmith and Fulham pharmacy providers 
• A survey to the Patients and Public of Hammersmith and Fulham 
• Comments made during the consultation process 

 
Table 3.1 PNA 2018-21 data sources  
Health need and 
priorities 

National benchmarking ward and borough-level data from Public 
Health England  
Hammersmith and Fulham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) 
Office of National Statistics 2014 mid-year estimates 
Synthesis from national datasets and statistics  

Current 
Pharmaceutical 
Services 

Commissioning data held by the NHS England 
Commissioning data held by London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham 
Questionnaire of community pharmacy providers 

Patients and the 
Public 

Community questionnaire 

 
3.2 These data have been combined to describe the Hammersmith and Fulham 

population, current and future health needs and how pharmaceutical services can be 
used to support the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) to improve the health and 
wellbeing of our population. 

 

Methodological considerations 
 
Geographical Coverage 

3.3 For the purposes of the PNA the geographical area of Hammersmith & Fulham is 
presented using these approaches to define localities:  

• Electoral wards are used to summarise demographic and health need. 
Hammersmith and Fulham has 16 in total which are illustrated in Figure 3.1.   

• Provision and choice of pharmacies is determined by using a 500 metres 
radius from the centre of the postcode of a pharmacy. This is considered to 
be approximately a 10-minute walk from the outer perimeter of the buffer 
zone created. 

 
 

Page 113



 

13 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 3.1 Hammersmith and Fulham Electoral Wards 

 
 

 
3.4 The rationale for using the more detailed “500m-radius” approach was to identify the 

range of access and service provision in a far more precise fashion than ward 
averages would allow. For example, where boundaries of wards are main roads, 
pharmacies on the opposite side of the road would not be counted towards the 
ward’s provision, thereby giving an inaccurate picture of provision; use of the more 
detailed 500m-radius approach avoids this. It also allows the PNA to assess the 
impact of pharmacies in surrounding boroughs that are within 500m of the borough 
border. 

 
3.5 The 500m-radius approach illustrates where there is at least one pharmacy within 

500m and where there is no pharmacy within 500m. The distance of 500m was 
chosen by the Steering Group as being a reasonable measure to identify variation 
and choice. However, whilst highlighting variation, it is not always used to determine 
gaps in services; in some instances, wider measures are more appropriate (e.g. 

Page 114



 

14 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

where there is lower patient demand for services, such as needle exchange and 
dispensing outside normal working hours). These instances have all been stated in 
the relevant sections of the report. 

 
Pharmacy Contractor Survey 

3.6 The contractor survey was sent to the pharmacies within Hammersmith & Fulham 
and the response rate was 93% (39/42). The results from this survey are referred to 
throughout this document. 

 
Patient and Public Engagement 

3.7 A community pharmacy questionnaire was used to engage with 135 people to 
understand their use and experience of local pharmacies from September to October 
2017. Information obtained from these surveys informed the analysis of the use and 
views of pharmacies by people from the protected characteristics and vulnerable 
groups. 

 
 

Governance and steering group 
3.8 A Task and Finish group advised on the development of the PNA. The membership 

and terms of reference of the steering group is outlined in Appendix A. Its 
membership included representation from the following groups: 

• Hammersmith and Fulham Public Health team 
• Clinical Commissioning Group 
• Barnet Enfield and Haringey Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) 
• Healthwatch advised the development of the PNA. 

 
Regulatory consultation process and outcomes 

3.9 This PNA is published for public consultation in November 2017 for 60 days. All 
comments will be considered and incorporated into the final report to be published by 
1st April 2018. 
 

Additional Considerations regarding pharmacy funding 
3.10 From October 2016 the government has imposed a two-year funding package that 

will lead to 4% reduction in funding in 2016/17 and a further 3.4% in funding in 
2017/18. 
 

3.11 In consideration of these funding cuts the Department of Health introduced the 
Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) in December 2016 to ensure that access to NHS 
community pharmaceutical services is protected, particularly in areas where there is 
higher health needs. Qualifying pharmacies, i.e. those with high dependency and 
located where pharmacy services are sparse, receive an additional payment that will 
protect them from the full effect of the reduction in funding imposed from December 
2016. 
 

Page 115



 

15 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

3.12 The Government has also introduced a Quality Payment Scheme from December 
2016 to March 2018. Pharmacies qualify for additional funding if they meet the 
following four criteria: 

• Provision of at least one advanced service 
• NHS Choices entry up to date 
• Staff able to send and receive NHS email 
• On-going utilisation of the Electronic Prescription Service (EPS) 

Page 116



 

Chapter 4 - Health Needs and 
Population Changes 
 

4.1 The aim of this chapter is to present an overview of health and wellbeing in 
Hammersmith and Fulham, particularly the areas likely to impact on needs for 
community pharmacy services. 
 

4.2 The analysis of health needs and population changes are outlined in three sub-
sections of this chapter: Population Characteristics and Projections; Wider 
Determinants of Health and Inequalities and Risk Factors for Mortality and Morbidly. 

 
4.3 The highlights of the demographic and health information included here are also 

covered in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for the borough. The JSNA 
identifies current and future health and social care needs of the borough’s population 
and analyses whether these needs are being met locally. For the borough’s 
highlights report please see https://www.jsna.info/online/highlightreports. 
 

4.1 All the maps that follow present the size of population in relation different factors 
such as population density, languages spoken and premature mortality. They are 
displayed in in gradients, whereby the lower the marker, the lighter the colour. The 
gradients are illustrated in the legends attached to each map. 

 
Population Characteristics and Projections 

4.4 Several data sources have been used to examine the Hammersmith and Fulham 
population. The main data source is the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 2014 mid-
year estimates (used for age, sex, and ethnicity, and for projections of future 
population size) and Public Health England, which draws its data from a range of 
sources including surveys, ONS and a range of NHS monitoring data. These are 
deemed to be the most accurate available at the time of this analysis. Characteristics 
of the local population have been summarised in Table 4.1. 
 

Page 117



 

Table 4.1: Population Characteristics at a Glance 

 
 
4.5 Hammersmith & Fulham is a small and very densely populated borough situated in 

the centre west of London, bordered by the River Thames on the south and south 
west side. The borough has three main town centre areas: Shepherd’s Bush, 
Hammersmith, and Fulham. Population density is highest in Askew and Addison 
wards (see figure 4.1). 

 
Figure 4.1: Population Density of Hammersmith and Fulham per square kilometer by 
Ward, mid 2014 estimates. 

 
Source: ONS, 2015 

 
4.6 The Office for National Statistics estimates the Hammersmith and Fulham resident 

population will be 185,300 people in 2018. Some will be registered with GPs outside 
of the borough. There are 179,654 patients registered with Hammersmith & Fulham 
GPs but not all of these patients will live within the borough. 

83,552 Households 6 (6.42) Live births each day 
730,000 Median house price 3 (2.7) Deaths each day 
185,300 Residents 14,095 Local businesses 
33.7% From BAME groups 38,041 Annual pay 
43.2% Born abroad (2011 Census) 4.7% Unemployment rate (JSA)   

(London 3.1%) 
22.7% Main language not English 16.4% Local jobs in Public Sector 
48.9% State school pupils whose 

main language not English 
Ranked 
69th  

Most deprived borough in 
England (out of 326) 
(16th in London) 

179,654 
 

Registered with local GPs Ranked 
40th   

Income Deprivation Affecting 
Children Index (out of 326)  
(17th in London) 

8,144 
 

New migrants registered with 
a GP 

Ranked 
25th 

Highest carbon emissions in 
London  

230,481 
 

Daytime population in an 
average weekday 

15% Of the borough is green space 

Page 118



 

18 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
4.7 113 people per hectare reside in Hammersmith, twice as many as the London at 56.2 

people per hectare. 
 
4.8 Hammersmith and Fulham’s population rises to 

approximately 230,500 during the daytime, this 
includes residents, employees and visitors. 

 
4.9 The population is characterised by a large proportion 

of young working age residents, high levels of 
migration in and out the borough, and ethnic and 
cultural diversity. Although residents have a higher 
life expectancy than nationally, there are significant 
areas of poorer health in the more deprived parts of 
the borough and therefore large health inequalities.  

 
4.10 There are 83,552 households in Hammersmith & 

Fulham, with an average household size of 2.2 
persons. 
 

Gender and Age Structure 
4.11 Hammersmith & Fulham has a similar gender split to the rest of London and 

elsewhere in United Kingdom, with the percentage of women being 1% greater and 
the percentage of men 1% lower. This is similar to the rest of London and likely to be 
because women live longer than men (see Figure 4.2). 
 
Figure 4.2: Proportion of resident population by age-band and gender, Mid- 2014 
estimates for Hammersmith & Fulham 

 Source: ONS 2015 
 

4.12 The age profile in Hammersmith & Fulham is typical of inner city areas, with a very 
high proportion of young working age adults, and a smaller proportion of older people 

Daytime population 

The day time population  of 
Hammersmith and Fulham is 
much higher than the 
numbers of usual residents 
and the flow of these people 
into Hammersmith and 
Fulham needs to considered 
when planning for pharmacy 
provision, although there is no 
evidence that this significantly 
affects service provision at 
present. 

 

Page 119



 

19 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

and children than London and the rest of the country. This population structure 
impacts on the types and range of services required in the borough. 
 

 Source: PHE, 2017 
 

4.13 Most of the younger population live in northern deprived wards such as College Park 
and Old Oak although Fulham Reach has the highest proportion of 16-25 year olds. 
Palace Riverside has the highest proportion of 65 and older population while the 25-

 

Figure 4.3: % of 0-15 Population by Ward, 
2015. 

 

 

Figure 4.4: % of 16-24 Population by 
Ward, 2015. 

 

Figure 4.5: % of 25-64 Population by Ward, 
2015. 

 

Figure 4.6: % of 65 + Population by Ward, 
2015. 

 

Page 120



 

20 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

64 population are more broadly spread across the borough, mostly concentrated in 
Shepherd’s Bush Green, Addison and North End wards (Figures 4.3 to 4.6). 
 

 
4.14 Predictive modelling estimates that there will be a 

12% increase of residents who are aged 65 and 
over by 2034 in Hammersmith & Fulham (see 
table 4.2). This is due to improvements in the life 
expectancy of the baby-boom generation. 

 
 

Table 4.2 Projected population growth by age group for Hammersmith and Fulham 
 2014 2024 2034 
65-74  13,922  15,294 19,253 
75-84  8,617  10,155 11,258 
85+ 3,370 4,767 6,541 
Total 65 + 25,909 30,216 37,052 

Source: PHE, 2017, based on ONS 2011 census  
 

Ethnicity and diversity 
4.15 43.2% of residents were born abroad and 29% are from an ethnic minority group; 

this is significantly higher than England overall. 
 

4.16 Ethnicity breakdown shows that Hammersmith and Fulham has a higher proportion of 
White population than London but lower than England. 
 
Table 4.3 Black and Minority Ethnic population breakdown for Hammersmith and 
Fulham, London and England and Wales  
Region White Mixed Asian or 

Asian 
British 

Black or 
Black 
British 

Other 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham 

68.07% 5.50% 9.12% 11.78% 5.53% 

London 59.79% 4.96% 18.49% 13.32% 3.44% 
England and Wales 85.97% 2.18% 7.51% 3.33% 1.01% 

Source: ONS, 2011 
 
 
4.17 Most of the minority ethnic groups in Hammersmith & Fulham reside in the northern 

deprived wards (see figure 4.7). 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Increasing elderly population 

As the population ages, the 
demand on health care and 
dispensing services increases. 
Accessibility is an important 
factor for the elderly population.  

Page 121



 

21 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 4.7: Percentage of black and ethnic minority groups by wards in Hammersmith 
& Fulham, 2015 

 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
4.18 Analysis of data on patients registered with GPs suggests there are significant 

populations from  Australia, New Zealand, Western and Eastern Europe, Somalia, 
Caribbean countries, the Philippines, Iraq and Iran. The most common minority 
language spoken is French (see table 4.4). 
 
Table 4.4: Proportion of languages spoken in Hammersmith and Fulham 

Language % 
English 77% 
French 3.1% 
Arabic 1.9% 
Spanish 1.9% 
Polish 1.6% 
Italian 1.4% 
Somali 1.3% 
Portuguese 1.3% 
Persian/ Farsi 0.8% 
Tagalog/ Filipino 0.8% 

Source: ONS, 2015  
 
4.19 A high proportion of residents cannot speak English well or at all in the borough, 

particularly in the northern wards of the borough. 4.9% and 4.2% of residents do not 
speak English well or at all in Wormholt and White City and College Park and Old 
Oak respectively (see figure 2.8). Nearly half school children’s first language is not 
English (48.9%). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 

22 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
Figure 4.8: Percentage of people that cannot speak English well or at all by Ward in 
Hammersmith and Fulham in 2011 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 

 
New developments and population changes 

4.20 There are several proposed large-scale development sites in the borough that may 
result in significant and concentrated increases in population if completed. All of 
these are likely to require reconsideration of pharmaceutical requirements if 
progressed. At present, timescales for development are likely to be longer than the 
timescale of the 2018-2021 PNA. According to the Greater London authority, there 
are 20 development schemes proposing 10 or more units either not started or under 
construction as at October 2018 (see Figure 4.9). 
 

4.21 As of October 2017, seven construction sites have started construction while 
another 13 have obtained planning permission. Table 4.5 outlines the number of 
medium or large-scale construction sites that have acquired planning permission. 

 
 
 
 

Pharmacy provision for cultural and language barriers 
Areas where diversity is higher correlate with areas of higher levels of deprivation and poorer 
health. For example, Ethnic minority communities have higher incidence of long-term conditions 
such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease.  
 
Cultural and language barriers can create problems for people who wish to engage with 
healthcare services.  
 
Pharmacies employ staff from diverse backgrounds who may be able to speak multiple 
languages. 
 

Page 123



 

23 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 4.9: Number of medium and large-scale housing development sites that have 
acquired planning permission in Hammersmith and Fulham by ward, from October 
2018 

 
Source: Local Government Association, 2017 

 
 

Table 4.5: Construction sites by number of units within each ward in Hammersmith and 
Fulham 
 
Ward Construction 

not started 
Construction 

started 
All 

developments 
Askew  1 1 
Avonmore &Brook Green 4  4 
College Park & Old Oak 2  2 
Fulham Broadway    
Fulham Reach 3 1 4 
Hammersmith Broadway 1  1 
North End    
Palace Riverside  1 1 
Parson's Green & Walham  1 1 
Ravenscourt Park    
Sands End 3 2 5 
Shepherd's Bush Green    
Town  1 1 
Total 13 7 20 

 
 
4.22 The population of the borough is expected to 

increase by 2.39% by 2021 to 191,152 residents. 
By 2031 it is expected to increase by 7.97% to 
201,566 residents. These figures are based on 
mid-year population estimates and assumptions 
such as future fertility, mortality and migration. 

Changes in populations 

Sustained population increases 
and development will increase 
demand on community 
pharmacy services, and different 
population groups will have 
different needs.  

Page 124



 

24 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Wider Determinants of Health and Inequalities 
4.23 There is a range of social, economic and environmental factors that impact on an 

individual’s health behaviours, choices, goals and ultimately their health outcomes. 
These are outlined in Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review report and 
include life expectancy, healthy life expectancy, education, employment and fuel 
poverty to name a few, which we explore in this chapter. 

 
4.24 The Index of Multiple Deprivation is a combined measure of deprivation based on 

a total of 37 separate indicators that encompass the wider determinants of health and 
reflect the different aspects of deprivation experienced by individuals living in an 
area. The 37 indicators fall under the following categories:  Income Deprivation, 
Employment Deprivation, Health Deprivation and Disability, Education, Skills and 
Training Deprivation, Barriers to Housing and services, Living Environment 
Deprivation and Crime. 

  
4.25 Figure 4.10 illustrates the vast differences between the north and south of the 

borough. The wards with this highest multiple deprivation scores are College Park 
and Old Oak and Wormholt and White City and Palace Riverside have the lowest 
scores for multiple deprivation. 
 
Figure 4.10 The Index of Multiple Deprivation scores in Hammersmith and Fulham by 
ward in 2015 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 

Life expectancy and healthy-life expectancy 
4.26 Life expectancy at birth for males is 79.2 years and 83.9 years for females. These 

figures are close to the overall life expectancy figures for England. 
 
4.27 There is significant variation in life expectancy across the social gradient in 

Hammersmith & Fulham. The Slope Index of Inequality, which measures the 
absolute difference in life expectancy between the most and least deprived areas, 

Page 125



 

25 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

shows a 8.5 year life expectancy gap for men and a 3.4 year gap for women between 
those who live in the most deprived areas and the least deprived areas. 

 
4.28 Males residing in Palace Riverside and females in Muster have the highest life 

expectancy (83.4 and 87.4 respectively). Males residing in College Park and Old Oak 
have the lowest life expectancy of 75.3 (Figure 4.11 & 4.12). 

 
Figure 4.11: Life expectancy at birth of Males by 
Ward in Hammersmith and Fulham, 2015  
 

 

 

Figure 4.12 Life expectancy at birth of 
Females by Ward in Hammersmith and 
Fulham in 2015 

 

 
 

Source: PHE, 2016 
 
4.29 Healthy life expectancy at birth is the average number of years an individual 

should expect to live in good health considering age-specific mortality rates and 
prevalence for good health for their area. 

 
4.30 The latest figures (2015) for males residing in Hammersmith and Fulham show a 

healthy life expectancy of 62.3 and for females, 64.2 years. This is significantly worse 
than the England average of 63.5 and 64.8 years respectively. These figures indicate 
that males living in Hammersmith and Fulham could live with ill health for 16 years 
and females for 19.7 years (see figure 4.13). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 

26 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 4.13 Life expectancy and Healthy life expectancy for Males and Females in 
Hammersmith and Fulham in 2015 

 
 

Source: PHE, 2016 
 

4.31 Hammersmith and Fulham has a low dependency ratio. An estimated 39% of the 
population are dependants, meaning that they are less likely to be working (for 
example, children under 16 or those of state pension age or above). This is much 
lower than England where an estimated 60.7% of people are dependents. 

 
4.32 However, 5.4% of working age population of the borough are long-term 

unemployed and (based on 2016 figures), this is down from 10.3% in 2013, but 
significantly worse the England rate at 3.7%. 

 
4.33 Over a quarter of children residing in the borough are from low-income families 

(25.2%), significantly worse than the overall national figure of 19.9%. 
 
4.34 A higher rate of people live 

experience fuel poverty; 13.6% of 
people did not have enough income 
to afford sufficient fuel in 2014, 
higher than the national rate of 
10.6% and an increase from 10.3% 
the previous year. 

 
 

Pharmacy provision within deprived 
communities 

Access to community pharmacy services in the 
communities where there is high deprivation is 
important in addressing health inequalities. 

The PNA will need to take into account whether 
the services provided by pharmacies are 
available in our most deprived communities and 
are sufficient to meet their local populations. 

Page 127



 

27 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 

Premature Mortality 
4.35 The standardised mortality ratio is a good indicator effect of the prevalence of risk 

factors, prevalence and severity of disease, and the effectiveness of interventions 
and treatment. The differences of early mortality rates in different areas can reveal 
where focus is needed to reduce variation in life expectancy and health inequalities. 

 
4.36 Figure 4.14 presents the standardised mortality ratio for deaths from all causes 

aged under 75, otherwise known as premature mortality. This measure is used to 
identify deaths usually considered ‘avoidable’.  Premature mortality is higher in the 
north of the borough, among the more deprived wards. 
 
Figure 4.14 Standardised mortality ratio 2010-2014 by Ward in Hammersmith and 
Fulham in 2015 

 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
4.37 Circulatory diseases such as coronary heart disease and stroke is the biggest cause 

of the differences in life expectancy in males.  It accounts for 36.6% of the life 
expectancy gap between the most deprived quintile and least deprived quintile in the 
borough. Following that is cancer which accounts for 19.6% of the gap and digestive 
disease (which includes alcohol related conditions such as chronic liver disease and 
cirrhosis) which accounts for 11.5% of the gap. 

 
4.38 Cancer accounts for more than half (59.9%) of the life expectancy gap between the 

most deprived quintiles and least deprived quintiles in females. Figure 4.13 presents 
the differences in life expectancy by cause between the most deprived and the least 
deprived quintiles of the borough. 
 
 

Page 128



 

28 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
Figure 4.15: Life expectancy gap between the most deprived quintile and the least 
deprived quintile for Hammersmith and Fulham by broad cause of death, 2012-2014 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 

Circulatory diseases 
4.39 The premature mortality rate from cardio-vascular disease considered preventable 

is a little higher than London and England at 47.7 deaths per 100,000 population. 
The London and England rates are 46.2 and 46.7 respectively. However rates have 
been reducing over the years (see Figure 4.15) and this is likely due more timely high 
quality treatment, effective prescribing, and a reduction in the number of smokers. 
 
Figure 4.15: Under 75 mortality rate per 100,000 from cardiovascular disease for 
Hammersmith and Fulham, London and England from 2001 to 2015 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

Page 129



 

29 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

4.40 Within the borough, Fulham Broadway has the highest standardised mortality rate 
for Circulatory Diseases at 144.1. This is substantially higher than Palace Riverside 
that has the lowest rate of 63.2 (Figure 4.16). 
 
Figure 4.16: Under 75 mortality rate from circulatory disease by ward in Hammersmith 
and Fulham, London and England from 2013 to 2015 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
4.41 Currently 47.5 per 100,000 

residents of the borough die 
prematurely each year from 
coronary heart disease and 15.5 
people per 100,000 die prematurely 
of a stroke. These rates are 
relatively similar to national figures. 
 

Cancer 
4.42 The overall prevalence of new cases of all cancers is 1.6% for the Hammersmith 

and Fulham GP registered patients. This is lower than regional and national figures 
of 1.7% and 2.4% respectively. This may be a reflection of poor early diagnosis of 
cancer where chances of survival much poorer in areas of deprivation. 

 
4.43 Despite this the premature mortality rate, i.e. under 75 years, is higher than regional 

and national figures. Currently 145.7 per 100,000 residents of the borough die 
prematurely each year from cancer, compared with 129.7 for London and 138.8 for 
England. Improvements in lifestyles, as well as more accessible and high quality 
care, have resulted in a modest decline in the last decade in the early death rate for 
cancer (see Figure 4.17). 

 

 

NHS Health Checks 

Pharmacies may provide NHS Health Checks for 
people aged 40-74 years. This includes 
providing a full vascular risk assessment and 
along with advice and support to help reduce the 
risk of heart disease, strokes, diabetes and 
obesity. 

Page 130



 

30 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 4.17: Under 75 mortality rate from cancer for Hammersmith and Fulham, London 
and England from 2001 to 2015 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
4.44 Within the borough, North End has the highest standardised mortality rate of 120.1 

(see figure 4.18). 
 

Figure 4.18: Under 75 mortality rate from cancer by ward in Hammersmith and Fulham, 
London and England from 2013 to 2015 

 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
 
4.45 Hammersmith and Fulham CCG have achieved the 7th lowest breast screening 

coverage and 4th lowest cervical screening coverage in London. Population diversity, 
migration and high use of private services create a constant challenge to 
improvement. Survival from breast and lung cancer is higher in the borough than the 
London average. There are 1-3 deaths a year from cervical cancer in the borough. 

Page 131



 

31 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 

Respiratory disease 
4.46 Hammersmith and Fulham is the 6th worst borough for rate of deaths caused by 

respiratory diseases considered preventable. 24 per 100,000 residents die each 
year from preventable respiratory disease, significantly higher than England at 18.1 
people per 100,000. 
 

4.47 The rates of deaths by respiratory disease considered preventable have increased in 
the last few years. 
 
Figure 4.19: Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease for Hammersmith and 
Fulham, London and England from 2001 to 2015 

 

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
 

4.48 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is a highly preventable cause of 
morbidity and mortality that sits within respiratory diseases. Diagnosis rates for 
COPD are low in the borough, yet Hammersmith and Fulham has high rates of 
hospital admissions for COPD. 15.6 patients per 100 COPD diagnosed patients are 
admitted each year, significantly higher than England at 12.6. 
 

4.49 23.3 per 100,000 people were diagnosed with tuberculosis (TB) between 2013 and 
2015. The rate of TB has been declining in Hammersmith and Fulham in recent 
years, remaining lower than London in the last decade. 

 

Early detection and diagnosis of cancers 

Pharmacists can play in an important role in the early detection and diagnosis of cancer.  

Raising awareness and talking to patients about signs and symptoms of different cancers 
in public health campaigns can result in earlier diagnosis and therefore better treatment 
options for patients. 

Page 132



 

32 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Risk Factors for mortality and morbidity 

Risk Factors in Adults 
4.50 Smoking is the leading cause for 

preventable death in the world.  
Hammersmith and Fulham has the 4th 
highest prevalence of smokers in 
London. 19.6% of adult residents smoke 
in the borough, this is a significantly 
higher rate than England. 

 
4.51 The proportion of adults who are overweight or obese is lower than England and 

ranks the 5th lowest of the London Boroughs. Yet this figure is still high. 51.6% of 
adults are overweight or obese. Obesity is recognised as a major determinant of 
premature mortality and avoidable ill 
health. The highest rates of obesity 
are in College Park and Old Oak and 
Wormholt and White City where one 
fifth of adult residents are obese. 

 
4.52 One fifth of adults residing in the 

borough are considered physically 
inactive, meaning they engage in less than 30 minutes of moderate physical activity 
per week. People who are physically inactive increase their chances of 
cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke. People who have a 
physically active lifestyle reduce their risk of obesity, diabetes, osteoporosis and 
some cancers and improved mental health. 

 
4.53 Alcohol consumption contributes to morbidity and 

mortality from a diverse range of conditions. 47.2 per 
100,000 deaths are alcohol-related and Hammersmith 
& Fulham has the 2nd highest admissions for alcohol-
related conditions. 664 people per 100,000 residents 
were admitted to hospital in 2015/16. Modelled 
estimates indicate that binge drinking is higher among 
the more affluent wards of the borough (see figure 
4.20). 

 
 

 

Stop Smoking Services 

Pharmacies may provide proactive 
promotion of smoking cessation through to 
provision of full NHS stop smoking 
programme. 

Weight Management Services 

Pharmacies can provide services that can 
promote healthy eating and physical activity, 
weight management services for adults who 
are overweight or obese or brief interventions 
to signpost patients towards increasing their 
physical activity and improving their diet. 

Alcohol Misuse Services 

Pharmacies may provide 
Alcohol misuse services that 
include proactive brief 
interventions and advice on 
alcohol with referrals to 
specialist services for problem 
drinkers. 

Page 133



 

Figure 4.20: % of adults (16+) who binge drink in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2015  

 
Source: PHE, 2016 

 
4.54 Of those registered with a GP in Hammersmith 

and Fulham, 1.2% are known to have a 
Severe Mental Illness. This is markedly 
higher than London (1.03%) and England 
(0.83%) which is likely due to good 
identification and reporting by GPs in the 
borough. 
 

4.55 In a GP patient survey, 5.9% of the GP population in Hammersmith and Fulham 
reported having a long-term mental health problem. This is 6th highest rate in 
London. 

 
4.56 Currently 998 residents of Hammersmith & Fulham are diagnosed with HIV. In 2014-

16, 29.3% of cases were diagnosed late, compared to the London average of 33.7%. 
Late diagnosis carries with it an increased risk of poor health and death and it 
increases the chances of onward transmission. 

 
4.57 Of those who are tested for Sexually 

Transmitted Infections (STIs), 4.4% tested 
positively for an infection (excluding chlamydia) 
in Hammersmith and Fulham; this is significantly 
higher than the national rate. Rates of chlamydia 
detection are slightly better than the national 
average. Hammersmith and Fulham have the 4th 
highest rates of Genital Warts diagnosis and the 
2nd highest in London for Genital Herpes 
diagnosis. 

Sexual Health Services 

Pharmacies can provide Sexual 
health services such as 
emergency hormonal 
contraception services; condom 
distribution; pregnancy testing and 
advice; chlamydia screening and 
treatment; other sexual health 
screening, including syphilis, HIV 
and gonorrhoea. 

Medicine adherence  

Medicines are a key component of 
mental health care and pharmacists have 
the expertise required to improve 
adherence to medication support the 
reduction of inappropriate use of 
medicines. 

Page 134



 

34 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
 

Risk Factors in Older Adults 
4.58 The proportion of older population is 

rising and older people are the biggest 
and costliest users of healthcare.  The 
biggest costs are for those with complex 
needs, long-term conditions, and 
functional, sensory or cognitive 
impairment including dementia. 

 
4.59 Health-related quality of life gives an 

indication of levels of good health, 
wellbeing and independence. This is 
measured using a health status score in 
the over 65s and looks at Mobility, Self-
care, Usual activities, Pain / discomfort 
and Anxiety / depression. In 
Hammersmith and Fulham the average 
score is 0.739, slightly higher than the 
national norm of 0.733. 

 
4.60 Loneliness and isolation of older people is a risk factor for ill health and premature 

mortality. People who are lonely and social-isolated are more likely to need 
healthcare resources and long-term care.  Over a third (37.4%) of Hammersmith and 
Fulham’s older generation (65+) are living alone and are at risk of loneliness and 
isolation.  

 
4.61 The number of people living with 

dementia is increasing. 
Approximately 1200 people are 
living with dementia in 
Hammersmith and Fulham, half of 
whom are over 85 years of age. 
This is predicted to rise to 1560 by 
year 2025. This can have an 
impact on levels of paid and unpaid health and care provision. 

 
4.62 Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions and a major cause of 

loss of independence, disability or death in older people. Hammersmith and Fulham 
has the second highest rate of emergency admissions due to falls in the over 65s. 
1540 per 100,000 emergency admissions were due to falls in 2015/16, significantly 
higher than London and England rates. 

Health Champions and Health Trainers  

The ‘walk-in’ nature of pharmacies mean 
that they are ideally placed to offer 
opportunistic screening and brief 
interventions for better health and 
wellbeing.  

Health Champions and Health Trainers 
support people to make positive health 
behaviour changes on topics such as 
smoking, alcohol, weight management, 
sexual health, physical activity and mental 
health.  

Healthy Champions and Health Trainers 
situated within pharmacies can bridge that 
gap between healthcare and the community 
and voluntary services that can support it. 

Dementia Friendly pharmacies 

Pharmacies can be a very important place that 
people living with dementia need to access. 
Dementia friendly pharmacies can support people 
living with dementia to feel confident and 
empowered to do things that they have always 
been able to do such as collecting a prescription. 

Page 135



 

35 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
Risk Factors in Children and Young People 

4.63 The younger working population are usually considered to be low users of the 
healthcare system. However, pharmacies may provide enhanced services such as 
immunisations, minor ailment services and sexual health services which may be 
more accessible than GPs and secondary care and also reduce the demand on 
these services. 

 
4.64 Hammersmith and Fulham has the highest percentage in London (16.4%) of 15 year 

olds with a long-term illness, disability or medical condition diagnosed by a 
doctor. Young people from the more deprived areas are more likely to report poor 
health and this can have a significant impact on overall life chances. 

 
4.65 There were 41 under 18 conceptions in the borough in 2015, slightly lower than our 

regional and national comparators. Teenage mothers nationally are three times as 
likely to suffer from post-natal depression, are less likely to breastfeed and more 
likely to smoke. 

 
4.66 Based on the 2015/16 latest GCSE figures pupils in Hammersmith and Fulham are 

doing well. 60.8% of pupils achieved 5A*-C GCSEs, an improvement from the 
previous year and significantly better than the national percentage of 57.8%. 

 
4.67 Childhood obesity is on the rise and can have significant impact on health outcomes. 

A child who is overweight or obese can have increased blood lipids, glucose 
intolerance, Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, increases in liver enzymes associated 
with fatty liver, exacerbation of conditions such as asthma and psychological 
problems such as social isolation, low self-esteem, teasing and bullying. 

 
4.68 One out of every 5 Reception age children (21.3%) and 34.6% of Year 6 children are 

overweight or obese. These figures, although high, are lower than the regional and 
national rates. 

 
4.69 Sands End is the ward with the highest rates of overweight and obesity in the 

borough (see Figure 4.21). 

Medicine Use Reviews and the New Medicine Service  

Pharmacy services play an important part of the long-term conditions pathway by ensuring that 
medicines are used effectively and safely and therefore improving outcomes for patients.  

Pharmacies can support patients, clinicians and carers to achieve the maximum benefit from 
medicines whilst reducing the risks associated with treatment. 

Targeted Medicine Use Reviews and the New Medicine Service can encourage patients to 
adhere to their prescribed regimen, help to manage medicines related risks and reduce re- 
admissions to hospital. It is recommended that patients with long-term conditions with multiple 
medicines should be reviewed at regular intervals and older adults who are at risk of falls 
should have their medicines reviewed. 

Page 136



 

36 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 4.21: % of children who are overweight or obese in Reception and Year 6 by 
ward in Hammersmith and Fulham 

  
Reception Year 

 

Year 6 

 

Source: PHE, 2016 
 
 
 
4.70 Dental decay is a highly preventable 

disease, caused by a high-sugar diet. 
92.4% of 3 year olds are free from 
dental decay. This is significantly 
better than national figures. 

 
4.71 Vaccinations help prevent serious illness in 

children, especially potentially severe disease 
such as meningitis, whooping cough, and 
tetanus. Yet Hammersmith and Fulham has 
poorer coverage rates than the rest of England in 
all childhood vaccinations for which there is data. 

 
4.72 Substance misuse in young people is 

linked to mental health issues such as 
depression, disruptive behaviour and 
suicide. It is also linked to adverse 
experiences and behaviours such as 
truancy, exclusion from school, 
homelessness, time in care and serious 
or frequent offending. 66.6 per 100,000 
hospital admissions for 15-24 year olds in 

Dental Health Promotion 

Due to the frequency of their contact with the public 
and in promoting health and wellbeing, pharmacists 
can be effective in raising awareness of oral health. 

Vaccinations 

Due to better flexibility of opening 
hours and convenient locations, 
pharmacies can improve uptake of 
some vaccinations. 

Substance misuse services 

Pharmacies may provide needle and syringe 
services; supervised consumption of 
medicines to treat addiction, e.g. methadone; 
Hepatitis testing and Hepatitis B and C 
vaccination; HIV testing; provision of naloxone 
to drug users for use in emergency overdose 
situations. 

Page 137



 

37 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Hammersmith and Fulham (2013/14 to 2015/16) are due to substance misuse; this is 
lower than England figures. 

Summary of demographics and health needs of Hammersmith and Fulham 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham is a small and very densely populated borough, located in the 
centre west of London. It is most densely populated in the Askew and Addison wards.  
 
Hammersmith and Fulham has a large proportion of young working age residents and slightly 
more women than men. It is expected that there will be a large increase of older adults over 
the next 20 years. 
 
Nearly half of the population was born abroad and nearly one-third identify as being from Black 
or Minority Ethic groups, the highest proportion of whom live in northern wards of College Park 
and Old Oak and Wormholt and White City. 4.9% and 4.2% of residents do not speak English 
well or at all in College Park and Old Oak and Wormholt and White City respectively. 
 
There are vast differences in deprivation and life expectancy levels. College Park and Old Oak 
and Wormholt and White City have the highest levels of deprivation and the lowest life 
expectancy for males, whereas deprivation levels are markedly lower in Palace Riverside. 
Female life expectancy varies across the borough. 
 
Unemployment, fuel poverty and child poverty is high in the borough. 
 
Circulatory diseases and cancers are the biggest causes in the differences in life expectancy 
between the most and least deprived. Overall mortality rates for these diseases have been 
declining in the last five years. Premature mortality is highest in Shepard’s Bush Green. 
 
Although smoking rates are declining through the years, nearly one in five adults in 
Hammersmith and Fulham smoke, this is significantly higher than national figures. 
Over half adult residents are overweight or obese and only one-fifth are considered physically 
active. 
 
Alcohol-related deaths and hospital admissions is very high in Hammersmith and Fulham. 
Binge drinking is highest in the southern wards of Munster and River Palace. 
 
Rates of excess weight in children are very high although lower than regional and national 
figures. The coverage of childhood vaccinations is low. 
 
The proportion of adults diagnosed with a mental illness is high in comparison to London and 
England, this may be a result of successful efforts by GPs to identify mental illness. 
 
Diagnosed HIV is high in Hammersmith and Fulham, nearly one-third of which are diagnosed 
late. Detection of other STIs is good in comparison to other London boroughs. 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham has the second highest rate of emergency admissions due to falls 
in the over 65s. One-third of older adults are living alone and are at risk of isolation and 
loneliness. 

Page 138



 

Chapter 5 - Patient and Public 
Engagement and the Protected 
Characteristics 

5.1 This section discusses the results of the patient and public engagement that was 
carried out from September to October 2017 in Hammersmith and Fulham. We also 
examine the health needs specific to protected characteristics and vulnerable groups 
that we have engaged during this process and the implications they may have on the 
PNA. 

 
5.2  A “protected characteristic” means a characteristic listed in section 149(7) of the 

Equality Act 2010. There are also certain vulnerable groups that experience a higher 
risk of poverty and social exclusion than the general population. These groups often 
face difficulties that can lead to further social exclusion, such as low levels of 
education and unemployment or underemployment. 

 
5.3 We used a community pharmacy questionnaire to engage with residents aim at 

understanding their use and experience of local pharmacies. The PNA Task and 
Finish Group and the communications team of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham approved this questionnaire for use with the local population. This 
questionnaire is available as Appendix B in this document. 

 
5.4 The engagement plan and methods of dissemination of the survey are referenced in 

Appendix C. Two pharmacies agreed to host our community researcher to carry out 
engagement. 
 
Results of the Community Pharmacy Questionnaire 

5.5 A total of 135 usable questionnaires were collected between 23rd Sept 2017 and 20th 
October 2017. 

 
5.6 The main sources of the questionnaires were outreach at community pharmacies 

Community Champions’ outreach at Addison and World’s End and some surveys that 
were filled out online. 
 
 
Use of Pharmacies 

5.7 76% of the sample population visit the pharmacy monthly and 16% weekly. People 
most use the pharmacy at weekdays between 12-2pm. 2 pm to 5 pm and 9 am to 12 
pm were other popular times of use. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



 

39 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 5.1: Times and frequency of use of Hammersmith and Fulham pharmacies 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
5.8 62.2% of the sample population were happy with the overall service they received 

from the pharmacies. Good location was the main reason for respondents to use a 
particular pharmacy. Friendly staff, opening times and knowledgeable staff were 
other reasons people liked the pharmacies they were using. 

Figure 5.2: Reasons why people use their pharmacy most often 

 
 
5.9 Top three pharmacy services used by respondents were obtaining prescription 

medication, repeat prescriptions and over the counter medication. 
 
5.10 The top three services respondents would use if provided were home delivery and 

prescription collection service, health checks including blood glucose, cholesterol, 
blood pressure and BMI (height and weight), and new medicines service/medicine 

Weekly 
16% 

Monthly 
76% 

Yearly 
7% 

Less than 
yearly 

1% 

Frequency of Use 

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 
60 
70 
80 

W
ee

kd
ay

 

W
ee

ke
nd

 

6a
m

 - 
9a

m
 

9a
m

 - 
12

pm
 

12
pm

 - 
2p

m
 

2p
m

 - 
5p

m
 

5p
m

 - 
9p

m
 

9p
m

 - 
6a

m
 

Date and Time of Use 

Page 140



 

40 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

use reviews. Advice from pharmacists on healthy lifestyles was fourth on the list of 
services respondents will use if available. 
 

5.11 Very few respondents left feedback in the open text boxes (17). The main 
suggestions were to reduce waiting times in pharmacies and to have longer opening 
hours. 

Figure 5.3: Word cloud of feedback from respondents on services in pharmacies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Protected Characteristics  
Age 

5.12 The current age profile and projections are discussed in the chapter on population 
statistics. 

 
5.13 Pharmacies provide essential services to all age groups such as dispensing, 

promotion of healthy lifestyles and signposting patients to other healthcare providers. 
Pharmacies providing services to vulnerable adults and children are required to be 
aware of the safeguarding guidance and local safeguarding arrangements. 

 
5.14 The single biggest age group in the sample population was the 31-40 year olds 

(30%) and 41-50 year olds was the second biggest group (28%). 18% respondents 
were in the 60+ age group and about 7% were 18-30 year old. 

Figure 5.4: Age profile of survey respondents 

 

Page 141



 

41 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
 
5.15 80% of Over 60 respondents in our sample are happy with the overall services 

provided at their pharmacies. Good location and friendly staff are factors important to 
the sample as a whole and there is no age variation. 

 
5.16 Respondents under the age of 60 are more likely to use healthy lifestyle services at 

the pharmacy if they are made available. 
 
5.17 Based on the sample that we have surveyed, no gaps in the provision and access of 

pharmaceutical services have been identified. 
 

Gender and gender reassignment 
5.18 87 of our respondents were female, 45 men and 03 preferred not to disclose their 

gender. Gender reassignment was not captured on the questionnaire (Figure 5.5). 

Figure 5.5: Breakdown survey respondents by Gender 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.19 75.6% men said they were happy overall with the service being provided by the 

pharmacy they use; overall happiness with their pharmacy was lower in this sample 
for women at 57.5%. 
 

5.20 A few female respondents mentioned reduced waiting times and longer opening 
hours as areas of improvement for pharmacies. 

 
5.21 We found no significant differences in the patterns of use between genders and no 

gaps in the provision and access of services from pharmacies relevant to gender. 
 
Ethnicity 

5.22 Out of the 135 respondents, 80 identified as White and 48 respondents identified as 
belonging to Black and other ethnic minority groups. White English was the single 
largest ethnic group followed by Asian. When compared to the general population in 
the borough, there was an over representation of Asians in our sample. 

Male 
34% 

Female 
66% 

Page 142



 

42 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

Figure 5.6: Comparison of breakdown of Ethnicity between ONS mid-year estimates 
and Patient and Public Survey respondents 

 

 
 

5.23 The experience and way in which pharmacies were used did not differ significantly. 
Respondents in the BME groups tend to use the pharmacy more for their spouses, 
children and parents as compared to those in the White ethnic groups. 

 
5.24 The questionnaire has not identified any gaps in access to the provision of 

pharmaceutical services for the different ethnic groups. 
 

Religion and belief 
5.25 Hammersmith and Fulham has a diverse population as noted in previous chapters 

and multiple religions are practiced within the borough. 56% of the respondents 
identified as Christian and 23% as Muslim (see Figure 5.6). 
 
Figure 5.6: Breakdown of religion of survey respondents 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No 
religion 

12% 

Christian 
56% Hindu 

1% 

Muslim 
23% 

Sikh 
1% 

Prefer not to say 
5% 

Other (please 
specify) 

2% 

Page 143



 

43 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

5.26 No differences were noted in the experience and use of the pharmacies based on 
religion and relief and no gaps have been identified in the provision of services with 
respect to faith or belief. 

 
Employment Status 

5.27 In our sample, 51 respondents work full or part-time, 52 are unemployed, 20 are 
retired and three are students (see Figure 5.7). 

Figure 5.7: Breakdown of employment status of survey respondents 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.28 No significant differences are noted in the use and overall experience of local 

pharmacies by respondents who are working and those who are unemployed or 
retired. Therefore no gaps in the provision of pharmacy services were identified. 

 
Disability and Long-Term Conditions 

5.29 All pharmacies must comply with the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (now 
superseded by the Equality Act 2010). Pharmacy contractors may have assessed the 
extent to which it would be appropriate to install hearing loops, or provide access 
ramps wide aisles to allow wheelchair access. Accessible information formats are 
alternatives to printed information, used by blind and partially sighted people, or 
others with a print impairment. 

 
5.30 Eighteen respondents said they had a disability, 55 respondents had a long-term 

condition and 16 identified as having both. The most common long-term conditions 
reported by respondents were diabetes, blood pressure and asthma; either 
individually or as co-morbidities. 

 
5.31 Monthly use of pharmacies is higher in the group that identify themselves as having a 

disability or long-term condition. Other than that, there are no significant differences 
in how respondents with disability or long-term conditions access or use their 
pharmacies and no gaps in the provision of pharmacy services were identified for 
people with long-term conditions and disabilities. 

Work full-time 
31% 

Work part-time 
9% 

Student 
2% 

Unemployed 
40% 

Retired 
15% 

Prefer not to say 
3% 

Page 144



 

44 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2015-18 – Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

 
Sexual orientation 

5.32 130 respondents identified as heterosexual, two as bisexual and one as homosexual.  
Due to data protection no comments can be made on the use of pharmacies by 
people of different sexual orientations. No gaps in the provision of pharmacy services 
were identified for people with different sexual orientations. 

 
Marital Status 

5.33 Sixty-three respondents identified themselves as being married and 57 as single. Six 
respondents said they were co-habiting and three were in a civil partnership. 

 
5.34 Those who identified as single tend to use the pharmacy less after 5pm as compared 

to those who are married. Other than that, there were no significant differences noted 
in the use and experience of those who are single and those who are married, co-
habiting or in a civil partnership. No gaps in the provision of pharmacy services were 
identified for this protected characteristic. 

 
Pregnancy and maternity 

5.35 Our sample had eight respondents who were pregnant or breastfeeding. Qualitative 
information captured through the questionnaire’s open text boxes did not identify any 
comments on services relating to feedback or use of these services and no gaps in 
the provision of pharmacy services were identified for this protected characteristic. 
 

5.36 The patient and public engagement undertaken in Hammersmith and Fulham as part 
of the PNA 2018-2021 process, shows that the provision of pharmaceutical services 
is sufficient to meet the current needs of the population. 

Page 145



 

Summary of the Patient and Public Engagement and the Protected 
Characteristics 

Patient and public engagement was undertaken to understand how people use their 
pharmacies, what they use them for and their views of the pharmacy provision. It included an 
exploration of the health needs specific to protected characteristics and vulnerable groups.  
 
Findings showed that generally people are happy with their local pharmacies because of 
their good locations and opening times and friendly and knowledgeable staff. Respondents 
mostly use the pharmacies for obtaining prescription medication, repeat prescriptions and 
obtaining over the counter medication.  

1.1  
1.2 The top three services respondents would use if provided were health checks and new 

medicines service or medicine use reviews.  

Suggestions for improvement included reducing waiting times and providing longer opening 
hours. 

Overall findings show that the pharmacy provision is sufficient for supplying a 
necessary service with no gaps in the borough. 

Page 146



 

46 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Chapter 6- Access to 
Pharmaceutical Essential Services 
 

6.2 All pharmacy contractors must provide Essential services, but they can choose 
whether they wish to provide Advanced, Enhanced or Locally Commissioned 
services. All pharmacies are required to deliver and comply with the specifications for 
all essential services, these are: 

• Dispensing 
• Repeat dispensing 
• Disposal of waste medicines 
• Support for self-care 
• Public health 
• Signposting 
• Clinical governance 

 
6.3 This chapter assesses of the adequacy of provision of essential services by 

considering: 
• Distribution and choice 
• Geographical distribution of pharmacies, within and outside the borough 
• Distribution in relation to health services and transport links 
• Opening hours 
• Accessibility 

 

Pharmacy Distribution and Choice 
6.4 There are currently 42 pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham as of October 2017. 

These have been marked on Figure 6.1, listed in Appendix D. 
 

6.5 My Pharmacy (ODS code FWH06) is listed in the NHS England pharmaceutical list 
as being part of Kensington & Chelsea though geographically it lies within 
Hammersmith & Fulham borough. For the purposes of this PNA, it has been 
considered as part of Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 
6.6 Marcus Jones Pharmacy lies within Hammersmith & Fulham but for at least the last 

two PNAs has been included in Ealing borough’s PNA rather than Hammersmith & 
Fulham’s as its services are commissioned by Ealing. For the purpose of this PNA it 
has been considered as part of Hammersmith & Fulham as it lies geographically in 
the border. However, since it was not included in the contractor survey the PNA is 
not able to analyse the services that the pharmacy offers. 
 

6.7 There are 22 community pharmacies per 100,000 resident population within 
Hammersmith & Fulham (based on a 2018 population estimate of 186,682). This is 
similar to both the London and England averages (General Pharmaceutical Services 
in England 2006/07 to 2015/16). 
 

Page 147



 

47 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

6.8 The PNA examines the geographical accessibility of pharmaceutical services and 
has hence used the postcode of the pharmacy to consider which borough the 
pharmacy belongs to. Due to use of a 500m radius buffer, the services that these 
pharmacies provide are still taken account of for the Hammersmith & Fulham PNA. 

 
6.9 There are 17 pharmacies outside the Hammersmith & Fulham located within 500m of 

its border. These have been included in the pharmacies shown in Figure 6.1 and also 
in Appendix D. 
 

6.10 The geographical distribution of the pharmacies by electoral ward is shown in Figure 
6.1 and Table 6.1. As seen, two wards, Palace Riverside and Ravenscourt, do not 
have pharmacies located in them. 
 

6.11 As seen on Figure 6.1, a 500m radius buffer has been drawn from the centre of each 
pharmacy postcode. This shows that most of the borough is within 500m of at least 
one pharmacy. The small areas not within a 500m radius of a pharmacy are only a 
short distance further from a pharmacy either within or outside the borough. 

 
6.12 There is one distance selling pharmacy based within Hammersmith & Fulham 

(Pharmacy On Wheels). There are no dispensing doctors, mail order or internet 
based pharmacies in the borough. 

 
6.13 As per the contractor survey responses, 13 pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham 

have a Local Pharmaceutical Service (LPS) contract with NHS England as of 
October 2017.  Four pharmacies are entitled to Pharmacy Access Scheme 
payments. 
 

Table 6.1: Distribution of pharmacies by ward 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Shepherd's Bush 
Green 11 Parsons Green and 

Walham 2 

Town 4 Wormholt and White 
City 2 

Hammersmith 
Broadway 4 Fulham Broadway 2 

Fulham Reach 3 Munster 2 
Addison 3 North End 2 
College Park and Old 
Oak 3 Sands End 1 

Askew 2 Avonmore and 
Brook Green 1 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 

 
 

Page 148



 

48 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Figure 6.1: Distribution of pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham and within 500 
meters of the borough boundaries, with 500 meter radius coverage 

  

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 

Pharmacy Distribution in relation to Primary Care 
6.14 NHS Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group was set up in 2013 in 

response to the Health and Social Care Act of 2012. It is made up of 31 GP member 
practices and is responsible for the planning and commissioning of health services 
for people living in Hammersmith and Fulham or registered with a Hammersmith and 
Fulham GP practice. 
 

Page 149



 

49 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

6.15 Its aim is to ensure that the highest quality of care is delivered by organisations who 
are best qualified to do so for the diverse needs of its patients, carers and public and 
at the best value for money. 
 

6.16 Figure 6.2 shows that there is a pharmacy within 500 meters of all GP practices in 
the borough except Hammersmith and Fulham Centres for Health which is within half 
a mile of a pharmacy. These are displayed in Figure 6.2. 
 
Figure 6.2. GP practices in Hammersmith & Fulham and 500 meter pharmacy coverage, 
2017 

 
 

Source: Ordnance Survey, NHS England and Contractor Survey, 2017  
 

Page 150



 

50 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Pharmacy distribution in relation to Dentists 
6.17 There are 28 dental practices in City of Hammersmith & Fulham area.  Figure 6.3 

shows that there is a pharmacy within 500 meters of all dentists in the borough. 
 
Figure 6.3. Dentists in Hammersmith & Fulham and 500 meter pharmacy coverage, 
2017 

 
 

Source: Ordnance Survey, NHS England and Contractor Survey, 2017  
 

Acute Care, Mental Health Care and Community Health Services 
6.18 The main secondary care provider for Hammersmith & Fulham population is Imperial 

College hospitals (Hammersmith Hospital and Charing Cross Hospital).  West 
London Mental Health NHS Trust provides mental health services. 
 

6.19 Central London Community Healthcare (CLCH) is the NHS community healthcare 
provider for Hammersmith and Fulham.  It provides a range of services including 
adult community nursing, children and family services, rehabilitation, End of Life care 
and long-term condition management. 
 

6.20 Parson’s Green walk-in centre (SW6 4UL) is provided by CLCH.  It offers treatments 
for a range of conditions including:  

• minor ear, nose and throat problems 
• sprains and strains 
• wound infections 
• minor burns and scalds 
• minor head injuries 
• skin conditions 

Page 151



 

51 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

• minor respiratory conditions such as cough 
• mild abdominal pain or discomfort 
• insect and animal bites and stings 
• minor eye injuries 
• minor injuries to the back, shoulder and chest 

 
Transport Networks 

6.21 The local population is not bound by electoral ward or borough boundaries when 
accessing pharmaceutical services. The excellent travel infrastructure available 
within central London places many more pharmacies, both inside and outside the 
borough, within convenient access to our local population. 
 
Altogether there are 15 tube and rail stations in Hammersmith and Fulham, most of 
of which are within 500 meters of a pharmacy (see Figure 6.4), apart from Imperial 
Wharf, Putney Bridge and Ravenscourt Park which are within one mile of a 
pharmacy. 

 
Figure 6.4 Transport links and pharmacy coverage 

 

Source: Contractor Survey, Transport for London and NHS England, 2017 

 
 

Page 152



 

52 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

6.22 Six rail and underground stations in the borough are wheelchair accessible; these are 
Fulham Broadway, Wood Lane, Hammersmith, Shepherd’s Bush, Barons Court and 
Imperial Wharf. All of these stations, with the exception of Imperial Wharf National 
Rail Station, are within 500 meters of a pharmacy. These are shown in Figure 6.5. 
 
Figure 6.5 Tube stations that are wheelchair accessible and pharmacy coverage 

 

Source: Contractor Survey, Transport for London and NHS England, 2017 

 
Parking 

6.23 Only four of the 39 pharmacies that responded have free car parking. Thirty-four 
have paid car parking nearby. Twenty-nine pharmacies have disabled parking close 
to the premises. All major A roads are within 500 meters of a pharmacy (see Figure 
6.4). 
 

Opening times 
6.24 Pharmacy contracts with NHS England stipulate the core hours during which each 

pharmacy must remain open. A pharmacy may stay open longer than the stipulated 
core opening hours, these are called supplementary hours. 
 

Page 153



 

53 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

6.25 Opening times were obtained from NHS England in August 2017. Additionally, 
marketing entry updates to the NHS England pharmaceutical list were reflected on 
the original list. Opening times were also collected as a part of the pharmacy 
contractor survey. 
 

6.26 This PNA has used the core and supplementary hours reported by pharmacies from 
the contractor survey to produce the figures below. For pharmacies that did not 
respond and for pharmacies in surrounding boroughs, we have used the opening 
times as held by NHS England on October 2017. 
 

6.27 NHS England has just one 100-hour pharmacies (core) on their list for Hammersmith 
& Fulham; Boots in Fulham Broadway Retail Centre. 
 

6.28 Eight pharmacies are open before 9am on weekdays within the borough with a 
further five open in boroughs around Hammersmith & Fulham within 500m outside 
the border. These are presented in Figure 6.6 and Table 6.2. 
 
Figure 6.6: Pharmacies that are open before 9am on a weekday 

 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 
Table 6.2: Pharmacies open before 9am on weekdays 
Pharmacy Address Ward 

Boots Unit 7 Fulham Broadway Retail Centre Parsons Green and 
Walham 

Fontain Pharmacy 290 Munster Road Munster 
Boots 5-6 The Broadway, W12 Shopping 

Centre 
Addison 

Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd Richford Gate Primary Care Centre Hammersmith 

Page 154



 

54 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Broadway 
Tesco Pharmacy 180 Shepherds Bush Road Avonmore and Brook 

Green 
Superdrug Pharmacy 65-69 King Street Hammersmith 

Broadway 
Boots 41-43 King Street  Hammersmith 

Broadway 
Boots Hammersmith 
Broadway 

29-30 Centre West Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 
6.29 There are seven pharmacies still open after 7pm on weekdays with a further four in 

other boroughs within 500m of Hammersmith & Fulham (see Figure 6.7 and Table 
6.3). 
 
Figure 6.7: Pharmacies that are open after 7pm on weekdays 

 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 
Table 6.3: Pharmacies closing after 7pm 
Trading Name Address Ward 
Boots Unit 7 Fulham Broadway Retail 

Centre 
Parsons Green and 
Walham 

Fontain Pharmacy 290 Munster Road Munster 

Boots Ariel Way, Westfield London Shepherd's Bush 
Green 

Boots 5-6 The Broadway, W12 Shopping 
Centre 

Addison 

Tesco Pharmacy 180 Shepherds Bush Road Avonmore and Brook 
Green 

Page 155



 

55 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Boots 41-43 King Street  Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Boots Hammersmith 
Broadway 

29-30 Centre West Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 
6.30 The vast majority of the pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham are open on 

Saturday (40/42). A further 15 outside the borough but within 500m of Hammersmith 
& Fulham are open on Saturday (Figure 6.8 and Table 6.4). 
 

 
Figure 6.8 Pharmacies open on Saturday and 500-meter coverage  

 
Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 
Table 6.4: Pharmacies open on Saturday by ward 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Shepherd's Bush Green 10 Parsons Green and Walham 2 
Town 4 Wormholt and White City 2 
Hammersmith Broadway 4 Fulham Reach 2 
College Park and Old Oak 3 Munster 2 
Addison 3 North End 2 
Fulham Broadway 2 Sands End 1 
Askew 2 Avonmore and Brook Green 1 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 

6.31 There are nine pharmacies open on a Sunday within the borough with four more 
open in boroughs around Hammersmith & Fulham within 500m of the border (Figure 
6.9, Table 6.5). 
 

Figure 6.9: Pharmacies open on a Sunday and their 500 meter coverage 

Page 156



 

56 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 
Table 6.5: Pharmacies open on Sunday by ward 
Trading Name Address Ward 

Boots Unit 7 Fulham Broadway Retail 
Centre 

Parsons Green and 
Walham 

Boots 322-324 North End Road Fulham Broadway 
Fontain Pharmacy 290 Munster Road Munster 
Boots Uk Ltd Ariel Way, Westfield London Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Pestle And Mortar 388 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Boots 5-6 The Broadway, W12 Shopping 

Centre 
Addison 

Tesco Pharmacy 180 Shepherds Bush Road Avonmore and Brook 
Green 

Boots 41-43 King Street  Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Boots Hammersmith Broadway 29-30 Centre West Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 

6.32 Overall there is good pharmacy coverage across the borough, however there are 
gaps for accessible pharmacies in the evenings and early mornings in the 
northernmost and southernmost parts of the borough. 
 
Appliance contractors 

6.33 Appliance contractors provide services to people who need appliances such as 
stoma and incontinence care aids, trusses, hosiery, surgical stockings and dressings. 
They range from small sole-trader businesses to larger companies. They do not 
supply drugs. However, pharmacies and dispensing doctors can also supply 
appliances. 

Page 157



 

57 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 
6.34 There are no appliance-only contractors in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 
6.35 Twenty-four of the pharmacies that responded to the survey supply stoma care aids 

with three intending to begin within the next 12 months. 
 

6.36 Twenty-six of the pharmacies that responded to the survey supply incontinence aids 
with three others intending to begin within the next 12 months. 
 

6.37 Thirty-four of the pharmacies that responded to the survey supply dressings with an 
additional two intending to begin within the next 12 months. 
 
Communication 

6.38 Pharmacies hire staff from a variety of ethnic backgrounds and who speak a variety 
of languages. The most common languages spoken other than English in 
Hammersmith & Fulham pharmacies are Gujarati, Hindi and Arabic. 
 

6.39 The top three languages other than English spoken by residents in the borough are 
French, Arabic and Spanish.  All of these are spoken by at least one member of staff 
from a range of pharmacies across the borough. Table 6.6 lists the most common 
languages spoken by a member of staff in the pharmacies that responded to the 
survey. 
 
Table 6.6: Top 10 languages spoken by a member of staff at the pharmacies in 
Hammersmith & Fulham 

Language Number of Pharmacies 
Gujarati 23 
Hindi 18 
Arabic 16 
Urdu 9 
French 8 
Punjabi 7 
Farsi 6 
Spanish 6 
Italian 6 
Polish 5 

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 
 
Consultation Rooms 

6.40 Ideally, pharmacies should have consultation areas or rooms with wheelchair access 
in order to be able to offer a broad range of services. 
 

6.41 Thirty-six of the community pharmacies that responded to the survey reported having 
a clearly signposted private consulting room. Two pharmacies report having an 
offsite consulting room/area. 

 

Page 158



 

58 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

6.42 Thirty-seven of the pharmacies report having consulting rooms that comply with 
MUR/NMS requirements. 
 

6.43 Thirty-six pharmacies report having hand-washing facilities close to the 
consultation room. Patients have access to toilet facilities in 11 pharmacies. 
 

Disability Access 
6.44 Thirty-two of the pharmacies with a consultation room indicated that they were 

accessible to wheelchair users and one more planning for such access in the 
future. 
 

6.45 Accessible information formats are alternatives to printed information, used by blind 
and partially sighted people, or others with a print impairment. Twenty-nine 
pharmacies that responded to the survey provide printed information in large print 
format and 15 provide it in Easy Read format. Only one pharmacy within the 
borough (Globe Chemist) provides printed information in Braille. 
 

Collection and Delivery of medication 
6.46 Repeat dispensing allows patients to collect their repeat prescriptions from a 

pharmacy without having to request a new prescription from their GP. The benefits of 
repeat dispensing include reduction of medicine waste, reduction in GP practice 
workload, improved predictability of pharmacy workload and greater convenience for 
patients. Thirty-six of the pharmacies surveys reported that they offer a repeat 
prescription service. 
 

6.47 Pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham further improve access by providing delivery 
services to the local population. Twenty-three of the pharmacies surveys reported 
that they deliver dispensed medicines, free of charge on request (see Table 6.7). 
 
Table 6.7: Collection of prescriptions and delivery of medication 

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 

Information Technology 
6.48 IT can improve high quality care by enabling storage accessibility of patient records, 

electronic prescribing and improve medicines management. Twenty-nine of the 
pharmacies surveyed reported to have access to an IT system within the 

Type of collection or delivery service Number of pharmacies 
Collection of prescriptions from surgeries 37 
Delivery of dispensed medicines - free of charge on request 23 
Delivery of dispensed medicines - free of charge to selected 
patient groups only 22 

Delivery of dispensed medicines - chargeable 3 

Page 159



 

59 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

consultation room and another six more are intending one within the next 12 months. 
Five of these pharmacies have access to patient records from this IT system. 
 

6.49 Most of the surveyed pharmacies (38/42) are currently Release 2 enabled. 
 

6.50 Thirty-six pharmacies reported that they have access to Microsoft Office 
applications and 34 pharmacies have access to NHS.net email. 
 

 

Summary of necessary services: current provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 1) 
Necessary services: gaps in provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 2) 
 
Necessary services are fundamental for patients to obtain prescribed medicines in a safe 
and reliable manner. All pharmacies are required to deliver and comply with the 
specifications for all essential services. 

Dispensing NHS prescriptions, access (both location and hours of opening) and facilities 
(including provision of suitable consultation areas and disability access) were considered in 
the evaluation of essential services for this PNA. 

6.1 The Hammersmith & Fulham Health and Wellbeing Board believes that the range of 
opening hours, options for delivery of medications and the close proximity of pharmacies to 
local residents and transport facilities is sufficient for supplying a necessary 
pharmaceutical service in the borough. However there are gaps for accessible 
pharmacies in the evenings and early mornings in the northern and southern tips of 
the borough. 

 
 

Page 160



 

60 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 

Chapter 7- Advanced, Locally 
Enhanced and Locally 
Commissioned Services Provided 
by Pharmacies 
 

Categorisation of pharmaceutical services 
7.1 Pharmaceutical services in relation to PNAs include: 

• Essential services which every community pharmacy providing NHS 
pharmaceutical services must provide and is set out in their terms of service 

• Advanced services - services community pharmacy contractors and 
dispensing appliance contractors can provide subject to accreditation as 
necessary 

• Locally Enhanced Services - services commissioned locally by NHS 
England’s area teams 

• Other Locally Commissioned Services - Public Health Services 
commissioned by the Local Authorities in order to meet the needs of the 
population. 
 

7.2 The categorisation of these services into those stipulated by the PNA regulations 
(defined in Chapter 1) for Hammersmith & Fulham are summarised in Table 7.1 
below. 
 
Table 7.1: Summary of categorisation of services into those stipulated by PNA 
regulations 
 

Necessary services: current provision 
(Schedule 1, paragraph 1) 

Necessary services: gaps in provision 
(Schedule 1, paragraph 2) 

Pharmacy provision in Hammersmith and 
Fulham is sufficient for supplying a 
necessary pharmaceutical service in the 
borough. 

6.51 There are gaps in the provision of evening 
and early morning access to pharmacies in 
the northern and southern tips of the 
borough. 
 

Other relevant services: current provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 3) 

Page 161



 

61 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

• Medicine Use Review service 
• New Medicine Service 
• Appliance Use Reviews 
• Stoma Appliance Customisation Service 
• Flu Vaccination 
• NHS Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service 

Other services (Schedule 1, paragraph 5) 
 

NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Flu Vaccination 
• Minor Ailments Scheme 
• Care Home Advice service 

 

Public Health England 
Commissioned Services: 

• NHS Health Checks 
• Supervised Administration 
• Needle Exchange Services 
• Stop Smoking Services 
• Emergency Hormonal Contraception 

 

Privately provide services: 
• Weight Management Services 
• Other Sexual Health Screening and Treatment 

services 

Improvements and better access: gaps in provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 4) 
 

NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Medicines Assessment and Compliance 
• End of Life Care service 

 

Not commissioned • Alcohol Misuse services 
 

 
7.3 This chapter outlines the Other Relevant Services, Other Services and Improvements 

and better access of pharmacy services in Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 

Other Relevant Services: current provision (Schedule 1, 
paragraph 3). 
There are four services within the NHS community pharmacy contractual framework 
considered relevant. Community pharmacies can choose to provide any of these 
services as long as they meet the requirements set out in the Secretary of State 
Directions. 

Medicines Use Reviews (MURs) 
7.4 The Medicines Use Review and Prescription Intervention Service (MUR) as part of 

the community pharmacy contractual framework was the first advanced service to be 
introduced. The purpose of the MUR service is, with the patient’s agreement, to 

Page 162



 

62 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

improve their knowledge and use of medicines, through a specific consultation 
between the pharmacist and the patient. In particular, by: 

• establishing the patient’s actual use, understanding and experience of 
taking medicines 

• identifying, discussing and resolving poor or ineffective use of medicines 
• identifying side effects and drug interactions that may affect the patient’s 

compliance with the medicines prescribed for them 
• improving clinical and cost effectiveness of medicines prescribed also 

helping to reduce medicines wastage 
 

7.5 MURs improve adherence with the prescribed regimen, help to manage risks related 
to poor medicines management and therefore improve patient outcomes and reduce 
hospital admissions. 
 

7.6 Thirty-seven pharmacies in the borough that responded to survey reported providing 
MURs with two others indicating they were intending to do so in the next 12 months. 
Where one pharmacy did not complete the questionnaire NHS England data was 
used to supplement its service provision data indicating that in total 38 pharmacies in 
the borough provide an MUR service. These Pharmacies and their reach are 
displayed in Figure 7.1 and listed in Appendix D). 
 

7.7 Given the wide distribution of MUR services across the borough the Health and 
Wellbeing Board are satisfied that there is sufficient for supplying a relevant service 
with no gaps. 
 
Figure 7.1: Pharmacies that provide MURs in the Hammersmith & Fulham and their 500 
meter coverage, October 2017 

 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

Page 163



 

63 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

New Medicines Services (NMS) 
7.8 The New Medicine Service (NMS) supports patients with long-term conditions, who 

are taking a newly prescribed medicine, to help improve medicines adherence. The 
service is focused on the following patient groups and conditions: 

• asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
• type 2 diabetes 
• antiplatelet/anticoagulant therapy 
• hypertension 

 
7.9 This service is designed to improve patients’ understanding of a newly prescribed 

medicine for their long-term condition, and help them get the most from the medicine. 
 

7.10 New Medicines Service can only be provided by pharmacies only and is conducted in 
a private consultation area to ensure patient confidentiality. 
 

7.11 Thirty-five pharmacies that responded to the survey said they provide NMSs with 
another four indicating they were intending to do so in the next 12 months. One of the 
pharmacies that did not respond to the survey is listed by NHS England as being an 
NMS provider indicating that there are in fact a total of 36 pharmacies in the borough 
that provide an NMS service. These are presented in Figure 7.2 and listed in 
Appendix D. 
 

7.12 NMS are supplied widely across the borough, therefore the Health and Wellbeing 
Board are satisfied that this is sufficient for supplying a relevant service with no gaps. 
 
Figure 7.2: Pharmacies that provide NMS in Hammersmith & Fulham and their 500 
meter coverage, October 2017 

Page 164



 

64 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 

Appliance Use Reviews (AURs) 
7.13 Appliance Use Review (AUR) is another advanced service that community pharmacy 

and appliance contractors can choose to provide so long as they fulfil certain criteria. 
 

7.14 AURs can be carried out by, a pharmacist or a specialist nurse either at the 
contractor’s premises or at the patient's home. AURs help patient's to better 
understand and use their prescribed appliances by: 

• Establishing the way the patient uses the appliance and the patient's 
experience of such use 

• Identifying, discussing and assisting in the resolution of poor or ineffective use 
of the appliance by the patient 

• Advising the patient on the safe and appropriate storage of the appliance 
• Advising the patient on the safe and proper disposal of the appliances that 

are used or unwanted 
 

7.15 Currently eight of the pharmacies that responded to the survey provide AURs with 
nine intending to begin within the next 12 months (outlined in Table 7.2 and detailed 
in Appendix D). There are no appliance only contractors in Hammersmith & Fulham. 
 

7.16 Given the flexibility of how this service can be delivered, and the low volume of use, 
the Health and Wellbeing board are satisfied that the AUR service is sufficient for 
supplying a relevant service with no gaps. 

Page 165



 

65 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 
Table 7.2: Locations of AUR provision by ward in Hammersmith & Fulham, October 
2017 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 
Stoma Appliance Customisation service (SAC) 

7.17 The SAC service involves the customisation of a quantity of more than one stoma 
appliance, based on the patient's measurements or a template. The aim of the 
service is to ensure proper use and comfortable fitting of the stoma appliance and to 
improve the duration of usage, thereby reducing waste. 
 

7.18 Four of the pharmacies that responded to the survey provide SACs (outlined in Table 
7.3 and detailed in Appendix D) with 10 intending to begin the service within the next 
12 months. 
   
Table 7.3: Pharmacies that provide SAC in Hammersmith & Fulham, October 2017 
Pharmacy Address Ward 
Babylon Health Ltd 
Pharmacy 

57 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 

Lloyds Pharmacy Ltd Richford Gate Primary Care 
Centre 

Hammersmith Broadway 

Boots Hammersmith 
Broadway 

29-30 Centre West Hammersmith Broadway 

Boots The Chemist Ltd 198-200 Fulham Palace Road Fulham Reach 
 Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

 
7.1 Residents can access the SAC service either from non-pharmacy providers within 

the Borough (e.g. community health services) or from dispensing appliance 
contractors outside of the Borough. Four pharmacies is therefore sufficient to meet 
the current and future needs of this borough. 
 
Flu Vaccinations 

7.2 Flu vaccination by injection, commonly known as the "flu jab" is available every year 
on the NHS to protect certain groups who are at risk of developing potentially serious 
complications, such as: 

• anyone over the age of 65 
• pregnant women 
• children and adults with an underlying health condition (particularly long-term 

heart or respiratory disease) 
• children and adults with weakened immune systems 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Ward Number of Pharmacies 
Shepherd’s Bush Green 4 
Hammersmith Broadway 2 
Fulham Reach 1 
Town 1 

Page 166



 

66 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

7.3 GPs currently provide the majority of flu vaccinations and pharmacies can help 
improve access to this service given their convenient locations, extended opening 
hours and walk-in service. 
 

7.4 Thirty pharmacies in the borough provide flu vaccines (Figure 7.3 and Table 7.4). 
Another five pharmacies indicated that they were willing to be commissioned to offer 
the vaccination. 
 
Figure 7.3: Pharmacies that provide Flu Vaccinations in Hammersmith & Fulham and 
their 500 meter coverage, October 2017 

 

 

 
Table 7.4: Pharmacies that provide Flu Vaccinations in Hammersmith & Fulham by 
ward, October 2017 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Ward Number of 
Pharmacies 

Shepherd's Bush Green 9 Askew 1 
Town 4 Sands End 1 
Hammersmith Broadway 3 Avonmore and Brook Green 1 
Wormholt and White City 2 Parsons Green and Walham 1 
Fulham Reach 2 College Park and Old Oak 1 
Fulham Broadway 2 North End 1 
Addison 2   

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 

Page 167



 

67 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

7.5 As shown in Figure 7.3 and Table 7.4 the pharmacy provision of flu vaccination is 
easily accessible throughout the borough. The Health and Wellbeing Board believes 
that the current provision of flu vaccinations is sufficient for supplying a relevant 
service with no gaps. 
 
 
 
 

NHS Urgent Medicines Supply Advanced Service 
7.6 This is a pilot service that was set up to relieve the pressure on urgent and 

emergency care services by shifting the demand from GP out-of-hours providers to 
community pharmacy. It enables appropriate urgent access to medicines or 
appliances through community pharmacies. Patients who contact NHS 111 can 
access this service. 
 

7.7 NHS England list four pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham to provide an NHS 
Urgent Medicines Supply Advanced service. These are listed in Table 7.5 below. 
 
Table 7.5: Pharmacies that provide NHS Medicines Supply Advanced Service in 
Hammersmith & Fulham by ward, October 2017 
Name Address Ward 

Bush Pharmacy 334 Uxbridge Road Shepherd’s Bush Green 

Fulham Pharmacy 608 Fulham Road Town 

Green Light Pharmacy 228-230A Uxbridge Road Shepherd’s Bush Green 

Limegrove Pharmacy 66 Goldhawk Road Shepherd’s Bush Green 

Source: NHS England, 2017 
 

7.8 The Health and Wellbeing Board believes that this is sufficient for supplying a 
relevant service with no gaps. 
 
 

 

 

Page 168



 

68 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 

Other Services: current provision (schedule 1, paragraph 
5).  

7.9 Certain enhanced services are commissioned by NHS England Regulations 2013. 
The responsibilities for commissioning some of the locally enhanced services under 
the previous regulations now sits within public health and are commissioned by Local 
Authorities. 
 

7.10 The following section outlines the enhanced services currently commissioned by 
NHS England, Public Health and explores their relevance to the local population and 
their current and future commissioning. Other services provided privately by 
pharmacies are also explored. 
 

NHS England Commissioned Services 

Minor Ailment Scheme 
7.11 The Minor Ailment Scheme offers free advice and treatment for minor, self-limiting 

conditions such as mild skin conditions, coughs and colds and aches and pains. This 
service helps to relieve pressure from GPs and Secondary Care. 
 

Summary of Other Relevant Services: current provision (schedule 1, paragraph 
3).  
Community pharmacies can choose to provide any or all of the four Other Relevant Services 
within the NHS community pharmacy contractual framework, as long as they meet the 
requirements set out in the Secretary of State Directions. The advanced services are: 

• Medicine Use Review service (MURs) 
• New Medicine Service (NMS) 
• Stoma Customisation Service (SACs) 
• Appliance Use Reviews (AURs) 
• Flu Vaccinations 
• NHS Urgent Medicines Supply Advanced Service 

The number and proximity of pharmacies locally means the vast majority of residents in the 
borough live close to a pharmacy that provides Medicine Use Review services, New 
Medicine Services and Flu Vaccination. The Health and Wellbeing Board believes that the 
current provision of Medicine Use Review services, New Medicine Services, Flu 
Vaccination and NHS Urgent Medicines Supply Advanced Services is sufficient for 
supplying a relevant service with no gaps. 

Both the Stoma Customisation Service and Appliance Use Reviews are supplied by 
pharmacies community health services and specialist nurses. In considering the low volume 
of use of this service the Health and Wellbeing Board are satisfied that the Stoma 
Customisation Service and Appliance Use Review service is sufficient for supplying a 
relevant service with no gaps. 

Page 169



 

69 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

7.12 Four pharmacies reported in the survey that they provide a Minor Ailment Scheme 
(see Table 7.6) and 32 reported being willing to provide the service if commissioned. 
 
Table 7.6: Locations of Minor Ailment provision by ward in Hammersmith & Fulham, 
October 2017 
Pharmacy Address Ward 

Kanari Pharmacy 682-684 Fulham Road Town 

Palace Pharmacy 331 Fulham Palace Road Munster 

Faro Pharmacy 16 Swanscombe Road Shepherd's Bush Green 

Caregrange Pharmacy 9 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 

 Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 

7.13 The Minor Ailment scheme is not widely spread in Hammersmith & Fulham, although 
two are based in the north of the borough and two are based in the south.  In 
considering these factors, the Health and Wellbeing Board are satisfied that there are 
no gaps in the current provision of the Minor Ailment Scheme. 
 

End of Life Care Services 
7.14 In line with providing care closer to home, it is essential that there is good access to 

drugs used in the palliative environment for those patients choosing to die at home. 
Pharmacology management and support can support improvements to patients’ 
quality of life while reducing costs and use of unnecessary medications. 
 

7.15 Out of hours palliative care is a locally enhanced service that supports this. No 
pharmacies in the borough offer the service. 
 

7.16 The Health and Wellbeing Board therefore identifies the provision of End of Life Care 
Service is not sufficient for supplying a necessary service. 
 
The Care Home Advice Service 

7.17 The Care Home Advice Service involves providing advice and support to the staff 
and management within the care home on medicines management, to ensure the 
proper and effective ordering, storage and administration of drugs and appliances 
and proper record keeping. This is essential as residents in care homes are often on 
a large number of medicines that often require additional support with compliance. 
 

7.18 The Care Home Advice Service includes advice on medicines management, best 
practice guidelines and staff training and signposting. 
 

7.19 Eight pharmacies responded indicated that they provide Care Home Advice services 
(outlined in Table 7.7) and another 23 would be willing to provide advice to care 
homes if commissioned to do so. 
 
 
 

Page 170



 

70 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Table 7.7: Pharmacies that provide Care Home Advice Service in Hammersmith & 
Fulham, October 2017 
Pharmacy Address Ward 

Day Lewis Pharmacy 117-121 Wandsworth Bridge 
road 

Sands End 

Hamlins Pharmacy 73 Bloemfontein Rd Wormholt and White City 
Lime Grove Pharmacy 66 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Superdrug Pharmacy 92-94 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Healthside Pharmacy 90 Shepherds Bush Road Addison 
Superdrug Pharmacy 65-69 King Street Hammersmith Broadway 
Boots 41-43 King Street  Hammersmith Broadway 
My Pharmacy ltd 10 North Pole Road College Park and Old Oak 

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 

7.20 The Health and Wellbeing Board therefore identifies the provision of the Care Home 
Advice Service to be sufficient for supplying a necessary service with no gap. 
 
Medicines Assessment and Compliance Support Service 

7.21 This service is available to patients who have difficulty complying with their 
prescribed medications. Community pharmacies assess eligible patients on their 
knowledge and use of their prescribed medications and the appropriate level of 
support they may need to help them take their medications as intended. The 
pharmacist may provide advice, support and assistance to the patient to improve 
their knowledge of their medications use or make a referral to an appropriate health 
or social care professional. 

 
7.22 Only two pharmacies in the borough offer the service; Faro Pharmacy on 

Swanscombe Road and Babylon Health Pharmacy on Uxbridge Road, both are 
located in Shepherd’s Bush Green.  A further 26 pharmacies would be willing to 
provide the service if commissioned. 
 

7.23 Palace Riverside has the highest density of older residents, who are likely to be high 
users of this scheme. In considering poor reach of this service in Hammersmith & 
Fulham, and the location the Health and Wellbeing Board identifies the provision of 
Medicines Assessment and Compliance Support Service to be insufficient for 
supplying a necessary service with no gap. 
 
Public Health Commissioned Services 
 
Screening Service 

7.24 Screening services within pharmacies can bring a range of benefits including 
identifying patients at risk of developing a specific disease or condition and providing 
advice, screening and signposting or referrals. 
 

7.25 NHS Health Checks is a screening programme set up to identify the risk of vascular 
disease in the population early and then to help people reduce or avoid it. Generally 

Page 171



 

71 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

NHS Health Checks take place as part of general practice services, yet pharmacies 
are also well placed to play a key role. 
 

7.26 Eight pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham indicated in the survey that they provide 
NHS Health Checks across the borough (see Table 7.8), while 27 more would be 
willing to provide the service if commissioned. 
 

7.27 Most of the GPs in Hammersmith & Fulham are commissioned to provide NHS 
Health Checks and currently pharmacies perform health checks across the borough. 
The Health and Wellbeing Board identifies the level of this service to be sufficient, 
with no gaps. 
 
Table 7.8: Pharmacies that provide NHS Health Checks in Hammersmith & Fulham, October 2017 

Pharmacy Address Ward 

Chana Chemist 402 North End Road Town 
Kanari Pharmacy 682-684 Fulham Road Town 
Green Light pharmacy 228-230 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Bush Pharmacy 334 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Lime Grove Pharmacy 66 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Caregrange Pharmacy 9 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Healthside Pharmacy 90 Shepherds Bush Road Addison 
My Pharmacy ltd 10 North Pole Road College Park and Old Oak 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 

Supervised Administration Service 
7.28 Pharmacists providing a Supervised Administration Service supervise the 

consumption of medicines at the point of dispensing in a pharmacy. It ensures that 
the correct dosage has been administered properly and provides a confidential, non-
judgmental approach for patients who need support to manage their medicines. 
 

7.29 The survey found 20 pharmacies that provide a Supervised Administration Service 
(shown in Figure 7.4 and Table 7.9). Ten more pharmacies indicated they are willing 
to be commissioned for the service. 
 

7.30 In considering reach of this service across the borough and within areas of high 
deprivation, therefore the Health and Wellbeing Board identifies the level of this 
service to be sufficient, with no gaps. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



 

72 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Figure 7.4: Pharmacies that provide Supervised Administration in Hammersmith & 
Fulham and their 500 meter coverage, October 2017 

 

 
Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 

 
Table 7.9: Locations of Pharmacies that provide Supervised Administration in 
Hammersmith & Fulham by ward, October 2017 
Hammersmith & 
Fulham Ward 

Number of 
Pharmacies 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham Ward 

Number of 
Pharmacies 

Shepherd's Bush Green 7 Sands End 1 
Addison 3 Askew 1 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 

3 
Town 

1 

Fulham Broadway 1 Munster 1 
College Park and Old 
Oak 

1 
Parsons Green 

and Walham 1 

Source: Contractor Survey and NHS England, 2017 
 
Needle and Syringe Exchange 

7.31 Good access to Needle and Syringe Exchange supports safer use of drugs by 
injecting drug users by reducing the transmission of viruses and other infections 
caused by needles and syringes, such as HIV and Hepatitis B and C. 
 

7.32 A Needle and Syringe Exchange Service provides sterile needles, syringes and 
associated materials to drug misusers and disposes of used needles, syringes and 
associated materials. Additionally, the service offers advice to drug misusers and 
where appropriate makes referrals to other health care professionals or a specialist 
drug treatment centre. 
 

Page 173



 

73 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

7.33 The survey identified nine pharmacies that provide a Needle and Syringe Exchange 
Service (Figure 7.5 and Table 7.10) and 16 others are willing to be commissioned to 
the service. 
 
Figure 7.5: Pharmacies that provide a Needle and Syringe Exchange service in 
Hammersmith & Fulham and their 500m coverage, October 2017 

 
Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 

 
 
Table 7.10: Pharmacies that provide a Needle and Syringe Exchange service in 
Hammersmith & Fulham, October 2017 
Trading Name Address Ward 

Boots 322-324 North End Road Fulham Broadway 
Faro Pharmacy 16 Swanscombe Road Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Green Light pharmacy 228-230 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Superdrug Pharmacy 92-94 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Caregrange Pharmacy 9 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush 

Green 
Sophia Chemists 67 Blythe Road Addison 
Healthside Pharmacy 90 Shepherds Bush Road Addison 
Boots Hammersmith 
Broadway 

29-30 Centre West Hammersmith 
Broadway 

My Pharmacy ltd 10 North Pole Road College Park and Old 
Oak 

 Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 

7.34 Given the specialist nature and low volumes of service use compared to normal 
dispensing, the Health and Wellbeing Board identifies the level of these services to 
be sufficient, with no gaps. 

Page 174



 

74 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Stop Smoking Service 
7.35 Smoking is the single biggest preventable cause of death and inequalities and levels 

of smoking are high in Hammersmith & Fulham. Securing good access to stop 
smoking services increases the opportunity for the population to benefit from 
improvements in health including reduced risk of cancers, circulatory diseases and 
respiratory diseases. 
 

7.36 A stop smoking service within a pharmacy can provide advice and support to patients 
wishing to give up smoking and where appropriate supply nicotine replacement 
therapies. 
 

7.37 Figure 7.5 and Table 7.11 outlines the reach of the stop smoking services by 
pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham. Majority of the pharmacies (36) currently 
offer the service and two of those that do not offer it are willing to be commissioned. 
 
Figure 7.5: Pharmacies that provide Stop Smoking services in Hammersmith & Fulham 
and their 500m coverage, October 2017 

 
Source: Public Health Commissioned Data and Contractor Survey, 2017 

 
7.38 In considering the wide reach of Stop Smoking Services on offer, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board identifies the Service provided in local pharmacies as sufficient for 
supplying a service with no gaps. 

 
Table 7.11: Locations of Pharmacy providing Stop Smoking services in Hammersmith & Fulham 
by ward, October 2017 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Shepherd's Bush Green 10 Shepherd's Bush 

Green 10 

Town 4 Town 4 

Page 175



 

75 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Addison 3 Addison 3 
Fulham Reach 3 Fulham Reach 3 
Hammersmith Broadway 3 Hammersmith 

Broadway 3 

Wormholt and White City 2 Wormholt and White 
City 2 

North End 2   
 Source: Public Health Commissioned Data and Contractor Survey, 2017 

 

Emergency Hormonal Contraception 
7.39 The Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC) service aims to reduce unintended 

pregnancies. Pharmacies that provide EHC can provide signposting to mainstream 
contraception services and provide information in risks associated with sexually 
transmitted infections. 
 

7.40 Thirty-two of the surveyed pharmacies provide Emergency Hormonal Contraception 
within a 72-hour period, these are located throughout the borough (see Table 7.12). 
Majority of these pharmacies, 26, offer the service privately. Twenty-four pharmacies 
offer the service within a 120 hour period and again majority of these are offer this as 
a private service (21/24) An outline of the pharmacies that provide EHC up to a 120 
hour period is on Table 7.13. These are widely spread across Hammersmith & 
Fulham, including two in Fulham Reach where the population of young people is 
highest. 
 
Table 7.12: Locations of pharmacies that provide EHC in 72-hour period by ward, 
October 2017 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Shepherd's Bush Green 8 Fulham Broadway 2 
Town 4 Avonmore and 

Brook Green 1 

Addison 3 Wormholt and 
White City 1 

Hammersmith Broadway 3 Munster 1 
College Park and Old Oak 2 Askew 1 
Parsons Green and 
Walham 

2 
Sands End 

1 

Fulham Reach 2 North End 1 
Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 

 
Table 7.13: Locations of pharmacies that provide EHC in 120-hour period by ward, 
October 2017 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Ward Number of 

Pharmacies 
Shepherd's Bush Green 4 Hammersmith 

Broadway 2 

Town 3 North End 1 
Addison 2 Avonmore and 

Brook Green 1 

College Park and Old Oak 2 Wormholt and 1 

Page 176



 

76 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

White City 
Parsons Green and 
Walham 2 Sands End 1 

Fulham Broadway 2 Munster 1 
Fulham Reach 2   

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 

 
7.41 Health and Wellbeing Board is satisfied that the EHC provided in local pharmacies is 

sufficient for supplying a service with no gaps. 
 
Other services that are not currently commissioned 
Alcohol Misuse Service 

7.42 The Alcohol Misuse Service can provide brief interventions to identify and higher risk 
and increasing risk drinkers and provide support to motivate individuals to modify 
their drinking patterns. 
 

7.43 Although alcohol-related hospital admissions and binge drinking rates are lower in 
Hammersmith & Fulham than nationally, binge drinking widespread across the 
borough and highest in Munster and River Palace. 
 

7.44 No pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham provide alcohol misuse and screening 
services although 35 pharmacies reported they would be willing to provide the 
service if commissioned. 

 
7.45 The Health and Wellbeing Board Alcohol Misuse Services as insufficient for 

supplying a service with no gaps. 
 
Weight Management Services 

7.46 Obesity in the borough is low in comparison to national figures, however rates are 
increasing. This likely to have significant impact on healthy-life expectancies and 
future health costs. Weight management services, particularly for children would 
expand the health promotion role of pharmacies. 
 

7.47 The contractor survey identified eight pharmacies that provide weight management 
services (see Table 7.14) and 28 more willing to provide this service if 
commissioned. 
 
Table 7.14 Pharmacies that provide Weight Management in Hammersmith & Fulham, 
2017 

 
Pharmacy Address Ward 

Day Lewis Pharmacy 117-121 Wandsworth Bridge Road Sands End 
Hamlins Pharmacy 73 Bloemfontein Rd Wormholt and White 

City 
Bush Pharmacy 334 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Pestle And Mortar 59 South Africa Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Pharmacy On Wheels 86 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 

Page 177



 

77 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Babylon Health Ltd 
Pharmacy  

57 Uxbridge road Shepherd's Bush Green 

Caregrange Pharmacy 9 Goldhawk Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
Healthside Pharmacy 90 Shepherds Bush Road Addison 

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 
 

7.48 Health and Wellbeing Board is satisfied that the Weight Management Service 
provided in local pharmacies is sufficient for supplying a service with no gaps. 
 
Sexual Health Screening and Treatment 

7.49 Pharmacies can be commissioned to provide services such as condom distribution; 
pregnancy testing and advice, Chlamydia screening and treatment and other sexual 
health screening, including syphilis, HIV and gonorrhoea. Currently these services 
are provided by GPs, GUM Clinics and Secondary Care Centres. 
 

7.50 Three pharmacies in the borough offer spot HIV testing (see Table 7.15 below). All of 
these pharmacies provide the service privately. Twenty-seven other pharmacies are 
willing to provide the service if commissioned to do so. 
 
Table 7.15: Pharmacies that provide spot HIV testing in Hammersmith & Fulham, October 2017 
Trading Name Address Ward 

Superdrug Pharmacy 92-94 Uxbridge Road Shepherd's Bush Green 
North End Pharmacy 100A North End Road North End 
Superdrug Pharmacy 65-69 King Street Hammersmith Broadway 

Source: Contractor Survey, 2017 

 
7.51 Within Hammersmith & Fulham there is extensive provision to provide Sexually 

Transmitted Infections screening and treatment within Local Authority commissioned 
services. Additionally Hammersmith & Fulham City Council is commissioning e-
services that will provide remote chlamydia treatment within pharmacies from April 
2018. Therefore the Health and Wellbeing board are satisfied that Sexual Health 
Screening and Treatment services as sufficient with no gaps. 
 

Improvements and better access: gaps in provision 
(Schedule 1, paragraph 4) 

7.52 The Health and Wellbeing Board have identified three services that would, if they 
were provided, may secure improvements, or better access to pharmaceutical 
services of a specific type. These are:  

• Medicines Assessment and Compliance 
• End of Life Care 
• Alcohol Misuse services 

 
 

Page 178



 

78 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

 

 
 
Other skills and services identified in the Pharmacy 
Contractor Survey 

Utilisation of Clinical Skills in the Pharmacy 
• Twenty-four of the pharmacies reported that that the clinical skills in their 

pharmacies were “totally utilised”, 13 respondents felt they were “partly 
utilised” with only one feeling that they were not utilised at all 

 
Pharmacists with a Special Interest 

• Three of the pharmacies surveyed have pharmacists with special interests. 
 

Summary of Other (Locally Enhanced) Services: current provision 
(schedule 1, paragraph 5) and Improvements and better access: gaps in 
provision (Schedule 1, paragraph 4) 
 

7.1 The following section defines the enhanced services commissioned and delivered in 
response to local health and wellbeing needs. It includes Public Health commissioned 
services.  The following services are sufficient in providing a relevant services with no 
gaps: 
NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Flu Vaccination 
• Minor Ailments Scheme 
• Care Home Advice service 

 
Public Health England 
Commissioned Services: 

• NHS Health Checks 
• Supervised Administration 
• Needle Exchange Services 
• Stop Smoking Services 
• Emergency Hormonal Contraception 

 
Privately provide services: • Weight Management Services  

• Other Sexual Health Screening and Treatment services 
 

7.1  
 

7.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board have identified three services that would, if they were 
provided, may secure improvements, or better access to pharmaceutical services of a 
specific type. These are:  
NHS England Commissioned 
Services: 

• Medicines Assessment and Compliance 
• End of Life Care service 

 
Not commissioned: • Alcohol Misuse services 

 
7.2  

Page 179



 

79 Hammersmith & Fulham Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21  

 

Health Champions 
• Health Champions are people who, with training and support, voluntarily bring 

their ability to relate to people and their own life experience to transform 
health and wellbeing in their communities. 

 
• Sixteen of the pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham that responded stated 

that they have a health champion. 

 
Health Trainers 

• Health trainers help people to develop healthier behaviour and lifestyles in 
their own local communities using behaviour change conversations. They 
offer practical support to change their behaviour to achieve their own choices 
and goals. 

 
• Five of the pharmacies in Hammersmith & Fulham that responded stated that 

they have a health trainer. 

 
Dementia Friendly Environment 

• Dementia Friendly environments offer additional support and understanding 
to people who have Dementia. To achieve Dementia Friendly Status 
pharmacy staff attend brief training on what it's like to live with dementia and 
make changes to their pharmacy environment so that it is more welcoming to 
some who suffers from dementia. 

 
• Thirty-one of the pharmacies in the reported being a dementia friendly 

environment. 

 

Page 180


	Agenda
	1 Minutes and Actions
	4 Developing A Shared Social Isolation and Loneliness Plan
	Developing A Shared Social Isolation and Loneliness Plan - Appendix 1
	Developing A Shared Social Isolation and Loneliness Plan - Appendix 2
	OUR THIRD AGE CAN BE OUR BEST AGE:
	A WORKSHOP TO EXPLORE HOW TO REDUCE AND PREVENT LONELINESS AND CREATE CONNECTIONS IN LATER LIFE

	Developing A Shared Social Isolation and Loneliness Plan - Appendix 3

	5 Safeguarding Adults Executive Board - Annual Report 2016-17
	Safeguarding Adults Executive Board - Annual Report 2016-17 - Appendix 1
	_GoBack


	6 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
	Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment - Appendix 1


